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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 1999 

z 	1. 	AUDIT ASSIGNMENT 

The financial statements as set out on pages 4 to 10, for the year ended 31 March 1999, have been 
audited in terms of section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act No. 108 of 
1996), read with sections 3 and 5 of the Auditor-General Act, 1995 (Act No. 12 of 1995) and section 17(4) 
of the Diamonds Act, 1986 (Act No. 56 of 1986). These financial statements, the maintenance of effective 
control measures and compliance with relevant laws and regulations are the responsibility of the 
accounting officer. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and 
compliance with relevant laws and regulations, applicable to financial matters, based on the audit. 

	

2. 	REGULARITY AUDIT 

	

2.1 	NATURE AND SCOPE 

2.1.1 	Financial audit 

The audit was conducted in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards which 
Incorporate generally accepted auditing standards. These standards require the audit to be planned and 
performed to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
An audit indudes: 
• examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures In the financial 

statements, 
• assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and 
• evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

I believe that the audit provides a reasonable basis for my opinion. 

	

2.1.2 	Compliance audit 

Furthermore, an audit Includes an examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting compliance In ail 
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations applicable to financial matters. I believe that the 
audit provides a reasonable basis for my opinion. 

2.2 	QUALIFICATION 

	

2.2.1 	Financial audit 

2.2.1.1 Bank and Cash balances 

Four cheques to the total value of 8205 513 were not available for verification. An explanation received 
from the Chief Executive Officer indicated that the bank never returned the cheques. 

There is no evidence that an independent senior official reviewed the bank reconciliation. 

2.2.1.2 Fixed Assets 

An amount of R126 690 shown as 'opening balance difference" on the schedule of depredation for the 
year ended 31 March 1999 could not be tested for accuracy. The opening balance difference could be 
due to fully depredated assets. Management does not review and follow up fully depreciated assets 
neither could information be furnished with regard to fully depredated assets and whether they are in use 
or not. 
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The reconciliation of the fixed asset register to the general ledger accounts was not done and needs to be 
addressed as a matter of urgency. 

2.2.1.3 Depreciation 

The depreciation on Software Development and Programs, which was capitalised aS fixed assets, was not 
calculated for the year financial 1998/99. There is no accounting policy with regard to the depredation of 
Software Development and Programs and therefore I am unable to express an opinion on the depreciation 
amount. The total value of Software Development and Programs was R121 758 at 31 March 1999. 

	

2.3 	Audit opinion 

2.3.1 Disclaimer of an opinion: Financial audit 

Because of the significance of the matters discussed in paragraph 2.2.1, I do not express an opinion on 
the financial statements. 

2.3.2 Unqualified opinion: Compliance audit 

The transactions of the SA Diamond Board that I have examined during the course of the audit were in my 
opinion, in all material respects, made in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations, applicable to 
financial matters. 

	

3. 	EMPHASIS OF MATTER 

Without qualifying the audit opinion expressed above, attention is drawn to the following matters: 

	

3.1 	Export duty 

In terms of sections 62(1) and (2) the Board shall levy an export duty on every unpolished diamond 
exported from the Republic of South Africa. The export duty shall amount to 15% of the fair market value 
of an unpolished diamond in the Republic as at the date on which that diamond is registered for export. 

Levies on export of unpolished diamonds to the value of R8 704 354 as imposed by the Minister of 
Minerals and Energy under section 93 of the Diamond Act were recorded as Income in the Income 
Statement All these exported unpolished diamonds were exempt from the export duty in accordance with 
section 63(1)(a)(b), and the Chief Executive Officer stated that 'Virtually all diamond-exporting entitles 
associated with De Beers have exemption on the basis that the goods were presented to local cutters and 
toolmakers prior to export [section 63(1)(a)(ii)]. This Is contemplated in the "section 59 Agreements' that 
are now under scrutiny. According to the best knowledge of the current management, there are no 
producers with an export duty exemption in terms of section 83(I)(a)(i) [Minister approval] of the Act. 
Exemptions that should have been sought under subsection 83(1)(a)(il) have been granted by the 
previous Boards, but the application for such exemptions were based on a circuitous and highly 
questionable route'. 

Copies of the valuation certificates furnished In terms of subsection (2) of section 65 and necessary 
supporting approval and certificates for exemption were not obtained. 

3.2 	Internal control and financial management 

Few weaknesses became apparent during the audit of the system of Internal control. These were brought 
to the attention of the Chief Executive Officer through a management letter dated 20 December 1999. He 
replied that corrective action will be taken where necessary. 

5 
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3.3 	Policies and procedures 

A concern was raised with the Chief Executive Officer for policies and procedures with regard to the 
maintenance and spending of petty cash. t was unable to evaluate the disbursements made through petty 
cash and the petty cash float of 122 500 was not authorised by an appropriate official_ 

	

3.4 	Segregation of duties 

lt appears that the duties were not adequately separated. The initiation of transactions and completing of 
source documents, recording transactions in the accounting records and reconciliation of various 
components were done by an individual_ This indicates a lack of adequate internal controls. 

	

3.5 	Stockpile held in London 

The Chief Executive Officer indicated that the Board has never been furnished with documentation 
reflecting value, at the time of export, of the stockpile (1992 —1998) held in London_ The Board has never 
been furnished with records of the audit done on the stockpile prior to the current Government Diamond 
Valuator. The efforts by the current Government Diamond Valuator to secure detailed and reliable data 
from the previous valuator has not been successful and has not met with adequate levels of co-operation. 
The Government Diamond Valuator has not had access to the entire stockpile. According to information 
at hand, the values of that portion of the stockpile which were seen by the Government Diamond Valuator, 
as at the beginning of 1999 was $900 million. The reliability of figures given to the Government Diamond 
Valuator is highly questionable, as valuations by the latter have indicated instances of serious under 
valuation. This should be treated as a matter of urgency as it might result in loss of revenue. 

	

3.8 	Internal audit 

There is no Internal audit department. 

	

3.7 	Audit Committee 

The SA Diamond Board has not established an Audit Committee. 

4. LATE SUBMISSION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The financial statements were submitted six months instead of four months subsequent to the end of the 
financial year. The lanai signed financial statements were received on 11 January 2000. 

5. APPRECIATION 

The > stance rev Bred by the Board during the audit is sincerely appreciated. 

Signed by R.K Nayager 
for Auditor-General 
Johannesburg 
25/01/2000 

6 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

BALANCE SHEET AT 

31 MARCH 1999 

31/03/99 	31/03/98 
NOTES 
	

R 	 R 

ASSETS 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Fixed assets 	 1 + 3 784 573 402 096 

CURRENT ASSETS 4 783 164 3 191 865 

Debtors 3 751 
Prepaid expenses 3 353 9 593 
Fixed deposits and call accounts 4 304 154 3 055 837 
Cash on hand and at bank 314 179 126 435 
VAT refundable 157 727 

TOTAL ASSETS 
5 567 737 3 593 961 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

CAPITAL AND RESERVES 3 243 127 	2 629 968 
Accumulated funds 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 2 231 721 32 025 
Interest-bearing borrowings 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 2 092 889 931 968 

Trade and other payables 2 054 572 926 768 
Short-term portion of long-term liabilities 2 38 317 5 200 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 5 567 737 3 593 961 



8 

- 4 

SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 1999 

NOTES 
31/03/99 31/03/98 

Revenue 4 8 704 354 6 702 230 
other income/Investment income 4 651 170 598 501 

9 355 524 7 300 731 
Operating expenses 4 8 742 365 7 608 223 

Net income(loss) for the year 4 613 159 ( 307 492) 
Accumulated funds at beginning of year 2 629 968 2 937 460 

Accumulated funds at and of year 3 243 127 2 629 968 



SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 1999 

NOTES 
31/03/99 	31/03/98 

Cash flow from operating activities 1 771 421 242 277 

Cash generated from operations 	7.1 1 134 948 ( 302 864) 
Investment income 616 170 523 786 
Proceeds on disposal of asset 	7.2 35 000 21 355 
Finance charges 14 697) 

Cash flow from investing activities 

Additions to fixed assets 	7.3 	( 568 173) 	( 399 304) 

Cash flow frost financing activities 232 813 37 225 

Loans raised 199 696 32 025 
Increase in short-term portion of long-term 
loans 33 117 5 200 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 1 436 061 ( 119 802) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 3 182 272 3 302 074 

Cash and cadh equivalents at end of the year 7.4 4 618 333 3 182 272 

9 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 1999 

1. Accounting basis 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis and 
inCorporate.tbefollowing accounting policies, which are consistent with those 
applied in the previous year: 

1.1 Acknowledgement of income 

Income is acknowledged on the accrual basis. 

1.2 Fixed assets and depreciation 

Fixed assets are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Depreciation 
is calculated on the straight -line method to write off the coat of each 
asset over its estimated useful life. 

The rates are as follows: 

Computer hardware 	 2 20% 
Furniture and fittings 	: 10% 
Motor vehicles 	 : 20% 
Office machines and laboratory equipment : 20% 
Parking bay 	 : 0% 
Leasehold improvements 	: Over period of lease 

1.3 Leased assets 

Assets leased in terms of finance lease agreements are capitalised at the 
estimated present value of the underlying lease payments and are 
depreciated in accordance with the policies applicable to equivalent items 
of owned assets. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance 
charges, are included in other long-term payables. Lease finance charges 
are amortised over the duration of the leases by the effective interest 
rate method which takes into account the effective interest charge on the 
lease. 

1.4 Pension fund 

Pensions are provided for employees by means of contributions to THE 
ASSOCIATED INSTITUTIONS PENSION FUND. 

31/03/99 	31/03/98 
R 	 R 

2. 	Long-term liabilities 

Capitalised lease agreement at an interest rate of 
25,06% per annum. 	Secured by a lease agreement 
over a switchboard with a book value of R 32 882 
(1998 : R 42 506) and repayable in 52 instalments 
of R 1 382 per month. 41 658 37 225 
Capitalised lease agreements at an interest rate 
of 24,07% per annum. 	Secured by a lease agreement 
over motor vehicles with a book value of R 222 258 
and repayable in 60 monthly instalments of 
R 6 663,74. 228 380 

270 038 37 225 
Less 	Short-term portion transferred to current 

liabilities ( 38 317) ( 5 200) 

231 721 32 025 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 1999 

11 

Total assets 

COST 
R 

ACCUMULA- 
TED DEPRE- 
CIATION 

R 

BOOK 
VALUE 

31/03/9.9 
R 

COST. 
R• 

Ate- 
TED DEPRE- 
CIATION 
. 	R 	. 

BC 
VA 

31/0.1 
R 

4 580 - 4 580 4 580 . - 4 
377 923 341 045 36 878 337 393 276 593 60 
223 034 182 477 40 557 200 419 162 367 38 
432 904 264 916 167 988 432 904 211 711 221 	: 

253 265 167 490 85 775 175 598 140 633 34 ! 
75 681 3 784 71 897 - - - 

121 758 - 121 758 - 

1 489 145 959 712 529 433 1 150 894 791 304 359 5 

48 120 15 238 32 882 48 120 5 614 42 5 
229 922 7 664 222 258 

278 042 22 902 255 140 48 120 5 614 42 	5( 

1 767 187 982 614 784 573 1 199 014 796 918 402.0 

3. Fixed assets 

Own assets 

Parking Bay. 
Computer hardware 
Furniture and fittings 
Motor vehicles 
Office machines and 
laboratory equipment 
Leasehold improvements 
software development 
and programs 

Leased assets 

Switchboard 
Motor vehicles 

The carrying amount of fixed assets can be reconciled as follows: 

BOOK 
VALUE AT 
BEGINNING 
OF YEAR 

R 
ADDITIONS 

R 
DISPOSALS 

R 

DEPRE- 
CIATION 

R 

BOOK 
VALUE 
END OF 
YEAR 

R 

4 580 - - - 4 580 
60 800 40 530 - 	( 64 452) 36 878 
38 052 22 615 - 	( 20 110) 40 557 
221 193 - - 	( 53 205) 167 988 

34 965 77 667 - 	( 26 857) 85 775 
- 75 681 - 	( 3 784) 71 897 

- 121 758 - 121 758 

359 590 338 251 (168 408) 529 433 

42 506 ( 9 624) 32 882 
229 922 ( 7 664) 222 258 

42 506 229 922 ( 17 288) 255 140 

402 096 568 173 (185 696) 784 573 

Own assets 

Parking Bay 
Computer hardware 
Furniture and fittings 
Motor vehicles 
Office machines and 
laboratory eqdipment 
Leasehold improvements 
Software development 
and programs 

Leased assets 

Switchboard 
Motor vehicles 

Total assets 

Certain fixed assets 
are encumbered as 
disclosed in note 2_ 



	

41 145 	63 660 	41 800 	37 494 

	

79 750 	96 276 	177 000 	103 765 

- - 	 50 000 	114 154 
- 185 696 	- 	168 257 

	

3 217 720 	4 338 200 	2 787 180 	2 773 800 

	

55 402 	31 283 	55 000 	33 428 

	

591 466 	562 130 	447 350 	384 331 

	

157 786 	262 925 	50 000 	101 230 

	

415 153 	442 868 	400 000 	397 596 

	

235 000 	99 125 	42 000 	32 630 

458 208 

	

86 593 	83 698 	115 000 	81 491 

- 921 839 

4 564 353 2 576 504 2 950 000 2 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 1999 

31/03/99 	31/03/98 
R 	 It 

4. Net  income 

The following items are included in net income: 

Total income 9 355 524 7 300 731 

Levies 8 704 354 6 702 230 
Other income 35 000 74 715 
Interest 616 170 523 786 

Budget 	Budget 
31/03/99 	31/03/99 	31/03/98 	31/03/98 

Total expenditure 
	

9 444 368 
	

8 742 365 	7 115 330 	7 608 223 

12 

Auditors remuneration 
Board members remune-
ration 
Commission of Inquiry 
Note 5 
Depreciation 
Diamond valuation fees 
Insurances 
Other expenditure 
Overseas travelling 
Rent : Offices and 
parking 
Staff recruitment and 
related expenses 
Salaries and contribu-
tions 
Travelling and subsis-
tence 
Termination of services 
CEO Note 6 

NET INCOME(LOSS) 
	

613 159 
	( 307 492) 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR TEE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 1999 

5. Contingent liability R 58 905 

Commission of Inquiry into the Diamond Industry of South Africa. 

The coMmission had been created by Parliament on condition that the SA Diamond 
Board be responsible for 50% of the expenses of the commission, limited to a total 
of R 600 000. 

The commission has been terminated due to the death of the supervising Judge. The 
expense to date of termination amounted to R 717 810 and the SA Diamond Board has 
received an account for 50% of this amount, ie. R 358 905. 

No provision has been made for the amount of R 58 905 by which the account 
received exceeds the R 300 000 responsibility accepted by the Board. 

6. Termination of Services Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 

The services of the CEO of the Board had been terminated by the Minister of 
Minerals and Energy Affairs with effect from 1 February 1997 and a new CEO had 
been appointed with effect from 1 March 1997. 

The termination was set aside by an order of court on 15 May 1997. The court 
Order specified that the CEO should remain an employee with uninterrupted service 
at his normal salary and benefits, and that an amicable parting of ways should be 
worked out by the parties. 

The above matter was resolved during April 1998 and although the Board was the 
second defendant, all the expenses were taken up in the accounts of the Board, 
being: 

Salary and employment benefits:- 
1 February to 31 March 1997 51 896 
1 April 1997 to 31 March 1998 337 963 
Compensation for loss of office 540 000 
Legal and related expenses to obtain settlement 43 876 

TOTAL 973 735 

Disclosed in 96/97 year 51 896 
Disclosed in 97/98 year 921 839 

973 735 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 1999 

31/03/99 	31/03/98 
R• 

14 

7. Cash flow information 

7.1 Cash flows frost operating activities 

Net income(loss) 
Adjustments for: 
Investment income 
Profit on sale of asset 
Depreciation 
Finance charges 

Operating loss before working capital changes 
Changes in working capital 
(Increase)Decrease in prepaid expenses 
Increase(Decrease) in creditors 

(Increase)Decrease in debtors 
(Increase)Decrease in VAT refundable 

7.2 Disposal of fixed assets 

Motor vehicle 

7.3 Additions to fixed assets 

Leasehold improvements 
Furniture and fittings 
Office machines and laboratory equipment 
Computer equipment 
Motor vehicle 
Switchboard 
Software development and programs 

7.4 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on 
hand and balances with banks. Cash and cash 
equivalents included in the cash flow statement 
comprise the following balance sheet amounts: 

Fixed deposits and call accounts 
Cash on hand and at bank 

613 159 307 492) 

616 170) 523 786) 
35 000) 21 355) 
185 695 168 257 
14 697 

162 381 ( 684 376) 

6 240 1 646) 
1 127 805 383 158 
( 3 751) 
( 137 727) 

1 134 948 ( 302 864) 

35 000 21 355 
ill••••111..11:111•11211! 

( 75 681) - 
( 22 615).  ( 1 393) 
( 77 667) ( 18 204) 
( 40 530) ( 85 709) 
( 229 922) ( 245 878) 

- ( 48 120) 
( 121 758) - 

( 568 173) ( 399 304) 

4 304 154 3 055 837 
314 179 126 435 

A 6ia 
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2000 

1. AUDIT ASSIGNMENT 

The financial statements as set out on pages 4 to 11, for the year ended 31 March 2000 have been 
audited in terms of section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act No. 108 of 
1996), read with sections 3 and 5 of the Auditor-General Act, 1995 (Act No. 12 of 1995) and section 17(4) 
of the Diamonds Act, 1986 (Act No. 56 of 1986). These financial statements, the maintenance of effective 
control measures and compliance with relevant laws and regulations are the responsibility of the 
accounting officer. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and 
compliance with relevant laws and regulations, applicable to financial matters, based on the audit. 

2. REGULARfTY AUDIT 

2.1 	Nature and scope 

2.1.1 	Financial audit 

The audit was conducted in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards which 
incorporate generally accepted auditing standards. These standards require the audit to be planned and 
performed to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
An audit includes: 
• examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements; 
• assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management; and 
• evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

I believe that the audit provides a reasonable basis for my opinion. 

21.2 	Compliance audit 

Furthermore, an audit includes an examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting compliance in all 
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations which came to my attention and are applicable to 
financial matters. I believe that the audit provides a reasonable basis for my opinion. 

2.2 	Qualification: Financial audit 

Fixed assets 

The annual asset count had not been performed by the Board for the 1999/2000 financial year. The 
completeness of the fixed asset amount disclosed in the financial statements could therefor not be 
verified. 

An amount of R126 690 shown as opening balance difference on the schedule of calculating the 
depreciation for the year-end 31 March 1999, could not be tested for completeness and existence. The 
opening balance difference related to fully depreciated assets for which no information could be furnished. 
This matter had also been reported on in the 1998/99 financial year. 

18 



2.3 	Audit opinion 

2.3.1 Qualified audit opinion: Financial audit 

In my opinion, except for the effect on the financial statements of the matter referred to in paragraph 2.2, 
the financial statements fairly present, in all material respects, the financial position_,of the Diamond Board 
at 31 March 2000 and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended in accordance with 
Prescribed accounting practice. 

2.3.2 Unqualified opinion: Compliance audit 

Based on the audit work performed, nothing has come to my attention that causes me to believe that 
material non-compliance with laws and regulations, applicable to financial matters, has occurred. 

3. 	EMPHASIS OF MATTER 

Without further qualifying the audit opinion expressed above, attention is drawn to the following matters: 

3.1 	Financial loss for the year 

The South African Diamond Board had made a loss of R3 164 686 for the year ended 31 March 2000, 
which had decreased the accumulated funds from R3 243 127 at the beginning of the year to R78 441 at 
the end of the year. 

3.2 	Leave provision 

The Board did not make provision for the cumulative leave days of employees at year-end resulting in the 
Board's liabilities being understated at year-end. 

3.3 	Special Investigation 

A special investigation is being conducted into the export duties and will be reported on separately, if 
deemed necessary. 

3.4 	Computer audit 

A high-level overview of the computerised information system environment at the South African Diamond 
Board had been completed during November 2000 identifying that a comprehensive security policy and a 
formal disaster recovery plan had not been in place. Management had since taken various corrective 
steps to address the weaknesses, the effectiveness of which will be evaluated during the next financial 
year's audit. 

3.5 	Internal audit 

There was no internal audit department 

3.6 	Audit committee 

The SA Diamond Board had not established an audit committee for the period under review. 

19 

Page 2 



4. LATE SUBMISSION OF SIGNED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The financial statements must be submitted to the Auditor-General not later than four months subsequent 
to the end of the financial year. The signed financial statements had been submitted on 5 October 2000, 
and after changes were dated 3 May 2001. 

5. APPRECIATION 

The assistance rendered by the staff of the Board during the audit is sincerely appreciated. 

20 
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Signed by 
for Audi 
Johanna 
17/0512001  

van Heerden 
eneral 



SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

BALANCE SHEET AS AT 

31 MARCH 2000 

ASSETS 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

NOTES 	
31/0312000 	31/0311999 

R 	 R 

Fixed assets 1 +3 	1,739,236 	 784,573 

CURRENT ASSETS 7,904,994 4,783,164 

Debtors 139,233 3,751 
Prepaid expenses 7,297 3,353 
Fixed deposit and call accounts 7,566,191 4,304,154 
Cash on hand and at bank 192,274 314,179 
Vat refundable 157,727 

TOTAL ASSETS 93644,230 5„567 737 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

Accumulated funds 78,441 	3,243,127 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 2 

Interest-bearing borrowings 164,711 	 231,721 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 9,401,077 2,092,889 

Trade payables 382,914 2,054,572 
Short-term portion of long-term liabilities 2 34,427 38,317 
Other payables 7,154,964 
Vat payable 67,813 
DVIC Valuations SA (Pty) Ltd 5 1,760,59 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 9,644,230 5,567,737 

- 4 - 



SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 

31 MARCH 2000 

NOTES 31103/2000 R 31/03/1999 

Revenue 4 12,895,829 8,704,354 

Other income / Investment income 4 183,213 651,170 

13,079,042 9,355,524 
Operating expenses 4 16,243,728 8,742,365 

(Net Loss) / income for the year (3,164,686) 613,159 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 

31 MARCH 2000 

Accumulated 
fonds 

R 

Balance at 31 March 1998 2,629,968 

Net income for the year 613,159 

Balance at 31 March 1999 3,243,127 

Loss for the year (3,164,686) 

Balance at 31 March 2000 78,441 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 

31 MARCH 2000.  

NOTES 	
31/03/2000 	31/03/1999 

R 	 R 

Cash flow from operating activities (2,707,799) 1,771,421 

Cash generated from operating activities 	 6.1 (2,866,093) 1,134,948 
Investment income 183,213 616,170 
Proceeds on disposal of assets 35,000 
Finance charges (24,919) (14,697) 

Cash flow from investing activities 

Additions to fixed assets 	 6.2 	(1,303,946) 	(568,173) 

Cash flow from financing activities 7,151,878 232,813 

Loans raised (67,010) 199,696 
Decrease in short-term portion of long-term loans (3,890) 33,117 
Increase in other payables 7,154,964 
Increase in Vat payable 67,813 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 3,140,132 1,436,061 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 4,618,333 3,182,272 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 	6.3 7,758,465 4,618,333 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2000 

1 	ACCOUNTING POLICIFS 

Tlx following are the principal accounting policies of the South African Diamond Board which arc consistent in all material tpyet.ts 
with those applied in the previous year, except as otherwise indicated in the note on changes in accounting policies. 

I 	Basis of presentation 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis and incorporate the following accounting policies: 

1.1.1 Acknowledgement of income 

Income is acknowledged on an accrual basis. 

1.12 Fired assets and depreciation 

Fixed assets are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line method to write off the cost of 
each asset over its estimated useful lift. 

The depreciation rates are as follows: 

Computer hardware 	 : 20% 
Computer software 	 20% 
Farniture and fittings 	 10% 
Motor vehicle 	 20% 
Office machine and laboratory equipment 	 : 20% 
Parking bay 	 : 0% 
Leasehold improvements 	 : over 	period of lease 

I. I .3 	Leased assets 

Assets leased in terms of finance lease agreements are capitalised at the estimated present value of the under/yin lease payments anti 
are depreciation in accordance with the policies applicable to equivalent items of owned assets. The correspondeace rental obligations. 
net  of finance charges, are included in other tong-term payables. Lease finance charges art amortised over the duration of the leases by 
the effective interest rate method which takes into account the effective interest charge on the lease. 

1.1.4 Pension fund 

Pensions are provided for employees by means of contributions to THE ASSOCIATED 1NSITTUTIONS PENSION FUND. 

1.2 	CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES: 

Computer software and depreciation 

Computer software is stated at historical cost less depredation. Unlike in previous years depreciation has been provided for on a 
straight-line basis. 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2000 

25 

2 	Long-terse liabilities 

Capitalised lease agreanent at an interest rate of 25.06% per annum. Secured by a lease agreement 
over a switchboard with a book value of-R 23 259 (1999 - R32 882) and repayable in 52 
instalments of R 1 382 per month. 

Capitalised lease agreement at an interest rate of 24,07% per annum. Secured by a lease agreement 
over motor vehicles with a book value of R 176 274 and repayable in 60 monthly instalments 
of R 6 663,74. 

Less : Short-term portion transferred to current liabilities 

31/03/2000 33/03/1999 

25,417 41,658 

173,722 228,380 
199,138 270,038 

34,427 (38,317) 

164,711 231,721 

-8- 



SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2000 

3 	Fixed assets 

Own asses 

Coat 

R 

Anew intsTated 
Deprecis floc 

R 

Book Valo r 
31/03/2000 

R 

Cost 

R 

Accumulated 
Depreciatiou 

R 

Book Vette 
31/0311999 

R 

Pa-king bay 4,580 4,580 4,580 . 4,5110 
Computer hardware 924.353 431,150 493,203 377,923 341,045 36,878 
Furniture and fittings 242,717 203,903 38,814 223,034 182,477 40,557 
Motor vehicles 432,904 314,091 1)8,813 432,904 264,916 167,988 
Office machines and 
laboratory equipment 359,020 202,034 156,987 253,265 167,490 85.775 
Leasehold orproverrents 176.445 31,296 145,148 75.611 3,784 71,897 
Software development and 
programs 653,071 70,912 582,159 121,758 121,758 

2,793,091 1.253,386 1,539,705 1,489,145 959,712 529,433 

Leased assets 

Switchboard 48,120 24,861 23,259 48,120 15,238 32,882 
Motor vehicles 229.922 53,649 176,274 229,922 7,664 222,258 

278,042 78,510 199,533 278,042 22.902 255,140 

Total assets 3,071,133 1,331,895 1,739,238 1,767,187 982,614 784,573 

Book Value At 
Beginning of Additions Disposals Depreciatioa 

Book Value A 
Lad ofYear

t  

Year 

Own assets 

Puking bay 4,580 4,580 
Compuscr hardware 36,878 546,430 90,104 493,204 
Furniture and fittings 40,557 19,683 21,426 38,815 
Motor vehicles 167,988 49,176 118,812 
Office machines and 
laboratory comment 85,827 105,756 34,596 156,987 
Leasehold improvements 71,897 100.763 27,513 145.147 
Software development and 
programs 121,758 531.314 70,912 582,160 

529,485 1,303,946 293,727 1,539,705 

Leased ante 

Switchboard 32,812 9,624 23.251 
Motor vehicles 222.258 45,914 176,274 

255,140 55,608 199,532 

Total assets 764,625 1,303,946 349.335 1,739,236 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2000 

4 	Net income 

31/1312000 	 31/83/1999 
R 

The folic/wing items arc included in net income. 

Total income 13,079,042 9,355,524 

Levy income 12,895,829 8,704,354 

Other income 35,000 
Interest received 183,213 616,170 

Budget 
31/03/2000 

R 

Actual 
31/03/2000 

R 

Budget 
31/03/1999 

R 

Actual 
31183/1999 

R 

Total expenditure ioducteri 14,632,920 16,243,728 9,444,368 8,742,365 

Audit feet 57,400 98,193 41,145 63,660 

Board members remuneration 148,758 104,920 79,750 96,276 

Depteciation 349,284 185,696 
Diamond valuation fees 11,300,000 10,370,164 3,217,720 4,338,200 

Salaries and contributions 3,650,465 3,472,682 4,564,353 2,576,504 

NET INCOMEJ(LOSS) (3,164,686) 613,159 

5 	DVIC Vaheatioaa SA (Pty) Ltd 

An amount of R1,760 958.72 relating to irreoieres received from OW Volutions SA (Pry) Ltd in Lapeer of extra work done in Kimberley and in 
London on behalf of the South African Diamond Board at De Betas. De Betas dispute their indebtedness to the South African Diamond Board for 
this amount The Board has, subsequent to the balance sheet date, alledged that there are no mantes owed in respect of extra work_ The matter wat 

especial to be resolved in a Court of Law. however a settlement out-of-court has been readied and the Board has accepted its indebtedness to 

DVIC Valuations SA (Pry) Ltd- 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2000 

31/03/2000 
It 

31/03/1 951 

6 Cash flow information 

6.1 Cash flows from operating ectivities 

Net income / (Loss) 	. (3,164,686) 613,159 
Adjustments for. 
Investment income (183,213) (616,170) 
Profit on sale of assets (35,000) 
Depreciation 349,284 185,695 
Finance charges 24,919 14,697 

Operating loss before working capital changes (2,973,696) 162,381 

Changes in working capital 

(3,944) 6,240 (Int, 	/ Decrease in prepaid expense 
(Decrease) / Increase in creditors (1,671,658) 1,527,805 
Increase in DVIC Valuations SA (Pty) Ltd 1,760,959 
Increase in debtors (135,482) (3,75!) 
Decrease / (Increase) in Vat refundable 157,727 (157,727) 

(2,866,093) 1,134,948 

.......1Cana.•4•11•C 

6.2 Additions of fixed meta 

Leasehold impramments (100,763) (75,681) 
Furniture and fittings (19,683) (22,615) 
Office machines and laboratory equipment (105,756) (77,667) 
Computer equipment (546,430) (40,530) 
Motor vehicles (229,922) 
Switchboard 
Software development and programs (531,314) (121,758) 

(1,303,946) (568,173) 

6.3 Cash tad cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consisting of cash on hand and balance 
with banks. Cub and cash equivalents In the cash flow statement 
comprise the following balance sheet =curies: 

Fixed deposits and call accounts 7,566,191 4,304,154 
Cash on hand and at bank 192,274 314,179 

7,758,464 4,618,333 
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AUDITOR-GENERAL 

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
OF THE SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2001 

1. AUDIT ASSIGNMENT 

The financial statements as set out on pages 4 to 11, for the year ended 31 March 2001, 
have been audited in terms of section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South 
Africa, 1996 (Act No. 108 of 1996), read with sections 3 and 5 of the Auditor-General Act, 
1995 (Act No. 12 of 1995) and section 17(4) of the Diamonds Act, 1986 (Act No. 56 of 
1986). These financial statements, the maintenance of effective control measures and 
compliance with relevant-laws and regulations are the responsibility of the accounting 
officer. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and 
compliance with relevant laws and regulations, applicable to financial matters, based on 
the audit. 

2. REGULAIITY AUDIT 

2.1 	NATURE AND SCOPE 

2.1.1 	Financial audit 

The audit was conducted in accordance with generally accepted government auditing 
standards, which incorporate generally accepted auditing standards. These standards 
require the audit to be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes: 

• examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements, 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, and 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

I believe that the audit provides a reasonable basis for my opinion. 

2.1.2 Compliance audit 

Furthermore, an audit includes an examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting 
compliance in all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations which came to 
my attention and are applicable to financial matters. 

believe that the audit provides a reasonable basis for my opinion. 

2.2 	Audit opinion 

2.2.1 	-Financial audit 

In my opinion, the financial statements fairly present, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the South African Diamond Board at 31 March 2001 and the results of its 
operations and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practice. 
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2.2.2 Compliance audit 

Based on the audit work performed, nothing has come to my attention that causes me to 
believe that material non-compliance with laws and regulations, applicable to financial 
matters, has occurred. 

3m f?,1314/ 	_OF MATTER 

Without qualifying the audit opinion expressed above, attention is drawn to the following 
matters: 

3.1 	Special investigation 

A special investigation into the export duty exemptions was still in progress and will be 
reported on separately, if deemed necessary. 

3.2 internal audit 

There was no internal audit department. 

3.3 	Audit committee 

The Audit Committee came into being in February 2001, thus they have not been 
functional in the year under review. 

3.4 	Late submission of signed financial statements 

In terms of audit circular no. 2 of 1997, paragraph 2.1, the signed financial statements 
should be submitted to the Auditor-General not later than four months after the year-end. 
The final set of financial statements had only been signed on 24 January 2002. 

3.5 Cheques outstanding 

A cheque amounting to R350 583.93 had been reflected as outstanding on the bank 
reconciliation as at 31 March 2001 due to the Receiver of Revenue not accepting the 
cheque. 

4. APPRECIATION 

The assistance rendered by the staff of the South African Diamond Board during the audit 
is sincerely appreciated. 

DORIS L.T. DONDUR 
for Auditor-General 
Johannesburg 
25/01/2002 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

BALANCE SHEET AS AT 

31 MARCH 2001 

NOTES 	31103/2001 	31/03/2000 

ASSETS 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Fixed Assets 	 2 	1,507,595 	1,739,236 

CURRENT ASSETS 2,380,295 	7,904,994 

Debtors 46,157 139,233 
Prepaid Expenses 321,141 7.297 
Fixed Deposit and Call Accounts 2,009,397 7,566,191 
Cash on Hand and at the Bank 3,600 192,274 

TOTAL ASSETS 3,887,890 9,644,230 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

Accumulated Funds 	 (738.618) 	 78,441 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 	 3 

Interest-bearing borrowings 	 48,921 	 164.711 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 4,577,586 9,401,077 

Trade payables 563,313 382,914 

Short-term portion of long-term liabilities 	 3 90,977 34,427 

Bank Overdraft (Salary Account) 134,764 0 
Other Payables 7,338 7, I54,964 

Vat Payable 15,077 67,813 

DVIC Valuations SA (Pty) Ltd 	 4 3,766,117 1.760,959 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 3,887,890 9,644,230 

-4- 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 

31 MARCH 2001 

NOTES 31/03/2001 	R 31/03/2000 R 

Revenue 5 15,627.768 12.895,829 

Other Income / In vestment income 5 124,837 183,213 

15,752,604 13.079,042 
Operating Expenses 5 16.569.663 16.243,728 

Net Loss for the Year (817.059) (3.164,686) 

SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 

31 MARCH 2001 

Accumulated 
funds 

R 

Balance at 31 March 1999 3,243,127 

Net loss for the year (3.164.686) 

Balance at 31 March 2000 78,441 

Net Loss for the year (817.059) 

Balance at 31 March 2001 (738.618) 

1......1111•SCINCEI= 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 

31 MARCH 2001 

NOTES 	
31/03/2001 	31/03/2000 

R 	 R 

Cash flow from/(to) operating activities 1,624,193 (2,707,799) 

Cash generated by/(utilised in) operating activities 	6.1 1,578,431 (2,866,093) 

Investment Income Received 82,815 183,213 

Finance charges paid (37,053) (24,919) 

Cash flow from investing activities 

Additions to fixed assets 	 6.2 	(244,822) 	(1,303,946) 

Cash flow from financing activities (7,124,839) 7,151,878 

Loans raised (115,791) (67,010) 

Decrease in short-term portion of long-term Loans 56,550 (3,890) 

Increase/(Decrease) in Other Payables (7,147,627) 7,154,964 

Increase/(Decrease) in Vat Payable (52,736) 67,813 

Increase/(Decrease) in Bank Overdraft 134,764 0 

(Decrease)/Increase in cash and cash equivalents (5,745,467) 3,140,132 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the Year 7,758,465 4,618,333 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the Year 	6.3 2,012,998 7,758,465 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2001 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The following are the principal accounting policies of the South African Diamond Board which are consistent in all material respects 

with those applied in previous year. except as otherwise indicated in the note on changes in accounting policies. 

1.1 	Basis of presentation 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis and incorporate the following accounting policies: 

1.1.1 Acknowledgement of Income 

Income is acknowledged on an accrual basis 

1.1.2 Fired Assets and depreciation 

Fixed assets are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line method to write off the cost of 

each asset over its estimated useful life. 

The depreciation rates are as follows: 

Computer Hardware : 20% 

Computer Software : 20% 

Furniture and fittings 10% 

Motor vehicle : 20% 

Office machine and laboratory equipment : 20% 

Parking bay : 0% 

Leasehold improvements : over period of lease 

Leased Assets 

Assets leased in terms of finance lease agreements are capitalised at the estimated present value of the underlying lease payments and 

are depreciated in accordance with the policies applicable to equivalent items of owned assets. The correspondence rental obligations 

net of finance charges. arc included in other long-term payables. Lease finance charges are amortised over the duration of the leases by 

the effective interest rate method which takes into account the effective interest charge on the lease. 

1.1.4 Pension Fund 

Pensions are provided for employees by means of contributions to THE ASSOCIATED INSTITUTIONS PENSION FUND. 

39 

1.1.3 



SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2001 
2 	Fixed Assets 

Own Assets 

Accumulated 
Depreciation 

Book Value 
31/03/2001 

Accumulated 
Deluxelidos 

R 
• 

Book Value 
31133/2000 

R. 

Parkins Bay 4380 0 4.580 4.580 0 4.580 
Computer hardware 586.961 211,149 375.811 924.353 III 15u 493.203 
Furniture and Fittings 243.102 228.184 14.918 242,717 201001 38.814 
Motor vehicles 296.187 177.919 118.268 432.904 1141191 118.813 
Office machines and 
laboratory equipment 359.020 242.295 116.725 339.020 202.034 156.987 
Leasehold M:wove/new 18.5.683 66.739 118.944 176.445 11.296 143,148 
Software development and 
programs 837.961 223.537 614.424 653.071 7091! 3111 150 

, Jk.4 11496'_1 11e,;n70 7.701041 1 :}it86 1 3 19 70S 

Leased Asset, 

svmchtiosid 48.120 34.485 13.635 48.120 24.1161 23.259 
Kitor 229.922 99.633 130.289 229.922 53.649 176.274 

278,042 134.118 143.924 278.042 78.510 199333 

Total Assets 22913315 1.283.942 1307.594 3.071.133 1331.895 1.739.238 

Book Value Al 
Beglasing et 

Year 

Additions 
R Disposals 	R 

Depreciation Book Value At 
End of Year 

Own Assets 

Puking Bay 4.580 0 0 0 4.580 
Computer hardware 493203 0 0 117392 375.811 
Rankine and Fittings 38,814 385 0 24.281 14.918 
Motor vehicles 118.813 50309 0 50.853 118,269 
Office madames and 0 
labtratory equipment 156.987 0 0 40.261 116.725 
Leasehold improvemeats 145.148 9.238 0 15.443 118.944 
Software developtamit and 0 

Fr0Baros 582,159 184.890 0 152,625 614.424 

1339.705 244.822 0 420.856 1,363371 

Leased Assets 

Switchboard 23.259 0 0 9.624 13.635 

Motor vehicles 176,274 0 0 45.984 130.289 

199333 0 55.608 143.924 

Total Assets 1.739.238 244.822 0 476.464 1.507.595 

.a. 	

5;) 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2001 

41 

3 	Long-term Liabilities 

Capitalised itaSe 4gteement at an interest rate of 25,06% per anntini.:Secured by 3 lease agreement 

over* switchboard with a book value of R 13 635 (1999: R23.259) and repayable in 52 
instalments of R 1382 per month. 

Capitalised lease agreement at an interest rate of 24,07% per annum. Secured by a lease agreement 
over motor vehicles with a book value of R 130 289 and repayable in 60 monthly instalment, 
of R 6 663,74. 

Less Short-term portion transferred to current liabilities 

4 	DVIC Valuations SA (Ply) Ltd 

31/03/2001 31/03/2600 

1.1,012 25,417 

128,885 173,722 

139.898 199,138 

90,977 34,427 

48,921 164,711 

'An amount of R3,766 117 relating to Invoices received from DV IC Valuations SA (Pty; Ltd in respect of extra work done in Kimberly and in 
London on behalf of the South African Diamond Board at De Beers. The final indebtedness amount was reached after a litigation was resolved 

out-of-court. 

-9- 



SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2001 

5 	Net Income 

42 

31/03/2001 	 31/03/2000 
R 	 R 

The following items are included in net income: 

Total Income 15,752.604 13,079,042 

Levy Income 15.627.768 12.895.829 
Other Income 42,021 0 
Interest Received 82.815 183.213 

Total Expendtture EnclUdet 

Badge 
31/03/2001 

R 

16.989.166 

Actual 
31/03/2001 

R 

16.569.663 

Budget 
31/03/2000 

14,632.920 

Actual 
31103/2000 

R 

16.243,728 

Audit Fees 170580 115.247 57.400 98. i 93 
Board members remuneration 179.800 157300 148,758 104,920 

Depreciation 458.049 476.464 0 349,284 

Diamond Valuation Fees 9,467.015 10.678,218 8,300.000 10370.164 

Salaries and contributions 3,496,085 3.621.218 3.650.465 3.472.682 

NET LOSS (817.0591 13.164.6861 

-10- 



SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2001 

31/03/2001 	31/03/2000 
R 	 R 

6 	Cash Flow Information 

6.1 	Cash flows frorti/(to) operating activities.  

Net Loss 
Adjustments for: 
Investment Income 
Depreciation 
Finance charges 

(817.059) 

(82,815) 
476,464 

37.053 

(3.164.686) 

(183.213) 
349,284 
24,919 

43 

Operating loss before working capital changes 	 (386,357) 	(2.973,696) 

Changes In Working Capital 

Increase in prepaid expense 	 (313.845) 	 (3.944) 
IncreaseJ(Decrease) in Creditors 	 180,399 	(1.671.658) 
Increase in DVIC Valuations Liability Account 	 2.005,158 	1,760,959 
(Increase)/Decrease in Debtors 	 93.076 	(135,482) 
Decrease in Vat refundable 	 0 	 157,727 

1,578,431 	(2.866.093) 

6.2 	Additions of fixed assets 

Leasehold improvements 
Furniture and finings 
Office machines and laboratory equipment 
Computer equipment 
Motor vehicles 
Software development and Programs 

6.3 	Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consisting of cash on hand and balance 
with banks. Cash and cash equivalents in the cash Row statement 
comprise the following balance sheet amounts: 

Fixed Deposits and Call Accounts 
Cash on hand and at bank 

	

(9.238) 	(100,763) 

	

(385) 	(19,683) 

	

0 	(105.7561 

	

0 	(546.430) 

	

(50.309) 
	

0 

	

(184,890) 	(531,314) 

	

(244.822) 	(1.303,946) 

	

2,009,397 	7,566,191 

	

3,600 	 192,274 

	

2,012,997 	7,758,464 



ADMINISTRATIVE INFORMATION 

The South African Diamond Board is a regulatory authority established in terms of 

the Diamonds Act No. 56 .of 1986 for control over the possession, the purchase and 

- sale, the processing andthe export of diamonds, and for matters connected therewith. 

The objects of the Board are to ensure that the diamond resources of the Republic are 

exploited and developed in the best interest of the country and to promote the sound 

development of diamond undertakings in the Republic. 

For further information please contact: 

HEAD OFFICE -  JOHANNESBURG 

N.O. 240 Commissioner Street, Johannesburg, 2001 

P.O Box 260499, F,xcom, 2023 

Telephone: +27 1: 334 — 8980 

Telefax : +27 11 334 — 8898 
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AUDI 1,011-GiNs II AL 

REPORT 
of the 

AUDITOR-GENERAL 

to 

Parliament on the Financial Statements of the South African Diamond Board for the year ended 
31March 2002 

1. Audit assignment: The financial statements as set out on pages [ 2) to [15), for the year ended 31 March 2002, 
have been audited in terms of section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act No. 108 of 
1996), read with sections 3 and 5 of the Auditor-General Act, 1995 (Act No. 12 of 1995) and section 17 (4) of the 
Diamonds Act, 1986 (Act No. 56 of 1986). These financial statements, the maintenance of effective control 
measures and compliance with the relevant laws and regulations are the responsibility of the accounting officer. My 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements, based on the audit. 

2. Alatum and Scope: The audit was conducted in accordance with Statements of South African Auditing 
Standards. Those standards require that I plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. 

An audit includes: 
• examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, 
- Assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and 
• evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

Furthermore, an audit includes an examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting compliance in all 
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations which came to my attention and are applicable to financial 
matters. 

I believe that the audit provides a reasonable basis for my opinion. 

3. Qualification: 
3.1 Going concern: 

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting practises applicable to going 
concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of 
assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of 

, business. The audit further identified that the Board was experiencing cash flow problems. 
Because of the significance of the increase In liabilities and the significant losses reported in the financial 

statements, as well as the uncertainty surrounding the . contingent obligations and the cash flow problem 
encountered by the Board, the going concern is of concern. 

3.2 Accuracy of revenue and debtors: 
No .5uppo,,dng documentation and/or required authorisation could be obtained for credit notes amounting to 

r)-; 

3.4 Fixed assets: 
not possible to confirm the completeness, validity and accuracy of the fixed assets disclosed in the 

financial statements. This was partly due to the fact that the fixed assets register was not kept up to date during the 
financial year. 

3.4 Value Added Tax: 
The liability of the VAT account for a two-month period, 1 February 2002 to 31 March 2002, indicated an amount 

of R432 250, whilst the amount declared on the Vat 201 return was R50 229. This was an understatement of the 
liability by R382 021 on the return. This could lead to significant penalties and interest due to the 
noncompliance with the VAT Act. 

2 
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AUDITOR-MIRA. 

3.5 irregular expenditure: 

Advertising costs of 8495 340 were incurred on behalf of the Board by the former Acting CEO without the 
approval of the Board. No value was added through this service. This fact was not disclosed in the financial 
statements. 

4. Audit opinion: Because of the significance of the matters referred to in paragraph 3,1 do not express an 
opinion on the financial statements. 

5. Emphasis of matter: Without further qualifying the audit opinion expressed above, attention is drawn to the 
following matters: 

Matter affecting the financial statements: 

5.1 Deduction of income tax: 
A payment of R45 000 was made during the year as a back dated salary increase of the CEO. This forms part 

of the remuneration for standard service as per the Income Tax Act, and tax should have been deducted. No Board 
authority could be obtained for this payment. 

Matters affecting the financial statements: 

5.2 Weaknesses In internal control: 
5.2.1 Supervision and review: 
A lack of the review of documentation and reconciliation being performed as part of management, existed thus 

compromising internal control. 
Key positions for instance the Chief Executive Officer and the Financial Manager were filled with temporary 

appointments. 
5.2.2 Segregation of duties: 
The internal environment regarding the personnel expenditure did not allow for effective segregation of duties. 
No prior approval of Electronic Fund Transfers had been obtained before effected. The person capturing the 

transfer was the same as the one authorising the transactions. 
5.2.3 Income: 
The systems of internal control were not effective to provide the necessary accuracy and validity for the 

purpose of the audit. Sufficient audit procedures, could not be performed to obtain reasonable assurance that all 
entries were properly and adequately recorded. 

5.3 Non-compliance with laws and regulations: 
5.3.1 Late submission of financial statements: 
The financial statements should be submitted within two months after the financial year as per section 55 (1) 

(c) of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999). The first copy of the financial statements was 
only signed on 19th of June 2002. The final approved copy was signed on 24 July 2002. 

5.3.2 Budget not approved: 
The Minister of Minerals and Energy did not approve the budget for the financial year 2001-2002. 
For the financial year 2002-2003 the budget was not submitted for approval 6 months before the beginning of 

the financial year, as required by section 53 of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999). 
5.3.3 Internal audit: 
in terms of section 51 (1) (a) (1i) of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999), the 

accounting authority must ensure that the public entity has and maintans a system of internal audit under the 
control and direction of an audit committee. Although the SA Diamond Board has an audit committee, the internal 
audit function was riot functional for the year under review. 

5.3.4 Audit Committee: 
The audit committee has not been functional during the year under review. 
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5.4 Government Diamond Valuator: 	 AUD•TOR•GEHER AL 

The contract for the performance of the duty of the Government Diamond Valuator according to the Diamonds 
Act, is ending in March 2003. To date of this report, no formal processes have been in place to either extend or 
award a new contract for the service. This function Is regarded as the primary function of the Board. 

5.5 Possible fruttiess expenditure: 
Legal cost to an amount of approximately 8650 000 was incurred for legal action taken against the Board 

that was not defended. This could be regarded as fruitless expenditure. 

5.6 Suspension of the CEO: 
The CEO of the Board was suspended from the end of May 2002 by the Minister of Minerals and Energy. 

5.7 Export duty: 
A liability of RI 107 090 was disclosed in the financial statements in respect of export duties received for the 
export of diamonds. A dispute between the Receiver of Revenue and the Board existed since the Receiver of 

Revenue did not initially accept that the amount is owed. 

6. Appreciation: The assistance rendered by the staff of the South African Diamond Board during the audit, is 
sincerely appreciated. 

DORIS LT. DONDUR 

For Auditor-General 

Johannesburg 

29 July 2002 

4 
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ASSETS 
Non- urent Assets 
Current Assets 

2 	1 199 851 	1 507 595 
2 268 142 2 380 295 

3 467 993 3 887 899 
1.011MI lt 

Total Assets 	  

Non-Current Uabfitties: 

Interest-bearing borrowings 	 

Current Liabilities 	  

3 	54 653 	48 921 

5 998 138 4 577 587 

3 467 993 3 887 890 Total Equity and Liabilities 

SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

BALANCE AS AT 

31 MARCH 
2002 	. 2001 

Notes 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Accumulated Funds 	 ..... ............ .............................. -.-...- ....... ...-.__ 	(2 582 798) 	(738 818) 

Trade payables 	  
Short-term portion of long-term IlabWitles 	3 
Bank Overdraft (Salary Account) 	  
Other payables 	  
Vat Payable 	  
DV1C Valuations SA (Pty) Ltd... 	 4 
Debtors with Credit Balances 	 5 

46 157.  
321 141 

2 009 397 
3 800 
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0.• Debtors 	  
Prepaid Expenses 	• 
Fixed Deposit and Cali Accounts 	. 
Cash on Hand and at the Bank 	 

2 498 972 
54 553 
35 800 

1 577 388 
430 500 

1 388 117 
32 811 

583 313 
90 977 

134 785 
7 338 

15 077 
3 788 117 

0 

0 
4 969 

2 260 156 
3 017 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 
INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 

31 MARCH 

Notes 
2002 2001 

Revenue 	 

	

 	 5 14 767 836,17 15 627 788 
Other Income/Investment Income 	  

	

 	 5 87 158,18 124 837 

14 834994,35 15 752 604 
•• Operating egianees 	  5 16 821 055,48 16 427 782 

Net loss for the year. (1 988 061) (675 178) 

SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 

31 MARCH 2002 
Accumulated 

funds 
R 

Balance at 31 March 2000 	  78 441,00 
Net loss for the year 	  (675 177,86) 

Balance at 31 March 2001 	  (596 736,86) 
Net loss for the year 	  (1 986 061,13) 

Balance at 31 March 2002 	  (2 582 797.130) 
anU11101.11E11.1•11•11•1 

6 



(2 336 305 
67 158 

(48 913) 

1 578 431 
82 815 
(37 053) 

0 
(30 691) 

2 443 702 
417 173 

(102 695) 

(115 791) 
56 550 

(7 147 627) 
(52 736) 
134 764 

0 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 
CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 

2002 	2001 
Notes 

Cash flow fronV(to) operating activities  	(2 318 059) 1 624 193 

Cash generated by/(utilised in) operating activities 	 6.1 
Investment Income Received 	  
Finance charges paid 	  

• • 
• • 

Cash flow from investing activities. 
Addltiona to fixed easels .  

Cash flow from financing activities 	 • 

Loans raised 	  
Decrease in short-term portion of long-term Loans 	  6.3 
Increase/(Decrease) in Other Payables 	  
Increase/(Decrease) In Vat Payable 	  
Increase/(Decrease) in Bank Overdraft 	  

6.2 	(195 054) 	(244 822) 
2 727 489 (7 124 839) 

(Decrease/Increase In cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the Year 

    

214 376 (5 745 468) 
2 012 997 7 758 465 

    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the Year..... ...... 

   

6.4 	2 227 373 	2 012 997 

   

1 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2002 

1. Accounting Policies: 
The following are the principal accounting policies of the South African Diamond Board which are consistent 

in ail material respects with those applied in previous year, except as otherwise Indicated in the note on changes 
in accounting policies. 

1.1 Basis of presentation: 
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis and incorporate the following 

accounting policies: 

1.1.1 Acknowledgement of Income: 
Income is acknowledged on an accrual basis. 

1.1.2 Fixed Assets and depreciation: 
Fixed assets are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line method 

to write off the cost of each asset over its estimated useful life. 

The depreciation rates are as follows: 

Computer Hardware : 20% 
Computer Software : 20% 
Furniture and fittings : 10% 
Motor vehicle : 20% 
Office machine and laboratory equipment : 20% 
Parking bay : 0% 
Leasehold improvements : over period of lease 

1.1.3 Leased Assets: 
Assets leased In terms of finance lease agreements are capitalised at the estimated present value of the 

underlying lease payments and are depreciated in accordance with the policies applicable to equivalent items of 
owned assets. The correspondence rental obligations net of finance charges, are included in other long-term 
payables. Lease finance charges are amortised over the duration of the leases by the effective interest rate method 
which takes into account the effective interest charge on the lease. 

1.1.4 Pension Fund: 
Pensions are provided for employees by means of contributions to THE ASSOCIATED INSTITUTIONS 

PENSION FUND. 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2002 

3. Long-tenn liabilities 
Capitalised lease agreement at an interest rate of 25,06% per annum. Sewed by a lease 
agreement over a switchboard with a book value of R13 635 (2 000: R23 259) and repayable in 

31/03/2002 31/03/2002 

6011 Instalments of 8802 per month 	  1 388 11 012 

Capitalised lease agreement at an Interest rate of 24,07% per annum. Secured by a lease 
agreement over motor vehicles with a book value of R84 304 and repayable In 60 monthly 
instalments of R5 788,00  • 107 818 128 885 

109 206 139 897 
Less: Short-term portion transferred to current liabilities 	  54 553 90 977 

54 653 48 920 

4. OVIC Valuations SA (Ply) Ltd 
An amount of R1 366 117 (2001; R3 766 117) relating to Invoices received from DVIC 
Valuations SA (Pty) kid in respect of extra work done in Kimberly and in London on behalf 
of the South African Diamond Board at De Beers. The final Indebtedness amount was 
reached after a fltigatIon was resolved out-of-court 

S. Provision tor Bad Debt write off 
The debtors balance is arrived at after taking the following into account: 

Current year debtors 	  121 893,00 
Less provision for bad debts 	  154 704,24 

Debtors with credit balances 	 -32 811,24 

9 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2002 

2. Fixed Assets 

Own Assets.  

Cost Accumulated 
Depreciation 

Book Value 
31/03/2002 Cost Accumulated 

Depreciation 
Book Value 
31/03/2001 

Parking Bay 	  4 580 0 4 580 4 580 0 4 580 
Computer hardware 	  751 334 347 634 403 700 586 961 211 149 375 811 
Furniture and fittings 	  247 112 236 860 10 252 243 102 228 184 14 918 
Motor vehicles 	  296 187 237 156 59 031 296 187 177 919 118 268 
Office machines and laboratory equipment 353 603 262 575 91 028 359 020 242 295 116 725 
Leasehold Improvements 	  186 183 103 918 82 265 185 683 66 739 118 944 
Software development and programs ..... 	 851 664 392 151 459 513 837 961 223 537 614 424 
Security System 	  17 8135 16 719 1 166 0 0 0 

2 708 547 1 597 012 1 111 535 2 513 494 1 149 823 1 363 670 

Leased Assets 
Switchboard . 	  48 120 44 109 4 011 48 120 34 465 13 635 
Motor vehicles 	  229 922 145 617 84 305 229 922 99 633 130 289 

278 042 189 726 8B 316 278 042 134 118 143 924 

Total Assets 2 986 590 1 786 738 1 199 851 2 791 536 1 283 941 1 507 594 

10 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2002 

Book Value At 
Beginning of 	Additions 	Adjustments Depreciation Book Value At 

Year 	 End of Year 

R 

Own Assets 
Parking Bay 	  4 580 0 0 0 4 580 
Computer hardware 	  375 811 164 373 0 136 485 403 699 
Furniture and fittings 	  14 918 4 010 0 8 676 10 252 
Motor vehicles 	  118 268 0 0 59 237 59 031 
Office machines arid laboratory equipment 	 116 725 12 468 0 38 165 91 028 
Leasehold improvements 	  118 944 500 0 37 178 82 266 
Software development and programs 	 614 424 13 703 0 168 614 459 513 
Security Systems 	  0 0 (4 744) 3 577 1 167 

1 363 670 195 054 (4 744) 451 932 1 111 535 

Leased Assets 
Switchboard 	  13 635 0 9 624 4 011 
Motor vehicles 	  130 289 0 0 45 984 84 305 

143 924 0 0 55 608 88 316 

Total Assets 	  1 507 594 195 054 (4 744) 507 541 1 199 851 

11 



SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2002 

2.2 Adjustments on fixed assets 

The exclusion of the Security System from the assets listing of the previous year's report 
has necessitated the following adjustment to agree the asset register to the General 
Ledger. 

Security Systems at cost 	  17 885 
Less: Opening Accumulated depredation 	  13 141 

Net Book value at 1 April 2002 	  4 744 
Less: Annual Depreciation 	  3 577 

Net Book value at 31 March 2002 	  1 167 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 
SCHEDULES TO FINANCE STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2002 

	

31/03/2002 	31/03/2001 
R 	 R 

Debtors 
700/000 Debtors control 	25 637 	(24 827) 
820/000 Credit card 	 4 043 	4 082 
832/000 E C Urbanl 	 0 	 40 
835/000 OvIc AccOUnt 	 • : 	 • - 	— 	88 313.  	57 677 
840/005 Paye clea►ing 	 4 000 
840/006 (7) Bonita & Bestrned 	 0 	9 186 

Total 	121 893 	46 158 
4101111MMilif 

Fixed deposit and cell accounts 
900/000 Current account account 	  
915/000 Investec call account 	 
920=0 Nedbank Call Account 	  
925/000 Boland call account 	  
926/000 Merrill Lynch call account 	  
927/000 Merrill Lynch (Daily) 	  

Trade payables 
810/000 Accruals.,, 	  
815/000 Provision for audit fees 	  
9301060 Outreach training 	  
838/000 Bonus provision 	  
839/000 Leave pay provision 	  
999/000 Transfer/Suspense 	  
816/000 Provision for bad debts 	  

Total 	  

13 

	

2 248 506 	420 297 

	

0 	 0 

	

11 650 	1 589 097 
0 

3 

	

2 260 156 	2 009 397 
11•111.1M111MINIMMIMENNI 

	

2 498 972 	557 474 

	

132 000 	80 000 

	

O 	 10 000 
53 055 

iss 285 

	

1 107 090 	(84 161) 

	

154 704 	 0 

	

4 114 105 	563 313 
13.1•1111Mli=.11.11.1M.1 	MINIIIMEiG111111C 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 

5. Net  Income 

Budgeted 	Actual 	Budgeted 	 Actual 
2002 	 2002 	 2001 	 2001 

The following items are Included in net income: 	Fi 

Total income 	 19 391 959 00 14 834 994 35 16 132 490 00 15 752 604 po 

Levy Income 18 676 766 00 14658 207 88 15 603 182 00 15 627 768 00 
Other income 658 539 00 109 628 29 446 966 00 42 021 00 
Interest Received 56 654 00 67•156 18 82 342 00 82 815 00 

Total Expenditure Includes 	 16 989 166 00 16 821 055 48 16 989 165 00 16 427 782 00 

Audit fees 170 580 00 572 004 68 170 580 00 115 247 00 
Board members remuneration 179 800 00 231 197 09 179 800 00 157 300 00 
Depreciation 458 040 00 502 796 31 458 049 00 476 464 00 
Diamond Valuation Fees 9 467 015 00 9 175 228 26 9 467 015 00 10 536 337 00 
insurance 44 574 00 44 544 17 44 574 00 41 729 00 
Other Expenditure 2 236 509 00 2 018 764 83 2 236 499 00 792 784 00 
Overseas travelling 293 378 00 241 976 49 293 378 00 37 189 00 
Rent Offices and Parking 478 960 00 590 982 50 478 960 00 585 165 00 
Staff Recruitement and related Expenses 80 075 00 12 096 00 80 075 00 0 00 
Salaries and contributions 3 496 085 00 3 356 022 61 3 496 085 00 3 621 218 00 
Local Travelling and subsistence 84 150 00 75 442 54 84 150 00 64 349 00 

Net Surplus (Deficit) (674 178) 2 402 793 (1 986 061) (856 675) 
MINIM 

6. Changes In the Retained Income opening balance 

The opening balance in the retained income has had to be restated because of some changes which were effected 
as follows: 

Opening balance as at 01/04f01 	 738 618 
Less; overprovision in accruals brought forward now written back 	 (171 146) 
Less; Outreach donation received in previous years now written off 	 (10 000) 

Add; correction of interest charged on leased vehicles previously misallocated 	 28 397 
Add; unexplained charges per bank statements previously allocated to the suspense account now written off. 10 867 

Revised balance 596 737 

14 
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SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD 

NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2002 

6. Cash flow Information 

31/03/2002 	31/03/2001 

6,1 Cash flows from (to) operating activities 	  (2 336 305) 	1 578 431 

Net profit (Loss) for the year 	  (1 986 061) (817 059) 
Adjustments for: 
Investment Income  	 4 	 (67 158) (82 815) 
Depreciation 	 •  502 798 476 464 
Finance charges 	  48 903 37 053 

Operating loss before working capital changes 	  (1 501 520) (386 357) 
Changes in Working Capital 	  (834 784) 1 964 788 

Increase/(Decrease) In prepaid expense 	  312 820 (313 845 
Increase/(Decrease) in Creditors 	  1 493 915 180 399 
Increase/(Decrease) in Debtors 	  (106991) 93 076 
Increase/(Decrease) in DVIC Valuation account 	 (2 400 000) 2 005 158 
Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions 	 (134 528) 0 

6.2 Additions of fixed assets 
Leasehold improvements (500) 	(9 238) 
Furniture and fittings 	  (4 010) 	 (385) 
Office machines and laboratory equipment 	, 	  (12 467) 	 0 
Computer equipment 	  (164 373) 	 0 
Motor vehicles 	  (13 703) 	(50 309) 
Sofware development and Programs 	  0 	(184 390) 

(195 054) 	(244 322) 

6.3 Decrease in interest bearing borrowings: 	 01/04/01 	 31/03/02 
Opening 	 Closing Decrease 

Bal. 	 Ba 

Switchboard 	 -11 012,42 	 -1 388,42 (9 624) 
Wesbank BMY69510E 	 -64 442,95 	 -53 908,95 (10 534) 
Wesbank 8MY69510E 	 -64 442.95 	 -53 908,95 (10 534) 

(30 691) 

6.4 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents consisting of cash on hand and balance with banks. Cash and cash 
equivalents in the cash flow statement comprise the following balance sheet amounts: 
Fixed deposits and cal accounts 	  2 224 356 	2 009 397 
Cash on hand and at bank 	  3 017 	 3 600 

2 227 373 	2 012 997 
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ADMINISTRATIVE INFORMATION 
The South African Diamond Board is a regulatory authority established in terms of the Diamond Act No. 56 of 

1986 for control over the possession, the purchase and sale, the processing and the export of diamonds; and for 
matters connected therewith. 

The objects of the Board are to ensure that the diamond resources of the Republic are exploited and 
developed in the best interest of the country and to promote the sound development of diamond undertakings in 
the Republic. 

For further information please contact; 
Head Office, Johannesburg 
No. 240 Commissioner Street 
JOHANNESBURG 
2001; 
P.O. Box 260499 
EXCOM, 
2023 
Telephone: +27 11 334-8980/6 
Telefax: +27 11 334-8898 
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ORIGIN AND UNIQUE CHARACTERISTICS OF DIAMONDS 

SOURCE OF DIAMONDS 

Diamonds began life as crystalline carbon which was converted to diamond 150 - 200 kilometers 

(equivalent to about 50 kilobars of pressure and I 200 degrees centigrade of temperature) below the 

earth's surface some 900 - 3 300 million years ago. These diamonds are brought to the earth's surface by 

"passenger trains" in the form of kimberlite and lamproite volcanoes. Kimberiite and lamproite 

mechanism have occurred in regular cycles through geological time. Over 7000 kirnberlite and lamproite 

localities are known worldwide. Less than about 10 % of these contain diamonds. Less than 1 % have 

been mined. 

TYPES OF DIAMOND DEPOSITS 

Diamond deposits are of two types: 

Primary or hard rock in the form of kimberlito and lamproite deposits, which are usually large tonnage 

and high grade with lower quality stones (ave. ± $70/carat). Secondary or alluvial (placer) deposits 

which may be found on land, in rivers. or the ocean. These are usually low grad e with higher quality stones 

(ave. ± $300karat). Alluvial deposits typically contain a high proportion of gem diamonds (as much as 

95 944, hence the much higher dollar values. 
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•rar-It'kC 

It gives me great pleasure to announce that the South African Diamond Board is 

now a globally respected institution. The organization has re-claimed its rightful 

place in the 'family-  of diamond institutions worldwide. It is known for it's 

unwavering commitment to good governance in line with international best 

practices. 

As the fourth largest diamond producer in terms of value in the world (behind 

Botswana, Russia and Canada), South Africa can proudly say that it is in the 

centre of the constantly changing global diamond industry. Our knowledge and 

experience of the industry enables us to impact positively in the on-going changes. 

Our position in international affairs is articulated in conference presentations, diamond industry publications and 

newspapers, as well as in electronic media. We participated in international conferences hosted by the World 

Federation of Diamond Bourses, World Diamond Council, World Jewellery Confederation, British Columbia 

University and the Israel Diamond Institute. Our ultimate goal is to further enhance our leadership role in 

international affairs and to build a globally competitive industry that is able to benefit our country and its people. 

We continue to ensure that the diamond resources of South Africa are exploited and developed In the best 

interests of the country by supporting industry players and facilitating black economic empowerment. New 

entrants into the industry, most of whom are historically disadvantaged individuals and companies, have been 

licensed to cut and polish rough diamonds and to trade in the international market. The challenge for the 

Diamond Board is to assist them to find creative ways of ensuring sustainabtlity. 

As indicated in my previous statement, our major challenge is to transform the diamond industry in line with 

policies of the new political dispensation. We need to change all pieces of legislation that create constraints in the 

transformation process. 

I am confident that these legislative changes will transform the South African Diamond Industry in a manner that 

will position the country as a globally competitive diamond producing country and in a sustainable manner. 

SOUTH AFRICA'S POSITION IN THE GLOBAL DIAMOND INDUSTRY 

We maintained our position as the fourth largest diamond producer. We produced approximately 13 million 

carats valued at US$1.2 billion (R7.8 billion) this year. Over 50% of diamonds we produce are economic to cut 

and polish In South Africa. Our cutting and polishing Industry is competitive In creating diamonds of greater value, 

where the cost of manufacture is less than the polished diamond price. 

The industry employs 28 000 people: 13 000 in mining; 9 000 in jewellery retail; 3000 in jewellery manufacturing; 

2 100 in cutting and polishing and 900 in sorting and valuing diamonds. 
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The cost of labour in the diamond industry can be compared to Israel. South Africa is able to cut a three-grainer 

at US$30-35 per carat. With the exception of diamond cutting and polishing countries in the Far East and possibly 

the Near East, South Africa's cost of labour is lower than other cutting centres such as Belgium and the United 

States of America. 

One could even argue that we are the only major diamond producing country with a successful cutting and 

polishing industry. We need to capitalize on this success and grow this sector. We also need to grow the 

jewellery-manufacturing sector. In the year under review, South Africa represented 0.4% of the global jewellery 

trade. With the increase in the disposable income of South Africans and the increase in consumer demand, we 

can do better. 

In addition, there is a growing tourist market. The country can position itself as "The Land of the Diamonds". 

Tourists must not be able to resist returning without a souvenir that contains a diamond. 

South Africa is a solid diamond trading country with a complex value chain. It covers all aspects of the diamond 

trade from producing, cutting, polishing, sorting, jewellery manufacturing, exporting and importing of diamonds. 

ier, South Africa still exports rough diamonds. The challenge is to add value to our goods by creating a 

I. 	ialue chain. 

SOUTH AFRICAN GOVERNMENT OBJECTIVE 

The South African government's objective is to transform the diamond industry in such a way that it positions the 

country as a global competitor. 

Despite legislative constraints, the Diamond Board has facilitated an emerging consensus between government 

and industry leaders on the need to transform the industry. Both parties agree that transformation must position 

South Africa as a globally competitive country. 

KIMBERLEY PROCESS 

ST ') Africa, a founder member of the Kimberley Process, successfully led the multi-lateral negotiations 

'en governments, civil society and the diamond industry, leading up to the launch of the Kimberley Process 

C 	ation Scheme for the trade in rough diamonds. In November 2003 the Chairmanship was handed over to 

the government of Canada. 

The trade in conflict diamonds Is still a matter of serious concern. The Board has consistently and persistently 

Jrged diamond industry members to comply fully with the minimum requirements of the Kimberley Process 

2ertification Scheme. 

'he Minister of Minerals and Energy, on the recommendation of the Board and by notice in the Gazette, 

reposed minimum requirements of the Kimberley Process to all licensed diamond traders operating in South 

1frica. 
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Furthermore, the Diamond Board has established an auditable monitoring and control system that traces the 

movement of rough diamonds from mine to market. The Board has also created top-of-mind awareness about 

the need to comply with the Kimberley Process. 

MAJOR CHALLENGE 

Our major challenge is to grow" and advance South Africa's cutting. polishing and jewellery manufacturing 

capacity in such a manner that it positions South Africa as a globally competitive diamond producing country. 

APPRECIATIONS 

I wish to thank members of the Board of Directors for their commitment to the plight of the diamond industry, 

the Chief Executive Officer for his leadership qualities, management and staff for their dedication and hard work. 

I thank you ail. 

A. Chikane 

Chairman, SA Diamond Board 
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The Kimberley Process Certification Scheme was officially implemented, 

coming into effect on the I st January 2003. 

A total of forty-seven countries, including producing and trading countries 

were accepted as participants in the Kimberley Process Certification Scheme. 

The Kimberley Process seeks to protect the legal system of trade in rough 

diamonds from those seeking to abuse it. The very characteristic of diamonds 

that make it so valuable is also the characteristic that makes it appealing to 

criminals and criminal networks. 

The South African Diamond Board together with other government institu-

tions have established inter-governmental and regional co-operations within the Nepad Framework to try to 

control the trade in illicit diamonds which pass undetected across porous borders and through Customs. 

order to promote consumer confidence in the industry, it is of the utmost importance that consumers be able 

co identify synthetic or treated diamonds from natural diamonds. Synthetic diamonds have occasionally been 

encountered in the gem trade, but until recently. attention has focused almost exclusively on the type produced 

by exposing carbon containing solids to high pressures and temperatures. 

The long-term effect of synthetic diamonds in the natural diamond trade is to impact negatively on producing 

countries such as South Africa, in terms of tax revenues due to host governments. It will also impact negatively on 
employment opportunities associated with the curtailing of diamond mining activities. Whether consumers will 

embrace the synthetic diamonds is anyone's guess but the consequences in the natural diamond industry could 

be significant. 

The SADB continues to participate in the various committees established to ensure the smooth implementation 

of the Kimberley Process by member countries which includes review visits. 

.earnership programmes have been compiled and registered with the Mines Qualification Authority for skills 

:avelopment for new entrants. The long-term objective is to help new entrants to grow and become globally 

,mpetitive within the diamond industry. 

Diamond Marketing Consultants SA (Pty) Limited were appointed as the official Government Diamond Valuator 

(GDV) for a period of two years with effect from March 2004. The GDV's key performance areas include the 
valuation of "Run-of-Mine" intended for export to ensure that there is no under-valuation► of goods, and imports 

of regular sight goods from DTC London office to supply the local manufacturers. The total carats audited and 

valued by the GDV forthe year under review is in excess of eleven million. 

The awarding of the contract took into cognisance the invcilvement and training of historically disadvantaged 

trainees Who at present own a 49% eqUity within Diamond Marketing Consultant SA (Pty) Limited:- 
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The Broad Based Black Economic Empowerment Charter, as promulgated by the Department of Minerals and 

Energy, was adopted by the Board as a guideline document that will ensure transformation of the diamond trade 

industry. The customised Charter, together with its accompanying scorecard, will be used as a tool to measure 

equitable access within the industry. 

The Board remains committed in ensuring that the diamond resources of ..South Africa are exploited and 

developed in the best interests of the country. 

Selekane 

Chief Executive Officer 
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APPOINTMENT OF BOARD MEMBERS 

Board members of the SADB are appointed by the Minister of the Department of Minerals and Energy. The 

Board is represented by all roleplayers in the diamond Industry. A non-executive Chairman heads the Board of 

the SADB and the Chief Executive Officer is the Accounting Officer. 
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Back row (from left to right): 

..Messrs: Raisaka Masebelanga, Ernie Worn, MacDonald Temane, Dr Jan Bredell, George Zacharias, 
r Humphrey Mathe, Ori Temkin and Richard Napier. 

rilirogrOt  S.A. DIAMOND BOARD 

rout row: 
Messrs: Archie Luhlabo (Deputy Cha;rman). Ms. NtsikiV:th AverhPke, Abbey Chikane (Chairman), 
Ms. Nomawabo Msizi, Ms. Claire Minnitt and Louis Selekane (Chief Executive Officer). 

 

Not in the picture: 

Ms. Zollie Ramos, Messrs: Marlin Grote, Andries Manoko and Parks Modise. 
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HUMAN RESOURCES 

Employment Equity 

The South African Diamond Board has made every effort to achieve equity in the workplace by promoting equal 

opportunity and fair treatment in our employment practices. Special care has been taken to ensure equitable 

representation in all occupational categories and levels at the South African Diamond Board. 
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Training ar,e Development 

In January 2004, the South African Diamond Board appointed a Skills Deveiopment Facilitator who 

subsequently registered with the Mining Qualifications Authority (MQA), which is the SETA for our Industry. 

A Workplace Skills plan for 2004 /2005 was submitted to the MQA with the following identified as our skill 

priorities: 

0 	Customer Service Skills; 

0 	Business Writing Skills; 

0 	Management Skills; 

0 	Communication Skills; 

0 	Diamond Evaluation Skills. 

Our Annual Training Report for 2003/2004 was submitted to the MQA A total of 1.84% of the payroll 

R78,692.29) was spent on training and development during this period. The training budget has since been 

-reased to 7.6% of payroll in the current year. 

Performance Management 

A Performance Management system was implemented in order to monitor and reward staff performance. Each 

job was profiled and key result areas were determined based on these job profiles_ This allows management to 

evaluate their staffs performance based on job specific criteria. 

Performance appraisal sessions were held quarterly and this provided the perfect opportunity to determine 

training needs as well as to open the lines of communication between management and staff. 
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

The South African Diamond Board faced a number of financial challenges from 1998 to 2004. Unlike other public 

entities, which are financed on the basis of regular annual government grants which maximise income security, 

the Board is self-funded by imposing a funding mix of levies, fees and user charges. Furthermore, the Board's 

income is rriaterially influenced by the value of the Rand against the US Dollar. 

While the Board has limited powers in deciding on the amounts to be charged for the services it renders to stake-

holders, it has no control whatsoever on the Rand/ US Dollar parity value, thereby creating significant uncertain-

ties in the Board's finances. 

During the past seven years, the finances of the Board performed as follows; 

Income 
	

III Expenditure 

Table 2 

Year 2004 2003 2002 2001 	2000 1999 1998 

W000 R`000 R'000 R"000 	R000 R'000 R'000 

Income 22537 19,910 14.835 15,753 	13.079 9.356 7,301 

idkire 1 .3,80 . 11,004 1.. ICA I  ..ig:iig: 2 J  '14,483 8.742 7.698 
Surpius/ (deficit) 8,128 2,906 ( 1 ,986) (675) 	(1,404) 614 (397) 

Remaining Financial Risks 

Although the Board has managed to build sound cash reserves over the last two financial years, there remains 

looming danger that lithe Rand/ Dollar exchange rate firms to a level higher than R 5.00 to the Dollar, the Board, 

in-the absence of expenditure cuts, could potentially experience cash shortages. 

In the 2002 financial year, the Board was faced with an ongoing concern as it had consistently and repeatedly 

reported deficits over a period of four to five years, thereby eroding its reserves. Attempts.t6 raise alternative 

funding did not materialize. In addition, the key positions of the Board, namely those of the Chief Executive 

Officer and the Financial Manager were vacant. These two key positions were temporarily filled by employees 

who took it upon themselves to restructure the income of the Board on the one hand and to institute better 
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expenditure controls on the other hand. In this endeavour, responsible Board Members on the Finance 

Committee provided critical leadership and support. The efforts paid off in 2003, which saw the Board reporting 

a healthy surplus for the first time in four years. The single biggest cost element then was the contract the Board 

had concluded with the Government Diamond Valuator. In this regard the Finance Committee was instrumental 

in calling for an external audit of the GDV's service delivery to the Board and the Board's procurement 

policies with a view to improving the financial position. 

improver! Buciger.irt: 

It was also in the 2003 financial year that the Board commenced work on a more transparent and efficient 

budgeting process that was debated and adopted by the various committees of the Board before it was finally 

approved by the Minister. In addition, the Board has managed to meet with all the statutory deadline 

requirements such as: 

a) Section 17(4) of the Diamond Act 56 of 1986; 

b) Section 55( I) of the Public Finance Management Act (Act No. i of 1999 as amended): and the 

c) Treasury Regulations numbers TR 26.0.2 to TR31.2.I. 

Providing Finances for Skills Enhanceiv.ent 

The Board has begun to invest in Skills Enhancement Programmes by providing proper training to employees 

with the object of improving service delivery to the upstream and downstream diamond industry in South Africa. 

These initiatives will continue. 

Audit Committee 

The Board has established an Audit Committee as required in terms of Section 51(1)(a)(ii) of PFMA which is 

critical forthe assessment and Identification of risks facing the Board. 

SECTION 59 AGREEMENTS 

Membership of the Section 59 Committee was expanded during the year to include the United Diamond 

Association of South Africa (UDASA) and UASA which broadly represent workers in the downstream diamond 

industry. 

The Section 59 Agreements of De Beers and Trans Hex were both thoroughly reviewed In terms of their 

alignment with the Act and their practical implementation. A significant amendment of the De Beers Agreement 

was the deletion of a clause that gave sightholders the right to export unpolished diamonds duty free after they 

have been offered to the local cutting industry for two and a half days. This clause was considered to be against 

the spirit and intent of the Agreement and also inappropriate in the sense that sightholders are not a party to the 

agreement. 

The Committee also embarked upon a continuous effort to assess and improve the effectiveness of Section 59 

Agreements. In this regard, the export of.unpolished diamonds that had been bought under the pretext .of 
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processing it locally, was identified by the Committee as the single most important factor that neutralises the 

effectiveness of Section 59 Agreements. Acting on a recommendation by the Committee, the Board has since 

approved and implemented the stricter application of Sections 58 and 40 of the Act in order to ensure that goods 

that are bought by local cutters and toolmakers are in fact locally manufactured as intended by the Act. In an 

attempt to further address this problem, the Committee is also investigating the possibility of the Board entering 

into Section 59 Agreements with sightholders. 

Proposals for a new regulatory regime to replace the current Section 59 dispensation were drafted and 

submitted for consideration to the Department of Minerals and Energy. 

LICENSES 

Licenses Approved from 0 I April 2003 to 3 I March 2004 

Table 3 

DC 	 DOI 	 DP 	 DR 	. DT 

35 	 237 	 5 	 I 	 3 
1 2.46% 	84.34% 	I 78.00% 	16.06% 	0796.  

Figure I 
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Diamond Dealer's License (DD) - entitling the holder to carry on business as a buyer, seller, importer or 

exporterof unpolished diamonds; 

2. Diamond Cutting License (DC) - entitling the holder to polish diamonds for the purpose of business or 

trade; 

3. Diamond Tool-Making License (DT) - entitling the holder to set unpolished diamonds in tools, 

implements or other articles or to crush or to alter those diamonds forthe purposes of such setting or for 

the purpose of trade; 

4. Diamond Research License (DR) - entitling the holder to do applied research and tests in connection 

with diamonds, but not to polish diamonds for the purpose of business or trade. 

STATISTICAL REPORTING 

Synopsis of the south African Diamond Industr 

The history of diamonds in South Africa dates back to between December 1866 and February 1867 when 

diamonds were found on a farm on the south bank of the Orange River. Over the years South African diamond 

production has increased tremendously. Today South Africa is fourth in terms of production value and it is 

predicted to stay that way for the foreseeable future. Figure 2 shows the total production from South African 

operations over the past five years. 

Figure 2. Estimated Total Diamond Production from South Africa during the period 1998 - 2003. 

South African diamond production is from primary sources (mainly Kimberlite Pipes and, to a lesser extent, 

Lamproite Pipes) and secondary sources of alluvial and Beach Placer deposits_ In South Africa, diamond 

producers can be divided into small-scale (or junior) miners and largetscale miners. Junior miners concentrate 

largely on mining alluvial or• gravel deposits whereas large producers mine both primary and secondary diamond 

deposits with a greater bias on primary diamond deposits. Figures 3 and 4 depict the estimated production from 

junior miners and large-scale producers. 
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Figure 3. Estimated Diamond Production from South African large scale producers for the period 1998 - 2003. 

Figure 4. Estimated Diamond Production from South African small scale producers for the period 1998 - 2003. 

Gro% 	the South African Diamond Industry and the Role of the South African Diamond Board 

The South African diamond industry has shown a steady growth over the years both in diamond production 

(Figs. 2 - 4) and in diamond beneficiation. However, there is still great potential for growth in the beneficiation 

sector especially in the involvement of historically disadvantaged South Africans (HDSA). The latter are steadily 

being involved in the diamond-mining sector. 

The SADB through its internal technical .committee, formulated the establishment of a resource centre, 

containing Statistical data on the diamond prOduction and trade in South Africa. 
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The rough diamond market commanded high prices in the year under review. There was, on average, a 20% 

increase in rough diamond prices. Recently, De Beers' Diamond Trading Company(DTC) announced 

increases of about 8%. A long-term shortage of rough diamonds is forecast and prices are expected to rise. 

Figures 5 and 6 show a steady increase in the carats and revenue from exported and imported rough diamonds. 

Belgium and the United Kingdom are the major trading countries. 

Figure 5. Total Rough diamond exports with their respective dollar value for the period I999 - 2003. 

Figure 6. Total Rough diamond imports with their respective dollar value for the period 1999 - 2003. 
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Ex.p,vi and 	O: Pe;:ii‘:hect 

There is an increasing trend of beneficiation of diamonds in South Africa. A total of 2,500 people are employed 

within this sector. South Africa is the only major producer with an appreciable cutting and polishing sector. The 

benefit of this was an increase in the price of polished diamonds, which are 12% higher than they were in January 

2003. There has also been a steady increase in the tenor and revenue of polished diamonds over the past five 

years (1999 to 2003), see Figures 7 and 8. 

Figure 7. Total polished diamond imports with their respect ive dollarvalue for the period 2000 - 2001 

Figure 8. Total polished diamond expOrts with their respective dollar value for the period 1999 - 2003. 
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1.2 

The following figures show the transactions undertaken by the various license holders for the period from 

1999 - 2003. 

Figure 9. Carats of unpolished, diamonds exported by the various license holders from 1998- 2003. 

ow Diamond Cutters III Diamond Dealers 	Large Diamond Producers II Small Diamond Producers 

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 

Diamond Cutters 519,546 628,486 938,087 1,667,397 750,073 761,757 

Diamond Dealers 5,938,766 8,461,1[.  11,123,000 10,765.767 ' 9:489,760 9,388,115 

Diamond Producers 4,439,704  1,227,090 131,896 103,435 141,015 103,539 

Other's • .. 81 ,816 	. ...13,415 48,823 6,340 . 	• -919 24,245 

Figure 10. US Dollar value of unpolished diamonds exported during the period 1998 - 2003 by different license 

holders. 

0  

Diamond Cutters II Diamond Dealers Large Diamond Producers ill Small Diamond Producers 

1998 1999 '2000 2001 2002 2003 

Diarnond Cutters. .227,872,297 337,470,174 478,314,211 350,020,062 • 395,988,434 411,33.1,482 

Diamond Dealers 538,687,043 694,695,218 906,843,712: 717.38.1,373 757,301,836 834,686,006 • 

Diamond Producers 290,559,249 58,893,174 10,404,829 12,202,698 20,771,010 6,256,838 

Others 5,296,576 1,586,118 1,882.678 384,659 333,893 661,007 
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Figure I Imports and exports of polished diamonds by the diamond cutters of South Africa 1998 -  2003. 

1998 	1999 	I 	2000 	I 	2001  

f 999 -a...4 . 2000 • .,_ 
*Potished Exports (Carats) 	152,901 181.016 253,487 
t.5:6)i.8ai; Value of Zeporps. 	230,598,502 2954:*a  474,495,073 
Polished imports (Carats) 	4,978 I 71,678 
u777.4.4.%e, ot.k0k...`e:717. 159  22z • 4,34.111 443 . 

2002 	2003 

2001 • • *. • •-• 10024  '2003 
243,455 . 321,046 ! . 	. 	. , 353.305 . . 	.  

	

476,999,828.: 	510,64104% ...55k32.3.726 

	

49,84 	I 	334.987 
33.798,294 50LO1.39.*:c 4:062;10 

Diamond Casters 	 Large Diamond Producers • 	Diamond Dealers 
	

■ Small Diamond Producers 
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Number of Kimberley Process Certificates issued for the calender year 2003 

Table 4 

TOTAL TOTAL 
COUNTRIES Exports Re-exports EXPORTS Imports Re-Imports IMPORTS 
Angob 0 i I 0 0 0 
Austraka 0 1 I • 2 1 3 
Belgium' 614 17 631 59 II 70 
Botswana I 4 5 I 0 1 
Canada 4 I 5 3 0 3 
China I I 2 0 0 0 
Congo 0 I 1 2 0 

0  P. 	• .0 
DRG c°110  9 3 3 8 0 8 

14 0.. J4. ,.,....._...... 4 , 	,....,..... ;.__LQ. 	..___. 4 ____ 
Germany 2 0 2. 0 0 0 
Guinea 0 2 2 2 0 2 
Hong-Kong 35 0 35 0 0 0 
India 20 0 20 0 0 0 

440 20 460 78 36 114 
Mauritius 11 2 16 0 4 4 
Namibia 3 I 4 0 0 0 
Russia 5 1 6 0 0 0 
Sierra-Leone 0 1 I 0 0 0 

&niPPoi'e -1 	• 0 1 0. 0 0, 
Switzerland 34 • 2 36 2 2 4 
Tanzania 0 2 2 5 0 5 
Ukraine 3 0 3 0 0 P. 
United Arab Emirates 5 0 5 0 0 0 
United Kingdom 35 7 42 40 2 42 
United States 85 11 96 18 8 26 
France 0 0 0 I 0 1 
Ireland 0 0 0 35 0 35 
Lesotho 0 0 0 3 0 3 
Korea 0 0 0 7 0 7 
GRAND TOTAL 1,316 79 1,395 270 64 334 

• Belgium and Israel are the main importers of unpolished diamonds from South Africa and account for 45% 

and 32% respectively of the overall total Kimberley Process Certificates issued by the Board. 
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'PAFER-SOECtkiCATIONSICSE - :rt1100114REV,  
INCOIRFPRATED INTHECE/triFIcATE. 

0 	50% cotton & 50% selected wood pulp. 

O Weight 105 gms. 

0 	Colour: White. 

O Watermark: Random SABN and logo watermark (Unique to SABN). 

0 	UV dull (Does not fluoresce when exposed to Ultra Violet light). 

0 	Fully sensitive to: Acids, strong bases, Bleach/Oxidizing agents, Polar and Non Polar solvents. 

Contact with such substances causes a reaction with the paper and leaves a stain if there has been any 

interference. 

0 	Invisible fibers fluorescing green under Ultra Violet light. 

0 	Visible red fibers that fluoresce blue under Ultra Violet light 

O "Laserguard" treated on both sides. (Laser printed data cannot be removed without damage to substrate). 

NT4S16URITi' FEATURE _,INCORPORATED IN THE CERfIFICATE 
...0"'"4•15.1..1•06.0,W.L1,11k SWISISOL-3,26._ 

UTHO 

Logo: Visible Kimberley Process logo, which fluoresces green when exposed to UV light Invisible Kimberley 

Process logo, on all sections, which fluoresce red when exposed to UV light. 

Fine line background: 2 colors, blue and yellow varifuge inks and where they overlap make green. Colors bleed 

strongly when tampered with. 

Micro text The wording "South African Diamond Board" 

Mandatory Text: Black ink. 

INTAGLIO (Certificate of Origin portion only) 

Border. Blue guilloche pattern with a tactile feel. 

NUMBERING (All sections) 

Unique, with the Alpha 2 country code (Numerals which fluoresce when exposed to UV light). 

PERFORATIONS 

Down all dedicated sections. The Certificate meets the minimum requirements as per Annexure I of the KPCS 

document (copy of certificate is attached). 
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Carat is the measure of the Weight of a diamond. The carat is a standard 

metric weight of 0,2 grams or 1/142 of a standard ounce. Conventionally. 

each carat is divided into 100 points with, for example. a half cara: being 

50 points and written as 0,50. Carat is named after the carat seed. 

0 C5 	0.10 	0.25 	0 50 	0.75 
CA RAT CARAT 	CARAT 	CARAT 	CARAT 

Cut refers to a number of parameters including: 

O Depth Percentage - the relationship between the depth and the 

average diameter of a diamond; 

0 Table - the relationship between the Pat, top surface and the average 

diameter; 

0 Girdle - the variance and relative width at minimum and maximum 

positions; 

O Culet - the bottom surface of a diamond as vtewed throug!i the Table; 

0 	- the quality of the surface of a diamond; and 

• Symmetry - the general balance orform of the diamond. 

• • • 

7 	,? 11 4/ 
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The Annual Financial Statements which appear on this Annual Report were orginally approved by the Board 

on 26 May 2004. The Statements were signed on behalf of the BOARD by: 

A Chikane 
	

I Selekane 

Chairman 
	

Chief Executive Officer 
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON THE FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS OF THE SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD (SADB) FOR THE YEAR 

ENDED 3 I MARCH 2004 

I. 	AUDIT ASSIGNMENT 

The financial statements as set owt on pages 33 to 48, for the year ended 3 I March 2004, have been audited 

in terms of section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act No. 108 of 1996), read 

with sections 3 and 5 of the Auditor-General Act, 1995 (Act No. 12 of 1995) and section I7(4) of the 

Diamond Act, 1986 (Act No. 56 of 1986). These financial statements, the maintenance of effective control 

measures and compliance with relevant laws and regulations are the responsibility of the accounting 

authority. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements, based on the audit. 

2. NATURE AND SCOPE 

The audit was conducted in accordance with Statements of South African Auditing Standards. Those 

standards require that I plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial 

statements are free of material misstatement. 

An audit includes: 

examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements; 

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management; and 

evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

Furthermore, an audit includes an examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting compliance in all 

material respects with the relevant laws and regulations, which came to my attention and are applicable to 

financial matters. 

I believe that the audit provides a reasonable basis for my opinion. 

3. AUDIT OPINION 

In my opinion, the financial statements fairly present, in all material respects, the financial position of the 

South African Diamond Board (SADB) at 31 March 2004 and the results of its operations and cash flows for 

the year then ended in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice and in the manner 

required by the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. I of 1999) as amended. 

27 

nfA' 

91 



AUDITOR GA.," RAI 

4. 	EMPHASIS OF MATTER 

Without qualifying the audit opinion expressed above, attention is drawn to the following matters: 

4.1 Internal Control Shortcomings 

The accounting authority is required by section 5 1 ( 1) of the Public Finance Management Act, I999 as amen-

ded, to ensure that the public entity has implemented effective, efficient and transparent systems of finan-

cial and risk management arid internal control. The accounting authority is also responsible in terms of 

section 51(1)(c) for the management and the safeguarding of the assets. The following areas of concern 

were identified during the audit: 

(a) The internal controls surrounding fixed assets were inadequate. No proper fixed asset numbering 

took place at the SADB to ensure adequate control over the safeguarding of assets. 

(b) The N(i) forms are used to generate invoices. Some N (i) forms selected did not have invoice numbers 

recorded on them. It was therefore not possible to trace certain invoice amounts to the general ledger 

as well as to verify the invoice against the N (i) form. 

4.2 Audit Committee 

In terms of Treasury Regulations 27.1.1, the accounting authority of the public entity must establish an audit 

committee. The SADB did not have an audit committee for the period under review. 

4.3 Internal Audit Function 

In terms of section 51(1)(a)(i) of the PFMA the public entity must maintain an effective, efficient and trans-

parent system of financial and risk management and internal control. In connection with this, Treasury 

Regulations 27.2.1 prescribe that, the accounting authority must ensure that a risk assessment is conducted 

at least annually to identify the emerging risks of the public entity. 

Treasury regulations 27.2.7, also prescribes that the internal audit function must, in consultation with the 

audit committee, prepare: 

A rolling three-year strategic internal audit plan based on its assessment of key areas of risk for the 

public entity; 

• An internal audit plan for the firstyear of the rolling plan; 

• Plans indicating the scope of each audit in the annual internal audit plan. 

The SADB did not comply with the above regulations. 
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4.4 Finance Lease 

Contrary to Treasury Regulation 32.2.3(b), the SADB had entered into a finance lease agreement during the 

period under review. 

4.5 Policy for Provision for Bad Debts 

The SADB has no approved policy for the provision for bad debts. 

4.6 Conversion from Pastel system to Great Plains system 

During the testing of the conversion of the Pastel system to the Great Plains system, it was found that a 

number of invoices and payments that appeared on the Pastel system were not reflected on the Great Plains 

system although the take on balances were correctly transferred. This omission directly impacted on the 

completeness of data audited. The service fee transactions transferred and recorded from the Pastel 

system to the Great Plains system in the general ledger (disclosed as part of other income) did not indicate 

invoice numbers and debtor names. The validity of service fees could therefore not be confirmed. 

4.7 Financial Statements 

In terms of section 40(1)(c) of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. I of 1999) the accounting 

officer must submit the financial statements within two months after the end of the financial year to the 

Auditor-General. The financial statements were submitted on time. Due to amendments to the financial 

statements, they were resubmitted on 30 July 2004. 

4.8 Provision for Post-retirement Employee Benefits 

Retired and in-service employees of the SA Diamond Board are entitled to certain post-retirement benefits 

in terms of their employment contracts. Contrary to AC 116, no provision has been raised, or valuation 

made of this liability. 

4.9 Investigation Relating to the Export and Sale of Diamonds in Terms of the Diamonds Act, 1986 

(Act No. 56 of 1986) (Act) 

With reference to paragraph 3.1 of my 2000-0I report on export duties payable on unpolished diamonds 

exported from South Africa, my investigation into, inter alia, the validity of the exemptions given under 

section 63 of the Act to diamond producers or dealers by virtue of agreements entered into in terms of 

section 59 of the Act, and the extent of possible duties and levies payable as a result of non-compliance with 

section 59 of the Act, has been concluded. 

I would like to draw attention to the fact that the investigation was hampered throughout by limited 

documentation and differences and 
	

ov 

SA Diamond Boa 	relating to the role and function's of the GDV. This dispute resulted in a long-,  

drawn-out legal process.. The inability of certain key personnel to assist in providing clarity on the affairs of 
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the Board, as well as a lack of funding of the investigation by the auditee, also impacted on the duration and 

finalisation of the investigation. Consequently I was unable to make any conclusive findings with regard to 

the validity of the Section 63 exemptions as referred to above. The investigation was therefore limited to 

the responsibilities of the various statutory role-players and the outcome of their functions. I summarise 

the key findings together with recommendations, which require urgent attention. 

Finding I 

There has been a lack of specific action on the part of the Board and little progress was made with the com-

prehensive review of section 59 Agreements by the task team appointed by the Minister of the Department 

of Minerals and Energy (DME) relating to the intent, implementation and implications of the agi 	eenients 

entered into as anticipated. In this regard I also refer to the response of the former CEO of the Board as 

mentioned in my 1 998-99 report. This lack of urgency and comprehensiveness possibly contributed to the 

fact that no conclusive findings on the validity of the exemptions have been possible up to now for the 

period when the agreements were in place. The recommendation by the task team that the investigation be 

taken further by the DME was not implemented. 

Recommendation: 

As certain documentation has more recently become available, it is suggested that the DME together with 

the National Treasury combine their efforts in bringing this matter to a conclusion. Special attention should 

be given to the period prior to 1994. 

Finding 2 

Based on information obtained from and further discussions with officials of the South African Reserve Bank 

(SARB), it was ascertained that the control environment within the SARB did not allow for the reconciliation 

of the information on the authorisation to export diamonds with the proceeds being returned to South 

Africa after the sale of the diamonds overseas. 

Recommendation: 

The SARB, for the purpose of good reserve management, should improve its systems and controls to 

enable it to reconcile the initial rand value of all exported diamonds as indicated on the export permits to 

that of the final proceeds that are returned to South Africa. 

Finding 3 

The current provision in section 62 of the Act, which provides for the levy of export duties on certain 

diamonds exported, is in contradiction to section 77 of the Constitution (Act 108 of 1996) asitconstitutes a 

taxcharge. Such a provision can only be contained in-legislation- that does not deal with any other matter 

except a subordinate matter incidental to the appropriation of money or the imposition of taxer, levie.s.or 

duties. 
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Recommendation: 

The necessary changes to the relevant Act should be made. 

Finding 4 

The State Law Advisor was requested on 19 February 2001 to provide an opinion and further advise on the 
interpretations of the different role-players of sections 59 and 63 of the Act The preliminary opinion was 
subject to further information being made available by the former CEO of the Diamond Board. As no 

further information was forthcoming, the legal opinion could not be considered as a final opinion and the 
validity of exemptions granted by the SA Diamond Board in terms of section 63 of the Act could not be 
determined. Any non-compliance with the Act and the provisions therein could have constituted a serious 
erosion of Government's revenue position. 

Recommendation: 

A final legal opinion should be obtained in order to determine the validity of the Section 59 agreements. 

Finding 5 

As a body responsible for both the promotion and regulation of the diamond Industry, the Board has an 
inherently conflicting statutory mandate. I am of the view that the composition of the current Board as 
prescribed by the Act has majority of its representatives from the regulated sectors of the industry and 
does not conform to good governance. 

Recommendation: 

The current structure of the Board should be changed In order to conform to good governance. I am, 
however, aware of the fact that these matters are currently being considered for possible amendments to 
the relevant legislation, inter alia as reflected in the Precious Metals and Diamonds General Amendment 
Draft Bill which was published in the Government Gazette on 16 April 2004. 

Finding 6 

Currently the Board is responsible to levy and collect the taxes relating to the Act. As a result of limited 
resources and skills, as well as the conflict referred to above, there has been instances of ineffective and 
ineff►ciient administration. 

Recommendation: 

Consideration should be given to the possibility of the South African Revenue Service taking over the 
responsibility for collecting the levies and duties payable on the export and sale of diamonds. I am of the 
view that section 4 (1) (a) of the SA Revenue Service Act 1997 (Act No. 34 of 1997) does provide for such an 

- arrangement. 
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5. APPRECIATION 

The assistance rendered by the staff of the South African Diamond Board during the audit is sincerely 

appreciated. 

Shauket Fakie 

Auditor-General 

Pretoria 

13 September 2004 
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2003/04 	2002/03 

ASSETS 
Notes 
	

R 	 R 

Property and equipment 11 1,310,171 330,451 

11,800,978 7,790,524 

Receivables 5 255,595 14,327 

Prepaid expenses 6,791 4,221 

Bank balances and cash 6 11,538,592 7,771,976 

13,111,149 8,120,976 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

•:.••••:*." 	- 	": 10,085,475 456,375 

!•:1•Y'' 

Interest-bearing lease 3 123,108 

2,902,566 7,664,601 

Trade payables 156,948 1,103,380 

Short-term portion of long-term lease 3 53,904 53,321 

Other payables 7 2,151,915 3,133,205 

Audit fee provision 281,500 160.981 

Bonus provision 82,059 55,136 

Leave-pay provision 176,240 107,163 

Deferred Income 3,051,415 

13,111,149 8,120,976 
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Notes 
2003/04 

R 
2002/03 

R 

Revenue 21,8 13,653 19,828,591 

Grant received from DME 12 3,051,415 348,585 

Other income / Investment income 722,496 81,531 

Total income 13 25,587,564 20,258,707 

Total Experiditu re 13 16,860,058 17,352,579 

Operating expenses 16,784,420 17,332,927 

Finance costs 75,638 19,652 

Net surplus for the year 8,727,506 2,906,128 
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Note Accumulated 

funds 

R 

Retained deficit as at 3 I March 2002 (2,449.753) 

Net surplus for the year 2,906,128 

Retained income as at 31 March 2003 456,375 

Prior year adjustment 14 901,594 

Revised balance as at 31 March 2003 1,357,969 

Net surplus for the year 8,727,506 

balance at 31 March 2004 10,085,475 

gP,,t,eigaat 
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1% 73, 

Cash generated from coez-;,  

interest paid 

Deferred income recognised 

Net cash from operating activities 

Notes 

15.1 

2003/04 

Ft 

7,147,613 

(75,638) 

(3,051,415) 

2002./03 

R 

3,621,213 

(19,652) 

4,020,560 3,601,561 

Cash flow from investing activities (377,052) (34,956) 

Interest received 722,496 81,531 

Additions to fixed assets 15.2 (1 ,38i ,04) (1 19,980) 

Proceeds from fixed assets sold 15.3 281,497 3,493 

Cash from financing activitie 123,108 1,977,998 

Grant received . - 3,400,000 

Increase in interest bearing leases 15.4 1%3;108 - 	(5.5,885) 

Decrease in loan with DV1C (1,366.117) 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,766,616 5,544,603 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 7,771,976 2,227,373 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 15.5 11,538,592 7,771,976 
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The accounting policies adopted by the South African Diamond Board comply in all material respects with the 

Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice. The financial statements set out on pages 33 to 48 are 

prepared on the historical cost basis and incorporate the following principal accounting policies which are consis-

tent with those applied in previous year, unless otherwise indicated in the note on changes in accounting policies. 

I.1 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF INCOME 

Income is acknowledged on an accrual basis, net of value added tax. 

1.2 FIXED ASSETS AND DEPRECIATION 

Fixed assets are stated at historical cost less depredation. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line 

method to write off the cost of each asset over its estimated useful life. 

The depreciation rates are applied as follows: 

Computer hardware: 33,30% per annum 

Office machine and laboratory equipment: 20% per annum 

Computer software: 33,30% per annum 

Parking*: 096 per annum 

Furniture and fittings: I 0% per annum 

Leasehold improvements: over period of lease per annum.  

Motor vehicle: 20% per annum 

1.3 LEASED ASSETS 

Assets leased in terms of finance lease agreements are capitalised at the estimated present value of the 

underlying lease payments and are depreciated in accordance with the policies applicable to equivalent 

items of owned assets. The corresponding rental obligations net of finance charges, are included in other 

long-term payables. Lease finance charges are amortised over the duration of the leases by the effective 

interest rate method which takes into account the effective interest charge on the lease. 

1.4 PENSION FUND 

The Board operates both defined contributions and defined benefit plans, the assets of which are generally 

held in a separate trustee-administered fund named THE ASSOCIATED INSTITUTIONS PENSION 

FUND. The plans are generally funded by payments from the Board and employees. 

...thMtli=M;;C 

101 



S.A. DIAMOND BOARD 

102 

I ACCOUNTING POLICIES Icontinued) 
,--21141-J21.1.21C, 

1.5 MEDICAL AID 

The Board is in terms of the conditions of service obliged to continue with contributions into the medical 

aid at the current ratio of 60% by the employer and 40% by the employees. 

1.6 MATERIALITY FRAMEWORK 

The Board considers any project which has a cost amounting to R 200 000 or more, to be material in nature 

and should be offered to the suppliers by way of a tender. 

1.7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

caI 

Financial instruments are initially measured at costs which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, these instruments are measured as follows; 

Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables which resulted in un-renewed licenses and default in submitting diamond 

statistics, are stated at cost less provision for bad debts. 

Cash add cast,  equival,rits 

Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value. 

ic,.,ses in subseta 7.:1)t .;.easure:nent 

Gains and losses arising from a change in the fair market value of financial instruments are recognised in net 

surplus or deficit for the period in which the change arises. 

Interest is recognised on the time proportion basis based on the effective rate applicable to the period of 

investment. 

The Board is exposed to interest rate risk as it places funds at both fixed and floating interest rates. The risk 

managed by maintaining an appropriate mix between fix and floating rate placing within market expectation. 

38 



103 Oonr,,r1‹, 	. f1. v I IA 1,1,015 la LI LI A4 IN sa 

4. COST OF MAJOR PROJECTS INCURRED DURING THE YEAR 

During the year-under review, the Board invited 

quotations for the following projects: 

(a) The appointment of the Government Diamond 

Valuator at a cost of; 

(b) The upgrade of the File Server networks at a cost of; 

2003/04 

R 

480,000 

2002/03 

R 

350,000 

(c) The implementation of the new accounting package at a cost of; 410,000 

(d) The repartitioning of the inspectorate section of the Boards floor. 298,437 

5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

The introduction of the new accounting package which has billing 

capabilities resulted in the accrued income totaling RI 500 270 1,500,270 

The provision for bad debts was calculated at 84.405% 

of the total debtors book value (1,266,311) 

Staff debtors 21,636 14,327 

255,595 19,327 

6. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 

Cash on Call Accounts 10,264,300 6,291,804 

Cash on Current Account 1,246,451 1,440,946 

Cash on Salary Account 30,818 5.431 

Cash on hand 3,800 3,600 

Cash received in advance (6,777) 30,195 

Total bank and cash balances 11,538,592 7,771,976 

7. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

Sundry accruals 521,861 1,881,475 

Vat payable 438,704 80,131 

Export Duty payable 1,187,045 1,168,3S1 

Payroll accruals 4,305 

Stale cheques written back 3,248 

2,151,915 3,133,205 
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8. CONTINGENT LIABIUTIES 

The Board is currently faced with civil claims from . 

various parties which date back as follows: 

I. 	A claim for underpaid services dating back 

to the year 1997 amounting to; 

2. 	A claim for services rendered out of scope 

dating back to the year 2000 amounting to; 

R 

863,111 

800,000 

A claim in respect of a dishonored contract 

dating back to the year 1999 amounting to. 	 130,000 

Total pending claims 	 1,793,111 

The above claims do not include interest at 15,5% and are currently in the hands of the lawyers of 

the Board. 

These claims have not been included in the current year result as they have been going on fora number 

of years without conclusion and are likely to drag on even further. 

9. INCOME TAX 

The SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND BOARD is exempted from paying tax in terms of the Income Tax 

Act, No 58 of 1962 as amended. The Board's tax exemption number is 9615/289/1 5/5. 

10. BOARD MEMBERS REMUNERATIONS 

2003/04 	2002/03 

R 	 R 

The amounts paid to board members were in terms of: 

Fees for attending meetings. 

All fees paid are approved by the Minister of Minerals and Energy. 

All board members are non executive. 

st  LI 
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Cost Accumulated Book Value Cost Accumulated Book Value 

Depreciation 31/03/2004 	 Depreciation 31/03/2003 

11.FIXED ASSETS 

R 
	

R 	R 	R 	R 

Parking bay 4,580 4,580 4,580 4,580 

Computer hardware 1,071,306 813,356 257,950 781,872 696,260 85,612 

Furniture and fittings 404,258 207,632 196,627 247,1 12 245,761 1,351 

Motor vehicles 296,187 287,661 8,526 

Office machines and 

laboratory equipment 529,576 358,320 171,256 376,251 299,245. 77,006 

Leasehold improvements 483,120 I 78,357 304,762 186,183 141,121 45,062 

Software development 

and programs 1,129,420 898,921 230,499 892,119 848,450 43,669 

Security system 42,643 24,075 18,568 42,643 19,123 23,520 

c,.7.1„:i arsatv 

3,664,903 2,480,66 I 1,184,242 2,826,948 2,537,621 289,327 

Switchboard 48,120 48.120 48,120 48,120 

Motor vehicles 159,060 33,131 125,929 229,922 188,799 41,124 

207,180 81,251 125,929 278,042 236,919 41,124 

Total assets 3,872,083 2,561,912 1,310,171 3,104,990 2,774,539 330,451 
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'NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMit it;fpR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCI-4 4;9* 
. 	. 	- continued • 

Book Value at Additions Disposals Depredation Book Value at 

II. FIXED ASSETS CONTINUED 

Parking bay 

R 

4,580 

R R R R 

4,580 

Computer hardware 85,612 289,434 117,096 157,950 

Furniture and fittings 1,351 244,989 43,703 6,011 196,627 

Motor vehicles 8,526 (1,122) 9,646 

Office machines and 

laboratory equipment 77,006 153,324 59,074 171,256 

Leasehold improvements 45,062 296,937 37,238 304,761 

Software development 

and programs 43,669 237,301 50,471 230,499 

Security systems 23,520 - 4,952 18,568 

eased asset.i 

289,326 1,221,985 42,581 284,488 1,184,241 

Switchboard 

Motor vehicles 41,124 159,060 40,370 33,885 125,929 

41,124 159,060 40,370 33,885 125,929 

Total assets 330,450 1,381,045 82,951 318,373 1,310,171 
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12. THE APPUCAT1ON OF GRANT RECEIVED 

FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF 

MINERALS AND ENERGY 

Allocation of grant received 

as  

2003/04 

R 

3,051,415 

2002/03 

R 

348,585 

Total 

R 

3,400,000 

Cost of plenary 1 601,146 601,146 

Cost of plenary 2 1,414,508 1,414,508 

Office expenses 217,449 217,449 

Staff remuneration 808,987 348,585 1,157,572 

Travel expenses 189,076 189,076 

Marketing and advertising 91,988 91,988 

Total expenditure 3,323,153 348,585 3,671,738 

Excess expenditure to be carried by the SADB 271,738 

Total Grant received from the Department of 

Minerals and Energy 3,400,000 

 

Refr—Avaar 
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11s1Opt TO THE FINANCIALSTAT'EMENTS FOR THE,„YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2004 
, 

3 . 	 continued 

Budgeted 	Actual 	Budgeted 	Actual 

2003/04 	2003/04 	2002/03 	2002/03 

13. INCOME 

The following items are included 

in net Income: 

Total income 15,868,485 25,587,564 15,853,231 20,258,707 

Levy income 13,178,1.59 17,593,933 15,371;079 18,516,880 

Licenses fees 918,518 1,688,629 305,000 466,704 

Other income 1,569,308 2,531,091 138,425 842,774 

Interest received 202,500 722,496 • :38,727.  83,764 

Grant received from DME 3,051,415 - 348,585 

Total expendit ure 15,868,485 16,860,058 17,088,865 17,352,579 

Audit fees 281;500 20,500 165;000 190,113 

Board members remuneration 	10 	 , ,4A1,408 • '4125o4 -25.5;i10' 179,356 

KP - Diamond certification office -5:01';',162 * 3r323;i53 .-. 348,585 

Depredation 862,343 ,318,373 526-,478 855,910 

Diamond valuation fees 3A50,600 3,19,939 9,900,000 8,898,327 

Insurance 57,951 39,826 59,207 45,596 

Other expenditure 1,904,153 3,5,800 57 1:;754,155 1,693,561 

Kimberley Office 1,852,264 185,347 , go0,000 . ..,....  	360,169 

OvemPas travelling 272,084 122,711 ,29,351 

Rent: offices and parking 	 . 94,1-,345 508,225 727,129 .825,536 

Staff recruitment and related expenses ,.,„„. 	 4§,378     :,. 32,985 

Salaries and contributions  '5;9*M75 4;564,257 - 3;177;84 -... 3;590,958 

Local travelling and subsistence 	• 7.21/;240 , jj5,048 ....:•.j .:135: 202;132 

Net surplus / (Deficit) 8,727,506 (1,235,634) 2,906,128 

14. CHANGES IN THE RETAINED INCOME OPENING BALANCE 

The opening balance in the retained income 

has been restated because of changes which 

were effected as follOws : 

Arrear license fee renewals 372,831 

Arrear penalties on .1-registers 307,215 

Overprovision for salaries 221,548 
901,594 

N 

„Weft- ',A,wai 



3,352,903
..  

268,310 

18, 

I 5.CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

Net surplus for the year 

Adjustments for. 

2003/04 

R 

7,147,613 

8,727,506 

Investment income 022;061 
Depreciation • 31070 • 
Finance charges 7  ;IOC 
Prior year adjustment .:,z9.04937 	• 
Profit on disposal of fixed accts 

" 
Increase in provisions 2$ 5t9 
Export duty paid 

Operating surplus before changes in working capital 9,318,589 

Changes in working capital 9,170,976) 

(Decrease) / Increase in creditors 

(Decrease) / Increase in debtors 1270417) 	 

Cash generated by operations 7,147,613 

2002/03 

R 

3,621,213 

2,906,128 

3,621,213 
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Leasehold improvements 

Furniture and fittings 

(296,937) 

(244,989) 

======01313 

- 

Office machines and laboratory equipment (153,493) (22,649) 

Computer equipment (289,434) (30,539) 

Motor vehicles (159,050) - 

Software development and programs (237,301) (42,034) 

Security systems (24,758) 

(1,381,204) (119,980) 

ayte•10.  Oaf/ 
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S.A. DIAMOND BOARD 

r NOTES TO THE-  CASH FLOW 'STATE 	FOR' 
THEYEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2004 (continued) 

Cash on call accounts 

Cash on hand and at bank 

	

11,510,751 	7,738,181 

	

27;841 	33,795 

11,538,592 	7,771,976 

• ,.,-"Lt• 	^, • 

2003/04 . .2002/03 

R R: 

234,535 

46,952 3,493 

281,487 3,493 

15.4 increase in interest bearing ;eases 	01/04/03 	31/03/04 

Opening 	Closing 

Balance 	Balance 

Switchboard 

Wesbank BMY69510E 	 (53,909) 	(26,660) 

Wesbank BMY695 I OE 	 (53,909) 	(27,254) 

Wesbank KSG I 1718 	 (177,012) 

Decrease Decrease 

(1,388) 

(27,249) (27,249) 

(26,655) (27,249) 

177,012 

123,108 (55,886) 

15.5 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consisting 

of cash on hand and balance with banks 

Cash and cash equivalents in the cash 

flow statement comprise the following 

balance sheet amounts: 

15.3 S:.e.e ol.t.:tsed asset:  

Motor vehicles 

Office chairs 
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48 



ADMINISTRATIVE INFORMATION 

The South African D.amond Beard is a regulatory authority established in terms of the aamond Act 

No. 56 of 1986 for control over the possession. the purchase and sale, the processing and the export 

of c;.amonds. and for matters connected therewith. 

The objectives of the Board are to ensurc..- that the diamond resources of the Republic are exploited 

and developed in the best interest of the country and to promote the sound developme-it of 

diamond undertakincs in the Republic. 

For further information please contact; 

Suite 501, SA Diamond Centre 

240 Commissioner Street 

Johannesburg 

2001 

PO Box 160C I 

Doornfontein 

2028 

Telephone : ,27 1 1 334 8980;6 

Te +27 11 334 8898 

3rd Floor Trust Centre 

66 Jones Street 

Kimberley 

8301 

i 	PO Box 2990 

Kimberley 

8301 

Telephone : 	4-27 53 831 3121 

Telefu 	+27538313184 

HEAD OFFICE - JOHANNESBURG 	 BRANCH - KIMBERLEY 
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CHAIRPERSON: We have another engagement immediately after this one. So 

the sooner we get going I think the better. Our hearing — or our meeting this 

morning is a continuation of an engagement that we've been having at least for 

two years and hopefully after todays engagement the Standing Committee of 

	

5 	Public Accounts will be in a position to make a recommendation to Parliament 

and hopefully close this chapter of our life. So before we begin can we ask our 

visitors to just introduce themselves and thereafter we will get introductions from 

members of Parliament and we move on_ So I am in possession of a piece of 

paper that says there are three in attendance from De Beers Consolidated Mines. 

	

10 	I see more than three people here. So I'm not going to take the risk and even 

name them. So if we could start with this gentleman immediately alongside 

Ntombi. If you could just introduce yourself and we'll get on with the members of 

Parliament later on. Sorry, can you put your mic on for recording purposes Sir. 

MR MONONELA: Martin Mononela from South African Diamond and Precious 

	

15 	Metal Regulator, formerly Diamond Board. 

MR CHIKANE: I'm Abe Chikane, former chairman of the South African Diamond 

Board. 

MR NOGXINA: Sandile Nogxina, Director General, Minerals and Energy. 

MR RAPHEU: Mr Joel Raphele (sic), Department of Minerals and Energy. 

	

20 	MR NOKO: David Noko, Managing Director, De Beers Consolidated Mines. 

MR PETERSEN: Barend Petersen, Chairman of Audit Committee, De Beers 

Consolidated Mines. 

MR CLEAVER Bruce Cleaver, Commercial Director of De Beers. 

CHAIRPERSON: Can we move over to the other side? Mr Gumede? 

HELD AT: PARLIAMENT 	 12 SEPTEMBER 2007 
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MR GUMEDt: Don Gumede, member of SCOPA. 

MR SCHMIDT: Hendrik Schmidt, member of the Minerals and Energy 

Committee. 

MR TRENT: Eddie Trent, SCOPA. 

	

5 	MR PULE: Bafitlhile Pule, SCOPA. 

MS HLAN9WANA: Nomvula Hlangwana, SCOPA 

MR MOFOKENG: Ronald Mofokeng, SCOPA. 

MR GERBER: Pierre-Jeanne Gerber, SCOPA. 

CHAIRPERSON: Thank you very much. AG's office? 

	

10 	MR VAN HEERDEN: Morning Chair. Wally van Heerden from the Auditor 

General's office. 

MR GORDON: Mr Martin Gordon, National Treasury, Tax Specialist. 

CHAIRPERSON: And to our friends from the media, you are welcome. Also the 

support staff about the Committee and the AGs office, you are all welcome to the 

	

15 	meeting and we'll formally then start with the proceedings and also the chairman 

of the Committee is running late. I'm sure that during the proceedings he will —

he will join us in the meeting. I trust all is in order. We, ladies and gentlemen 

have got an hour and a half to deliberate on the De Beers matter. By eleven 

o'clock we should be concluded with our meeting. So I'm going to be little bit 

	

20 	ruthless in the event of members dragging on. We're going to ask pointed 

questions and we would expect pointed answers. So I'm going to ask members 

of Parliament not to unnecessarily give us a thesis before you put your question 

and similarly from the Department, that as far as is humanly possible, just give us 

an answer so that we can formulate a response to Parliament in terms of the 

HELD AT: PARLIAMENT 	 12 SEPTEMBER 2007 
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evidence that is given to us before — I mean during the course of this meeting. 

So we want to start off, I assume Mr Gerber that you will be the first person to 

start with the proceedings or have you guys got somebody else that you want to 

start with the proceedings? 

	

5 	MR GERBER: Chair no, I suppose I could start. if I may Chair, now just to put in 

context because we have new members here and it might be to the benefit. I 

mean the reason we are sitting here today Chair, and I'm sorry if I might take a 

minute or two longer, but I think we need to put it in context. The reason is before 

— at yi___negi_ort9ER at the dawn of the new democracy in South Africa, De Beers 

	

10 	took out about four tons according to calculations, which is about 20 million carats 

of uncut diamonds worth a value of about 900 million US dollars. The levy, tax 

levy on that had to be about 135 million US dollars, which works out about to R1 

billion of tax, out of the country without paying the tax, saying that they had a 

permission from the Diamond Board, but the then Diamond Board. In terms of 

15 	that permission where it comes from the 1986 Act and Chair, when that Act was 

passed in Parliament, I think it might be to the benefit of all the members to 

actually understand what the reason was for a new Act in 1986, because there 

has been Acts since 1916 on the whole issue of diamonds, and the reason for 

that is Chair, and if you'll allow me i would like to quote the then Minister Danie 

20 	Steyn of Mineral and Energy Affairs, 1986. He says here: 

"The prime objectives of this Bill are to rationalise existing legislation 

relating to control of the diamond industry of the RSA and to establish a 

more effective control structure in the diamond industry. It is a fact that 

this is an industry that lends itself to suspicion and malpractices and it is 

HELD AT: PARUAMENT 	 12 SEPTEMBER 2007 
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for this reason that over the past 13 years the Government has found it 

necessary to order no fewer than three formal and informal investigations 

into one facet or another of the diamond industry.' 

Certain highlighted — areas were highlighted. One such problem area is divided 

	

5 	control amongst the department institutions, uncoordinated government decision 

maidng and access in the three state departments being involved, etc, etc. Chair 

now, we're silting here today, for 15 years we have raised this issue In 

Parliament, since 1999 SCOPA has raised its Issue. Its been in the media, it's 

been raised in Parliament, it was raised by various ministers, various 

	

10 	departments and nowhere has De Beers come to the party and say look, here is 

our permission for the export of these diamonds in 1992. Only when we asked 

them to come here, did they produce a document to the AG In August. Now I 

would like to ask a question on that document that De Beers produced which they 

say Is their agreement that they have in terms of the 1998 permission to take 

	

15 	diamonds out of the country without paying tax. Now I take it that De Beers — the 

gentlemen of De Beers have this agreement with them, the 1998 agreement 

CHAIRPERSON: Are we familiar with the document that Mr Gerber's is talking 

about, even If you don't — with us here, but are we familiar with the document? 

MR CLEAVER: Yes, we are familiar with It through the Chair, and we're just 

	

20 	collecting a copy of it 

OHAIFtPgRSON: Thanks, continue Mr Gerber. 

MR GERBER: Chair, I would like to ask my question when they've got the 

document In the hand, because It's quite Important 

HELD AT: PARLIAMENT 	 12 SEPTEMBER 2007 
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MR CLEAVER: May I just clarify, this Is the document headed *In terms of the 

Diamond Act number 56/1988 between the South African Diamond Board and De 

Beers Consolidated Mines Limited' and it's — just for clarity its the document that 

is signed on the back page, on the page 7 in 1998. Is that correct? 

	

5 	MR GERBER: Yes, that would be - ja it was signed in January - in Johannesburg 

I think in March, 19th of March 1998. 

MR CLEAVER: Ja, that's correct. 

MR GERBER: Am I correct, okay. Now this document and may I just say you 

know being a copy of a document its not really very, very, In a good condition but 

	

10 	I would like to ask you seeing that you've got the document this is a 1998 

agreement. Who signed on behalf of De Beers Consolidated Mines on this 

document? I can't make out the name there. 

MR CLEAVER I'm not sure; there are two signatures on my copy. I'm not sure 

who the second signature is, but the first one is dearly,̂ ry Ratfe, who was the 

	

15 	managing director of De Beers Consolidated Mines at the time. 

MR GERBER Right, so the Mr Gary Rafts has signed this document plus 

another gentleman from yourselves, and then there was someone from the 

Diamond Board. Do you know who that person was, or maybe the Diamond 

Board can assist us? 

	

20 	MR CLEAVER: I'm afraid I'm not in a position to identify the Diamond Boards 

signature. 

MR CHIKANE: I don't have a document with me. So I wouldn't be able to tell, 

but It would have been the Board before our time. 

FIELD AT: PARLIAMENT 	 12 SEPTEMBER 2007 
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MR GERBER: Chair, now if I may continue, that document that we're talking 

about now, this permission of 1998, consists of one, two, three, four, five, six, 

seven pages. All signed by — by the Diamond Board members and the members 

of De Beers. Every paragraph, every page has been signed, counter signed. So 

	

5 	everything is there. Now the diamonds that were exported, were exported in 

1993. Now you produced a document here, which is a permit that was signed 

and sealed in 1998. Now can I ask you a question on the — on the permission, 

the agreement that you had with the Board, which is the 1992 agreement. Do 

you have a copy of that document with you? It was signed; it was awed ate, 

	

10 	meeting of the S A Diamond Board, 3rd  December 1992. 

MR PETERSEN: Yes we do. 

MR GERBER Okay. Now can you tell me Sir, who signed on this agreement on 

behalf of De Beers? 

MR PETERSEN: Chairperson, the document was submitted to De Beers under 

	

15 	cover of a letter of the 13Ih  of January 1993, address to Mr Lincoln from De Beers 

by the Chief Executive — or by the then Chief Executive of the Diamond Board 

and he enclosed a copy of the agreement which De Beers in a letter dated 12th  

February 1993 wrote back to the Chief Executive of the Diamond Board, 

accepting and confirming the new agreement that has been concluded between 

	

20 	the Board, De Beers and Its associated companies in terms of Section 59 of the 

Diamonds Act 1988 and the letter under reference and its enclosure set out 

correctly the terms and conditions of the new agreement which I hereby confirm 

on behalf of De Beers and its associated companies signed by Mr L A Lincoln, a 

director of De Beers. 

HELD AT: PARLIAMENT 	 12 SEPTEMBER 2007 
TRANSCRIBED BY: TOI PR I EVENTS, TEL i PAX: +2710) 21 0301074, EMAIL: rusIsmaykidjamm 

8 

117 



DE BEERS -SA DIAMOND BOARD 

MR GERBER: Chair, PII get back to this letter you're referring to now, but I still 

don't know, I still would Ike to know who has signed this document, this 

agreement. Remember the agreement of 1998 had four signatures, five 

signatures on every page. Now we're talking about here of the 1992 agreement 

Can you show me where De Beers or the Diamond Board signed for this 

agreement and paraphrase this? 

MR CLEAVER:  Through the Chair, its De Beers' position that the 1992 

arrangements constitute an agreement made up in three parts. One is as my 

colleague, Mr Petersen, has suggested the terms of the agreement contained in 

10 	two or three pages. The second Is a letter from the Diamond Board written by the 

Chief Executive to De Beers acknowledging that the 1992 agreement is a new 

agreement, acknowledging that the Diamond Board accepts the terms and 

conditions of the new agreement with the copy enclosed. When De Beers wrote 

back In the... [intervention] 

15 	CHAIRPERSON: Just give us a second. Pierre, what is the question, you seem 

to...['intervention] 

MR_GERBER: Chairman I'm not being answered, because you see you're 

talking about the 1998 agreement which was signed every page. Now you're 

referring to accompanying letters of the 1992 agreement All I'm saying the 

20 	agreement, the actual agreement; there is no signature on, either from you or the 

Diamond Board. 

MR CLEAVER: Our position through the Chants that the suite of three  

documents in 1992 constitute and agreement They consist of as I say a letter 

from the Diamond Board offering the new terms signed by the Chief Executive, 
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an attachment containing the conditions of the agreement not signed by any 

party, and the letter back from the Finance Director of De Beers at the time 

accepting the terms and conditions. So our position would be that that 

constitutes a written agreement, or be it that the annex being the terms is not 

	

5 	signed by each party_ 

MR GERBER: Chair if I may continue — if I may continue Chair. Now you've 

referred to this letter that was addressed to your Mr Lincoln you see. Now this is 

a letter that — and a copy of the agreement that we've been waiting for and 

looking for 13 years, that you only produced in August. This Is the letter. You're 

	

10 	talking about this letter, with all the smudge marks; look like it fell off the back of a 

bus, but this Is the letter. 

MR CLEAVER: Is that letter dated 13 January 1993 in the top right-hand comer? 

MR GERBER That's correct, yes. Now you see I have a problem with this letter, 

because this was done in 1993 before we had fancy computers that you can 

	

15 	change lettering or whatever. Now there are three different types of letters, 

lettering on this letter. Have you noticed that? 

MR CLEAVER: Would you be kind enough to just enlighten me on that 

statement? 

MR GERBER: If you look at ''Your sincerely' at the bottom there, that's different 

	

20 	lettering. It looks like there has been, maybe put in afterwards. 

MR CLEAVER: Well through the Chair, De Beers has no knowledge of how the 

South African Diamond Board went about putting letters on its letterhead, but De 

Beers certainly regards the letter as a valid letter and there's certainly no 

suggestion I would assume that there's something invalid about the letter. De 
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Beers as I say, has no knowledge of how the Diamond Board went about printing 

letters. 

MR GERBER: Now if this was a legal agreement which you say it was, this 

document then hasn't been signed by anybody, but you're insisting the 

5 	accompanying letters making it legal, but know if you're insisting this is a legal 

document and you have a permission to export the diamonds, which is — this is 

basically a blanket permission. Why did you go and get another — another 

permission in 1998, because you already had one in 1992? 

MR CLEAVER: Through the Chair. Over the years the terms of the, what are 

10 	called loosely the Section 59 agreements changed, they changed by virtue of 

circumstances, they changed by virtue of what was going on in the industry. So 

its not correct to say that there was only one Section 59 agreement There was 

a prior one prior to 1992. Then there was the 1992 agreement as we've just 

demonstrated and maybe for the record I can just point out that at the end of the 

15 	attachment containing the terms in the 1992 letter, there is language that reads 

as follows: 

"Approved — the agreement will be subject to annual review." 

So each year our understanding is the members of the Diamond Board reviewed 

the terms of the agreement. Our understanding is if you look through the minutes 

20 

	

	of the Diamond Board from 1992 onwards, there are confirmations that the 1992 

agreement continues in the same terms until a new agreement was negotiated 

and there are slightly different terms_inAhe 1998 agreement to the 1992  

agreement, so that would explain why a need to change the agreement As to 

why a formal agreement was signed in 1998 and the agreement in 1992 was 
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done by exchange of letter, I'm afraid I can't shed any light on it, because I wasn't 

present at the timeLbut our submission would be that both of the agreement are 

perfectly valid legal documents, and that the 1998 one dearly refers to the 

existence of a prior agreement which is terminated by the 1998 agreement which 

	

5 	then replaced it. 

MR GERBER:  That's like you say that is your submission that it might be a legal 

document, but may I ask just another question. Was the 1992 Board resolution 

that referred to the mutual consent by the relevant parties, that's yourself and the 

Board, in concluding this new Section 59 agreement, together with the decision to 

	

10 	allow for blanket diamond export duty exemption for 20 million carats stockpile 

transhipment valued at about 822 million, was it preceded by lengthy 

negotiations, or did it just come by one board meeting? 

MR CLEAVER:  My understanding and Chair please bear with me, I obviously 

wasn't there, is that it was preceded by lengthy negations. The reason being the 

	

15 	1992 agreement changed the way in which diamonds were exported and then re- 

imported for local cutting into South Africa. In 1987 De Beers Consolidated 

Mines' diamonds were exported pursuant to a valid exemption and then re-

imported. Those, which were economically manufacturable, were re-imported 

into South Africa. The industry asked De Beers in the 1990 and 1991 period to  

	

20 	make available to them a more consistent mix of diamonds to allow them to cut 

them economically in South Africa and De Beers agreed  in the 1992 agreement 

for the first time to then mix the South African production when the diamonds had 

been exported to London, together with all other De Beers diamonds from around 

the world, and re-import back into South Africa diamonds no longer only from the 
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De Beers mines, but from the global mix of De Beers mines, that way giving the 

cutting industry what they'd requested from De Beers, which is more consistent 

mix of diamonds. So my understanding was there was negotiation behind the 

1992 agreement. Mr Chair, I've just been handed if I may point out, the original 

	

5 	of the letter from the South African Diamond Board of 13 January 1993, signed in 

original by the Chief Executive Officer, which I'm happy to hand up if that's 

helpful. 

CHAIRPERSQN:  Continue Mr Gerber. 

MR GERB4R:  Chair that will assist if we can get the original one. Now the 

	

10 	discussions on this agreement do you have copies of — of the discussions that  

you  had with the Board, or was it given to a sub-committee, because I see in 

terms of the Act a sub-committee can actually consist of one person as well, but 

are there any documentation regarding the discussions? 

MR CLEAVER:  Mr Chair, may I confer with a colleague of mine? Through the 

	

15 	Chair, we don't have with us any of those documents. We, and as I say it's a 

long time ago, we know that there were lengthy discussions. We know that the 

Diamond Board sub-committee was involved, we know that there was more than 

one individual on the Diamond Board sub-committee. We could certainly 

investigate that, although we would suggest that if there are records, the 

20 	Diamond Board may have then. Nonetheless we can confirm there were lengthy 

discussions in relations to the new 1992 agreement. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Can the Diamond Board enlighten us? 

MR CHIKANE:  Ja, at least the documents that — in the documents we have until 

I think 2002, most of these documents including the one that was referred to 
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earlier on, was signed by the former Chief Executive Officer of the Diamond 

Board, Mr Bindeman, and in the case of whether or not there were detailed 

deliberations on this agreement, this is something that I'm not in a position to say 

so, because we were not part of the Board and we were not there. The only think 

	

5 	that we are aware of is that there is some resolution that was passed at that 

meeting, which basically constituted that agreement 

CHAIRPERSON: I guess De Beers; you'd have to assist us in this regard. If you 

can't do it now, as I start — as I indicated when we started the meeting, we really 

want to conclude this business today. We really want to conclude this business 

	

10 	today. So want to appeal to De Beers to go and do that investigation and bring it 

back to the Committee as soon as is possible. 

MR CLEAVES: Through the Chair  we will do that, but I'd like to just reiterate that 

De Beers' position is that we have a valid agreement which was preceded by 

substantial negotiation given the change in the agreement between 1992 and 

	

15 	1987. We will do our best to uncover whether there are any minutes, but we may 

not have all of the Diamond Board minutes, you would understand but we'll go 

and look for that now. 

MRPETERSEN: In respect of De Beers not providing information before, we 

received a letter on the 22nd  of February 2006 from the Diamond Board, 

	

20 	requesting us to furnish the Diamond Board with copies of the agreement of 1992 

and we've provided the same undercLver of our letter the 24th  of February 2006. 

We've provided this information in relation to the 1993 agreement. 

CHAIRPERSON: Okay, before I allow Pierre to continue, I want the Diamond — I 

mean De Beers to understand and the Diamond Board that the questions that we 
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are asking are to assist us formulate our question. Now it would be in your 

interest if there are in fact documents that can prove that there was substantial 

negotiations, not substantial, any negotiations in  the lead up to the 1998 	I 
agreement that's going to assist us. Failure of providing that information leaves 

	

5 	us to make our own mind up in terms of how and why that documents — or that 

agreement was reached at So it is really in everybodys interest that we have 

those documents. Mr Gerber? 

MR cERSER: Chair, I'd like to my colleagues chance as well, but maybe just 

one question before Ron comes in. I just like to know what motivated De Beers  

	

10 	on the eve of the change of government into a new democratic South Africa, to 

ship 20 million carats of uncut diamonds to London, only to re-import some of it  

afterwards. I mean we've already mentioned the diamonds being about 900 

million US dollars, the tax on that, 135 million US dollars, which is a billion Rand 

in tax In 1992 already. A company like that which is like an institution in this 

15 	country, why — why that all of the sudden on the changes, I mean it really raised 

questions, serious questions and thats probably why we're sitting here today. 

MR CLEAVER: Through the Chair, I'm grateful for the opportunity to answer that 

question. That is De Beers' strong view is a misconception. We have — and its a 

misconception that we would very much like to lay to rest. We have 

20 	comprehensive evidence of every single stone that was exported by De Beers 

from at least 1990 onwards, and we have comprehensive evidence that in the 

1993 years broadly speaking no more than De Beers' normal production was 

exported in that year. Not substantially or even much out of line with the volumes 

and value that were exported the previous year in 1992, and not substantially 
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different to what was exported in 1994. So we would very much like to state that 

De Beers' position is that De Beers does not agree with that allegation. One way 

of assisting the members of the Committee in this regard is, it was also stated 

earlier that the Section 59 agreements give rise to a blanket exemption. That's 

5 

	

	not quite correct of course, because in order to export the diamonds, even if you 

have a Section 59 agreement valid in terms of Section 63 of the Act, you still 

need for every single shipment of diamonds that is exported, have 

comprehensive records of valid certificates of exemption for all the diamonds 

exported over the period, and would be happy to substantiate that in the 1993 

10 	year in question. The amounts in questions were not — has been put to us but 

were broadly speaking in line with De Beers' production in that year, and there 

wasn't a material spike in the amount of diamonds exported prior to the 1994  
• 

election. 

CHAIRPERSON: Now before you come in Pierre, let me just find out from De 

15 

	

	Beers, we have documentation from the auditors that says differently, and I'm not 

sure if you are aware, or in possession of that. You statement that the average 

amount of exports remained constant, or reasonably constant, is not the 

information that we have from the Auditor-General. Now I want to check from the 

Auditor-General's office the information that you supplied to the Committee, what 

20 	was the source of that information? We're talking about your document that you 

gave us yesterday on page number 7 where there is a substantial difference 

between South African diamond sales in 1992 from any other year. Could you 

give us where that information was sourced from? 
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/V Gatti,. 

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  It was received from the Department of Minerals 
WM. 	................... 

and Energy in terms of their records that they kept in terms of the Diamond 

exports. 

CHAIRPERSQN:  And so just before we allow — those diamond exports, can we 

	

5 	presume the exports were all or mostly from De Beers. Could there be any other 

organisation that exported thoiltznds or are they De Beers' diamonds? 
/ r7 

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Chair, in terms of our information that's the total 

production, but as you know De Beers was the majority, the biggest production of 

— the biggest production of diamonds at the time. 

	

10 	CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you very much. Ja, we just wanted to set the record 

straight, that the information that we have is that  exports in 1992 were 4.6, what 

is that, 4.6 billion as Rpposed to 1.7 billion the year before and 1.8 billior_ll_he year 

after. In other words 1993 was 1.8, 1991 was 1.7, 1992 — 4.7. So I'm 
.......I. 

highlighting this to De Beers, because you've just indicated to us that from your 

	

15 	point of view there was no spike. We have evidence to the contrary in that 

regard. 

MR TRENT:  Chair, just on a point of clarity, can we just be sure that we 

understand the diffgrenge between exports and sales, cause there — there 

could be a difference, and I think we just need to understand that, because this 

	

20 	document speaks of sales, and maybe we should just get clarity on that at the 

same time that we are discussing this particular issue. 

MR CLEAVER:  Chair as a point of order, we are in the unfortunate position... 

[intervention] 
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cHAIRPERSON:  No hold on, hold on, I haven' !lowed you to speak. Can we 

ask the Auditor-General's office, page 7 specifically, are we talking about sales, 

or are we talking about exports? 

MR VAN HEERDEN:  The column S A Diamond sales, pertains to domestic 

	

5 	sales, plus exports. It's total sales. 

CHAIRPERSON:  All right. Now that you, you wanted to say something De 

Beers? 

MR PETERSEN: Chairperson, it may actually be helpful if we — if we receive the 

report this information is in, because we are aware of an audit that was performed 

	

10 	somewhere in the late 1999. We have not received a copy thereof. So we are 

today not in a position to respond, but dearly we can say the information does 

not, that is present here now, is not the information we have. So it may be useful 

for us to actually engage the information, and then be able to have a considered 

response. 

	

15 	CHAIRPERSON:  We have a problem that I was hoping was not going to arise, 

disputing of f ures and so on, because it doesn't take us anywhere. It doesn't 

take us anywhere. If De Beers are disputing figures given to Parliament by the 

Auditor-General and we operate from the basis that the Auditor-General is our 

source of information, it really takes us nowhere. It takes us nowhere and maybe 

	

20 	— maybe — me the Department of Mineral and Energies where we got this 

documentation — or we got this information from, are you able to — to shed some 

light on the information that we are now using as a basis for our interrogation of 

this matter? Is there any — just on the point of was there a spike in terms of 
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exports between 1991, 1992 and 1993? What did the graph look like from your 

point of view? 

MR NOGXINA: Thank you Chair. Well, the information as far as we are 

concerned is  as we gave it to the Auditor-General. So we can confirm what the 

5 	Auditor-General is saying. 

CHAIRPERSON: All right. As far as this Committee is concerned, we will take 

the information from the Auditor-General and De Beers in the event that you want 

to dispute it, will have to come with evidence to the contrary. Unfortunately our 

source is the Auditor-General and unless there is reason that the Auditor- 

10 	Generars information is inaccurate, its the information we're going to use, but we 

will give you - we will give you the information that we have to allow you an  

opportunity to interrogate it later on, but we are going to move from the - from the 

position that there was indeed a spike in 1992. Mr Trent, is your question 

answered? 

15 	MR TRENT: Chair I - on that particular issue there is clarity there and I think that 

clearly we need to get absolute certainty on that particular issue in due course. 

CHAIRPERSON: No, we will do so. You should put your mic off Mr Trent. Let's 

take the Auditor-General and then Pierre we'll allow you to conclude before we 

allow somebody else. 

20 	MR VAN_HEERDEN: Chair, we have a copy of the South African Mineral 

Industry book, the SAMI, Directorate Minerals Economics, DME, and so we have 

there a table on page 24 for the 2005/2006 copy where they the indicate South 

Africa's rough diamond production 1987 to 1996, and I just will read to you the 

total production which is Kimberlite, Alluvia and Marine in carats, not in Rand 
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million, 1989 it wasre6milliqi 19 

million, 1993 

d in 1996 it 

	

5 	equal to annual production is not correct. It's doub 

CHAIRPERSON:  Mr Gerber? 

MR GERBER:  Chair just for clarity, so — so based on the — the 1992 agreement 

which you insist are legal, you haven't paid any export duty right up till 2907, am 

correct on any diamond that was exported? 

	

10 	MR PETERSEN:  Chairperson, the numbers that we have before us starts in 

1992 and...tintervention) 

CHAIRPERSON:  Sorry, are those numbers of exports? 

MR VAN HEERDEN:  Exports and production. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Exports and production, and are they different to the figures 

	

15 	that the Auditor-General has given us? If they are, I don't want to open a debate 

here. Just give us that information; we'll interrogate it ourselves.iyqtfr 

disputing the figures that we've received, please supply us with that information 

but I don't want to operigp a dialogue between the Audi 	andBeers 

now. The question before the — before you now was have you been paying 

	

20 	duties on exports since 1992, what is it, was it 1992? Pierre, please repeat your 

question? 

MR GERBER:  Havezu paid since 1992, since this agreement that we're 

discussing, have you paid any export duties on the exports of diamonds — uncut 

diamonds to London? 
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MR CLEAVER:  De Beers has complied entirely with the law from 1992 onwards. 

So the extent that it has exported diamonds it was done entirely with a valid 

certificate of exemption, and if I may through the Chair, it maybe worth reminding 

the Committee that it's not so simple as De Beers just exporting the diamonds 

5 	and then never being used in South Africa. Of course the principal terms of the 

Section 59 agreement was those diamonds which the local industry believed it 

could economically cut in South Africa would as a condition of the exemption be 

re-imported from 1992 onwards out of a London mix back into South Africa for  

cutting. 

10 	CHAIRPERSON:  Sir, so what you're  saying to us that since 1992 you didn't pay 

duties because there was a legal exemption. 

MR CLEAVER:  Correct, De Beers has operated in accordance with the taw with 

a valid exemption. 

CHAIRPERSON:  For the record you're saying that you had an exemption. 

15 	MR CLEAVER:  Correct. 

CHAIRPERSON:  At some point if you ask you to prove, or to give us a copy of 

that exemption you will be in a position to do so? 

MR CLEAVER:  Yes, we would. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you. Pierre, are you through? 

20 	MR GERBER:  Now based on what you've just said previously now, is that you 

can — yo can give recollection of every stone and the detail of every stone that_ 

yoi21/Qpmxta? 

MR CLEAVER:  Yes that's correct. We have a valid certificate of exemption for 

every parcel of stones that was exported. Clearly you don't get a certificate for 
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each and every stone, but you get one through every shipment that is shipped. 

So yes, we would say we have a valid certificate of exemption for every diamond 

shipped. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay, lets... [intervention] 

	

5 	MR GERBER:  Because Chair... [intervention] 

CHAIRPERSON:  No, no, before you continue, lets short circuit, can we have 

those exemptions? 

MR CLEAVER:  With pleasure, Chair. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Before you leave today? 

	

10 	MR CLEAVER:  We can give you copies of the exemptions for the relevant year 

being the 1993-year it's a large file. We're very happy to leave that with the 

Committee and we can produce any other documentation you would require for 

subsequent years. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Askin for exemption 01ce 1993 to d te. 

	

15 	MR CLEAVER:  We can produce all of that, but we don't have all of that with us. 

That's a large amount of documentation, but what we do have with us is the 

1993-year because that's obviously the year we came prepared to talk about, and 

we would be very happy to leave that with you and to assemble copies of ail of 

the remaining documentation, which we do have, I can confirm. 

	

20 	CHAIRPERSON:  Okay, we'll agree how we — how we examine those 

exemptions after this, but we certainty going to want to have a look at them 

whether its on your premises or our premises we'll conclude that. Let's take the 

AG. 

HELD AT: PARLIAMENT 	 12 SEPTEMBER 2007 
TRANSCRIBED BY: TOI PR & EVENTS, TEL & FAX +27 (0) 21 2301034, E-MAIL: mgclomftafthlain 

20 

131 



DE BEERS - SA DIAMOND BOARD 

MR VAN HEERDEN: Chair, I think we're talking about the 1992 records. So if 

that is possible to be submitted as well, thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Possible? 

MR CLEAVER: Hm. 

	

5 	CHAIRPERSON: Thank you. 

MR GERBER: Chair, I'm nearly finished if you will allow me just a couple, a 

minute or two. The thing is in terms of your legal opinion that you got from your 

Advocate S C Lockston (sic), it says here 11.3: 

"With reference to chapter 6 to diamonds in the singular in particular that 

	

1- 	diamond is not in our view significant. Firstly in terms of Section 6(a) of 

the Interpretation of 1957, unless contrary intention appears, words in the 

singular include the plural. Secondly a reading of chapter 6 which requires 

that diamonds must be offered for sale stone by stone to diamonds cutters, 

or must be valued stone by stone would having regard to the quantities 

	

15 	involved will lead to absurd results.' 

There is a presumption in our law that the legislator does not intend absurd to 

unreasonable results, and I've just wanted to mention this to you because you 

said that you have evidence of each and every stone, or parcels of stones. So 

just to bring that to you. Chair my last question, I would just like to ask if I may, 

	

20 	the head office of De Beers, is that in Johannesburg or Kimberley or where is 

that, because I would like to just ask something about that. 

MR CLEAVER: The head office of De Beers Consolidated Mines is in Kimberley. 

MR GERBER: Kimberley. Okay now in terms of the 900 million U S dollars that 

was shipped out, on that consignment of diamonds, the REC levies on that which 
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is calculated at 0.160512%, which amounts to 1.44 million U S dollars times 

R7.99 which is about R11.5 million. Although REC levies has been phased out, 

have you paid the REC levies on this shipment, because we can't find trace of ) 

that 

	

5 	MR CLEAVER: Firstly I and I fully understand we're not here to debate the 

differences, but just for the record of course De Beers disputes that that was the 

figure in question. Secondly I'm not in a position right now to answer that 

question. I have little doubt that the REC levies  were paid and  if the Committee 

requires us to look into that and substantiate that, we'll gladly do so. 

	

10 	CHAIRPERSON: Please do. Pierre I have to move on. I recognise Ron and 

then Mr Trent and then Mr Godi. 

MR MOFOKENG: Chair, I think I'm much covered, but I wanted to get it clear 

here. I didn't get it well. is that how I had it, I mean Section 59 agreement do you 

say you can hand it over to — through the Chairperson but I just wanted to get it 

	

15 	cleared. Thank you very much. I think that has been agreed and then the only 

question to cover, because Pierre has got much more than what I wanted, to the 

Board, I heard the Board — I mean the Diamond Board saying that was previous 

board so and so whatever, which it always happens, but now what sound funny to 

me Sir is that since this has been discussed I mean for many, many years, up to 

	

20 	now it doesn't seem to have any follow up that you have made as a board 

member, because if DG decides I mean now when I take over the following year 

and then I have to go back and then come back to recap and see what were the 

problems two years back and all of those things. Then when you get a query, 

you will make a follow up. So we were with you two years ago and arguing on 
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this, but up to now you seem not to say I don't have that note which we have got 

now. How far have you done, are you really taking the trouble, have you got any 

pile of basket of information that you can refer to our Chairperson now in your 

investigation for these past two years? 

	

5 	MR CHIKANE: I think first of all I should qualify what I'm going to say by 

confirming that the Diamond Board was established in terms of the Diamond Act 

number 56/1966 and as an institution that is created in terms of that piece of 

legislation, we had to comply with the legislation as is. On the other hand we had 

constraints. For instance Section 59 agreement seems to be, you know the main 

	

10 	bone of contention if you may between different departments and the Diamond 

Board. Throughout we had to comply with the Act and with Section 59 as 

enshrined, and I think whatever constraints we may have had was as a result of  

that legislation and one is pleased thatiLhas been abolished and been amended 

and now we have a completely new Act. The second thing is that  we have 

	

15 	instituted investigations on several occasions and there are documents that were 

not available at that particular time and they keep on coming up. For Instance I 

can assure you that the file I have here has got all the documents that we have 

received from the Board, that is the previous administration and also from De 

Beers, but there may be one or documents that we still did not have in our files 

20 	and as to what happened, first of all the Diamond Board itself did not have lots of 

records that we needed as the new board and we battled for several years to 

acquire that  information. We even checked with DME. _DME didn't have such 

information, and I think we tried our best within you know our constraints to 

provide as much information as possible. 
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CHAIRPERSON:  Mr Mofokeng, is that it? Mr Trent, Sir. 

MR TRENT:  Thank you Chair. Chair I think the main issues we have covered 

regarding the legality of the agreements, etc. that's a matter of law and I'm not an 

advocate or a lawyer and I don't think SCOPA's intention is to try and be that 

	

5 	There are just two issues that are sort of connected with each other. It just 

concerns me a little and perhaps we can get just some clarity. The first is the 

way I understand it that in terms of this Section 59 agreement the production for 

each year must be offered on an annual basis, and yet there is talk of stockpiling. 

Now to me if you offer each — each year your total production, stockpiling can 

	

10 	then only apply to what you did not sell, because you would have to then carry 

that over. That amount of — the carats that.you mined that you would have to be 

offered and it would be subject to this agreement, correct. So it is alleged that 

there was 20 million carats accumulated and then exported or sold in one single 

year, and I think that — we need to get clarity on that, because that clearly in my 

	

15 	view would constitute not what the Act had intended. That's my first question. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Let's interrogate the first one. You'll answer the second one 

just now. 

MR TRENT:  Ja, the second one is connected to it Chair. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay. 

	

20 	MR TRENT:  Because I think what we're talking about now as the Chair said 

earlier, we're talking about diamond export duty. That's really what we're 

interested in, because that's revenue to the state. Now what I find strange is in 

in the document that we were supplied with by the AG it gives the diamond sales, 
ti 

which you are aware of for 1991, 1992, 1993, 1994, I think you've got those 
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figures, which don't seem to be consistent, but then we've got a diamond export 

duty paid and this to me, its totally incomprehensible. In 1990 the total amount of 

duty paid was R2 658 and then R1 160 and then in 1992 when its — you alleged 

to have exported or sold R4.6 billion worth of diamonds, the tax was R399. Now 

	

5 	you know I just don't understand how that can happen, when surely you pay no 

tax if you're exempted, but where this R399 come from? It just, to me it doesn't 

make sense. 

MR CLEAVER: Through the Chair it's not let me try and answer that. I don't 

have this information in front of me of course, but... [intervention] 

	

10 	MR TRENT: I accept that this is not only De Beers, it's... [intervention] 

MR CLEAVER: And that's the answer that there were two producers with 

Section 59 agreements and there were other producers who had a different 

regime applying to them and therefore would have paid duty. So that, I can't 

answer the question unequivocally but that would probably explain why you see 

	

15 	some duty on your figures. 

MR TRENT: So therefore Chair just to follow up, so... [intervention] 

CHAIRPERSON: No, no, before you follow up, we loose the first question about 

the stockpiling, when the Act indicates that you need to make it available 

annually. We are now understanding that there was a breach on that, because 

	

20 	otherwise how do you — how do we get to the view that there was stockpiling. tf 

you could explain that to us? 

MR CLEAVER: I'll try through the Chair. In the first instance just to remind 

everybody, we don't agree with that numqer. Our figures show that there was 

stock of the order of 1.6  million carats and nothing like the numbers that you 	T\ 
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specify. The 1992 agreement very clearly at the end of the last paragraph says 

that and I quote: 

'The full production (other than certain diamonds) will be incorporated into 

the London selling mixture from which in turn diamonds will be allocated to 

	

5 	S A site holders. This will apply to any accumulated stock held in S A at 

the time the new agreement becomes effective.' 

Now it's probably worthwhile just understanding what happened in practice. In 

practice there is what an annual — what's called a layout, which is one run of all, 

the entire De Beers production got laid out in Kimberley over five floors, took up 

	

10 	the whole building and the Diamond Board and the members of the Committee 

would come along and discuss amongst themselves what of that production they 

would require in that year in order to cut and polish in South Africa. So 

essentially thy would then agree that and come to De Beers and_tell De Beers  

what was required. De Beers would then export the whole lot with a valid 

	

15 	exemption certificate and re-import out of an aggregated mix, the quality of which 

was much better than just the De Beers mines, the amount that the local cutters 

had required. So the local cutters received in every single year what they_ 

required. 	balance was of course exported and not re-imported. So the 

answer to the question is that the local cutters were offered the opportunity to 

20 	take up what they wanted. They made the decision in the form of the Committee 

making a recommendation to the Board and thereafter the exports took place. 

CHAIRPERSON: Sir let me ask you a question that I think the Committee wants 

to ask, we might as well ask it. Are you saying to Parliament that De Beers did 

not hold back for want of a better word, any of your productions with a deliberate 
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attempt to have a stockpile to move out later? I think that's the question and 

maybe we should move away from being nice to each other and just be frank. 

Are you saying to us that prior to 1992 when there was this supposedly big 

stockpile that was shipped to London, you are disputing that? Is that what you're 

	

5 	saying to us, because what you're saying to us now is that nothing seems to have 

been untoward and I mean we are suggesting to you quite frankly that there was 

something untoward, because there was stockpile and that stockpile was shipped 

out just before the election. That's our contention, and we'd like you to dispute 

that. 

	

10 	MR CLEAVER: Thank you Chair. De Beers would dispute that allegation. 

Clearly De Beers maintained stockpiles around the world and De Beers would not 

like to suggest anything to the contrary. What we are saying is that our records 

shows that the amount of stock on hand at the time was substantially less than 

what has been put to us today, and that it was certainly not withheld in order to  

15 

	

	avoid any kind of duty. It was ultimately shipped in 1992 so that it could form part 

of the London mix and so that all those diamonds could now be mixed with other 

diamonds in London, as I tried to explain earlier. So De Beers would refute any 

suggestion that there was stockpiling in order to ship a large volume, an  

abnorm aeol 	of diamonds prior to the 1994 election. 

20 	CHAIRPERSON: Okay, now it's getting hot. We're going to ask you hard 

questions Sir and we expect honest answers from you, but Mr Trent before I 

move on to Mr Godi, are you through with your questions? 

MR TRENT: I just wanted to conclude on the question of the export duty, 

because that had been explained and we understand that surely you were not the 
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only exporters, but are you saying that you were not liable to pay any export duty 

whatsoever during that period in terms of your exemption have any requirement 

to pay any export duty. 

MR CLEAVER:  Once we had a requirement of course to comply with the law 

	

5 	and once we had a valid exemption which was all in terms of Section 59 and all 

premised on us re-importing back into South Africa the volumes of diamonds 

required, yes. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Thanks, let's move on to Mr Gerber, you indicated you wanted 

to follow up and then we'll move to Mr Godi. 

	

10 	MR GERBER:  Chair just maybe on the issue of the 20 million carats, or the 

alleged 20 million carats and you are saying, you mentioned a figure of 1.7 million 

carats, 1.6 million, maybe because the people from the Auditor-General's office 

who are here went to London to inspect this and maybe they can give us also 

their side of the story in terms of the volume of carats that were taken out in that 

15 shipment. Thanks. 

CHAIRPERSON:  We also, before you answer Auditor-General, we want the 

Department to give us it's view. Was thmasle or was there no stockpile. 

We want the Board to give us its view, because we seem to be now disputing 

whether there was a stockpile or not So the AG, you'll give us what you're 

	

20 	understanding is. We're going to ask the DG to give us his understanding and we 

can ask the Board to give us their understanding and then before you do that Mr 

— okay let's allow Mr Godi and then we will move in that fashion. 

MR GODI:  Ja, thank you comrade. I think for me that will probably the crux of 

the matter, because if indeed there was an abnormal quantity that was sent out in 
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relation to what we know, that becomes the basis you know of the concerns that 

have led to this process coming up to where it is. So clarity and confirmation in 

terms of whether or not there was an abnormal quantity that was, you know that 

was shipped out, we will be very critical in determining how we move forward 

	

5 	before I come with other points. 

CHAIRPERSON: Please if we could ask the AG to give us your sense of what 

happened in 1992? 

MR VAN HEERDEN: Thank you Chair. Our — our stats that we've — that we've 

provided is derived from two audit reports by PKF which was appointed by the 

	

10 	Diamond Board evaluator at the time to look into the stockpile and the figures that 

were quoted and that was recorded for SCOPA is the figures that came from the 

two reports of the PKF auditors. 

CHAIRPERSON: And PKF are ...? 

MR VAN HEERDEN: PKF is the — as I said the auditors that were appointed in 

	

15 	London by the Diamond Board evaluator at the time and there are two reports of 

10th  March and April 1999 reflects thosefiores as such,  

CHAIRPERSON: Can we ask for comment from the DG? 

NUR CHIKANE: Thank you very much Chair. According to our understanding 

there was a stockpile. 

20 	CHAIRPERSON: Can we ask for comment from the Diamond Board? 

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Yes, there was a stockpile. 

CHAIRPERSON: Thank you very much. Mr Godi, can you continue? 

MR GOD!: Thank you Chair. I want to firstly make an observation that as you will 

be well aware that this issue has been with us for quite some times and the 
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reason for it being a protected matter was principally and primarily because there 

appeared to be no availability of information that could assist the various role 

players to reach a conclusive position and in our last engagement with the 

Department and the Diamond Board, you'll recall that we felt that maybe it will be 

	

5 	proper if we have De Beers here as well so that in terms of the role players 

involved, we could have some element of completeness, and what is of concern 

to me, is the fact that the De Beers appears to be much more than willing to 

provide information that they have, as I listened to their inputs here and the 

question that I have is if — if De Beers is so willing to provide information, why has 

	

10 	it not happened all along? Is it because the Department or the Diamond Board 

did not contact De Beers, or De Beers was reluctant to — you know to play along 

all along, which — which raises I think some of the questions that Comrade Pierre 

raised earlier on in terms of you know not being too happy, or be taken up by 

documentation that we have before us, when all along these have not been — 

	

15 	have not been available and I would imagine that the gentlemen from De Beers 

would, if they were in our shoes, be as probably as sceptical as we are. So I'm 

not sure really whether it is the Board that should come in, or it is De Beers wh 

has it taken so long to provide any documentation that has been sought by the 

Auditor-General that — that we have sought up to — up to now? 

20 	CHAIRPERSON: Can we ask for a response on that matter, either De Beers or 

the Board, what was the reason for the difficulty of getting documentation for us 

to make an opinion? It seems now that this documentation is readily available, 

but it has taken us a long time and lots of pain to get these documents. Does 
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somebody want to explain or give us a rationale? Lets start with the Board and 

then we'll go to De Beers. 

MR CHIKANE:  Well, the simplest answer is that we have instituted investigations 

on this matter and on the Board we had members of De Beers that represented 

5 	on the Board in terms of legislation and they — we have always assumed that  

those were individuals that were our contact point and at any given time every 

information we needed that would come from them. However, that didn't happen 

and subsequently we — I then had to write a letter to the Chief Executive Officer 

or Managing Director of De Beers requesting the same information and we got 

10 	part of it  anctif there is any other information that is not available, its simply 

because it hasn't been presented to us, but there is information that was provided 

to us only after I had written a letter to the Managing Director of De Beers. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Could we get De Beers' comment? Thank you Sir. De Beers? 

MR PETERSEN:  Chairperson, in so far as the formal request from the Diamond 

15 	Board dated the 22nd  of February 2006, the request was very specific for 

information and we supplied all the information required in this request under 

cover of our letter to days later on the 24th  of February. So in so far as that —

2006 within two days we  supplied  to the information requested.  In so far as the 

1999 PKF audit is concerned, I would like my colleague to address that matter. 

20 	MR CLEAVER:  Thank you. Mr Chair, I think its worth making this observation. 

We obviously have no knowledge of the 1999 audit, although we've asked on a 

number of occasions to see a copy of it. Our understanding has been confirmed 

by the AG, which is that it was done in 1999. Now clearly 1999 was a very 

different time to 1992 when the allegation of a large stockpile is being made 
- 	• 	_ 
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against us. We're quite happy to check our records, but it's more likely than not 

that in 1999 a stockpile of diamonds that had not been sold although they had 

been offered for sale in South Africa, of that order may have been built up over 

the ten years preceding 1999, and I offer that as an explanation as to perhaps 

5 	why that number seems so large. It's instructive to us that that audit was done in 

1999 and it may explain the discrepancy in our figures. Obviously we're not 

going to have an argument here about whose figures are corrects  but I would like 

to point out for the record that that audit seems to be dated 1999 which is some 

seven years later than we're talking about 

10 	MR GOD,: Thank you Chair. Going back to the supposed agreement, I — I 

suppose you're very careful when you say as far as you're concerned the board 

resolution constitute an agreement. I suppose the word "constitute' implies the 

recognition that it is actually a deviation from the norm, and I - I'm looking at, 

hope the Auditor-General's office will assist. The 1988 Transhex Group Limited 

15 	Section 59 agreement and the 1998 De Beers S A Diamond Board Section 59 

agreements, they appear to be in the same forma, in the same context, but there 

is a deviation in relation to the — to the 1992 agreement and I think that is  where 

our — our bone of contention comes thgtqampent or theiwsp jsed 

agreement of 1992 was a deviation and creates doubts on our part and I would 

20 	imagine that if you were in our shoes you'll certainly be quite suspicious. Do you 

necessarily regard it as valid simply  because there is a resolution of — by the 

Board, or do you acknowledge that indeed it was a deviation from — from 

standard practice in term of — in terms of the way agreements were constituted  

from De Beers' point of view? 
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MR CLEAVER: Just a point of clarity, we — we don't suggest that it's an 

agreement merely by virtue of an extract from the Board minutes. As I tried to 

explain earlier, we suggest it's an agreement by virtue of a fetter from the Chief 

Executive of the Diamond Board explaining very dearly that it's a new agreement 

	

5 	with the terms and conditions attached. The terms and conditions attached are 

headed by the words "agreement with De Beers Consolidated Mines Limited' and 

then that was accepted by De Beers by virtue of a letter of the 13th  of February. 

So our position is there is a valid written agreement. I'd like to point out and I 

don't wish this to be a legalistic debate and this is De Beers' position, but I'd like 

	

10 	to point out that there is even no requirement in the statute that the agreement is 

in writing. Our position is it's a valid agreement in writing. I'm not in a position to 
••••••••• •••..... 

speculate as to what was a nom and  what was not a norm in 1993. I wasn't 

there, nor any of my colleagues unfortunately, but our position is as I've explained 

earlier is we have a valid written agreement. 

	

15 	CHAIRPERSON: Okay, just for the record so that legal illiterates like ourselves 

understand this when we write our report, you are saying that the Board who was 

the regulator wrote a letter to you. You as the operator or whatever wrote 

another letter back and those two letters in your mind constitutes an agreement 

and secondly that as far as you understand there was no law compelling an 

20 	agreement in writing. That's what you want us to understand, am I paraphrasing 

it accurately enough so that we could go away and write our recommendation on 

that understanding? 

MR CLEAVER: Not quite through the Chair. Our position is there is a written 

agreement, because the letter from the Chief Executive offers the new terms 
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which are attached in an annexure that are headed with the words "agreement', 

which offer is accepted by De Beers in a subsequent letter. So our position is 

there is a written agreement. 

CHAIRPERSON:  No, no, I'm hearing you're saying there is a written agreement 

5 	but you're saying it was not necessary because it didn't have to be in writing. I 

thought I heard you're saying something to that effect. 

MR CLEAVER:  No, no, just to be clear, our position is it's a written agreement. 

It so happens even if there wasn't a written agreement, which is not our position, 

that the statute doesn't require a written agreement. I prefer us not to have that 

10 	legalistic debate and our position simply is there is a written agreement, a valid 

written agreement 

CHAIRPERSON:  That's fine, no that's... [intervention] 

MR CLEAVER:  And we have the originals as we've indicated earlier. 

CHAIRPERSON:  That's fine, we're not lawyers here, we're mere mortals, but 

15 	we're going to take that agreement and apply our mind. Please submit it to us so 

that we can in our own mind make up our mind what it is and you're saying — can 

you tell us who was the chair, or the CEO of the Board at the time, was... 

[intervention] 

MR CLEAVER:  The letter appears to be signed by a Mr C J Hambley (sic) on a 

20 	letterhead under his, as the then Chief Executive Officer as far as we can tell of 

the Board. 

CHAIRPERSON:  The CEO of the Board. So just for SCOPA's purposes, the 

CEO of the Diamond Board wrote a letter in 1993 to De Beers to a Mr L A Lincoln 

(sic) saying, headed "new agreement with De Beers Consolidated Mines." A 
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month later Mr L A Lincoln (sic) responds to that letter saying that they accept —

or confirm that the Diamond Board — ja basically writing saying that they accept. 

Those two pieces of paper De Beers are saying to us constitutes an agreement 

and it's on that basis that they moved on. We're not going to dispute whether 

	

5 	that's right or wrong now. We just want to understand that this is what you are 

saying so that we take that and do our own homework. So that is the position 

and we're not going to debate whether it's an agreement, whether it is legal, 

whether it's binding, not in this meeting. We'll do that somewhere else. So that Is 

an agreement, but I see you're violently pointing your hand up AG. Please help 

	

10 	us; we want to just get to a point where when we take a decision, our decision is 

well informed. AG? 

MR VAN HEERDEN:  Thank you Chair. I just like to — to point out as well that the 

other agreements at the time that was concluded between the Diamond Board 

and the other operators were done in a similar way as the former agreements, as 

	

15 	well as the later agreements. This was the only agreement that differed in terms 

of — of the way in which the agreement was drawn up, signed on each page and 

eventually noted as a Section 59 agreement, but by saying that I would just like 

confirmation through the — through the Chair, that the previous agreements that 

has been referred to in this agreement of 1992, being the ones 1987 to 1992, do 

	

20 	we perhaps have a copy of  those agreements available and in what way does the 

1992 agreement differ from the format of the previous agreements that has been 

referred to. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Before you — before you move on, could we request everybody 

with cell phones please to put them off. it realty affects our quality of 
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transcription. Everybody, not on silent, if you could put your phone off. De 

Beers, if you could respond to that question? 

MR CLEAVER: My understanding through the Chair is that there was a one- 

page letter in 1987 constituting an agreement written by an executive officer of 	 -----____—__ 

5 	the Diamond Board to De Beers for the period 1987 to 1992. So there wasn't a ..--- 
formal agreement signed and initialled on every page. 

CHAIRPERSON: Can we move on to Mr Trent, then Mr Gerber? 

MR TRENT: Chair yes, I'm going to deviate slightly from what we've been talking 

about In respect of the Diamond Board,  their1L2wa constituted at the time, it 

10 	was completely different to what it is now, and you understandable have said you 

were not there at the time and it will be difficult for you to answer questions. This 

Mr Hambley (sic) was the Chair at that time, is he available as other member of 

the Board at that time,  are they available? Could they be called, could we have 

access to them as a Committee, because I think we need to close the circle, 

15 	because that's the one, to me the one part of the puzzle that's missing, to hear 

what is it that they have to say? So do you have contact numbers for them, etc, 

that we could get hold of them? 

MR CHIKANE: Interestingly enou titraiirestilLavailable, most of them and 

some of them actually still serve on some of the Boards, but I just want to make a 

20 	comment at some point, and I hope this will be in order Mr Chair. 

CHAIRPERSON: Go ahead. 

MR CHIKANE: That this — I so wish this matter could be brought to its logical 

conclusion. In my view having participated in this discussions for so long without 

reaching any conclusion, is that there are basically two issues. (a) Being the 
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legH jilqgf this issue, and the legality of the very Section 59 and secondly the —

the levies. So there is a financial issue and there is a legal issue. It does look 

like if De Beers and the Auditor-General of course and the National Treasurer 

could sit down and — and reach some understanding on the exact figures and 

5 	determine whether or not there is anything that is owed to the state. I think that 

would partly resolve the matter and such a report could be presented to 

yourselves, and secondly the — the other part of it which is the legality of the 

matter, is that it tends to be a little bit more complicated, because I can only 

imagine and I wouldn't like to predict what De Beers is going to say, whatever 

10 	agreements or resolutions or anything that were approved by the Board at that 

particular time, I can only guess that De Beers would regard that as constituting 

an agreement, irrespective of the format in which they were presented to De 

Beers. So there are two issues. I'lLilsicte.of it I think it can be dealt with, 

without necessarily going to any court, but basically by reaching some 

15 	understanding of what happened and close it, but the second one which is most 

important is the financial, and if you did that, you wouldn't have to come back 

here again, because you have the opportunity to even interview Mr Bindeman 

(sic) who was the Chief Executive at that time who is still around. You also have 

other people, but I think this matter will drag even you know for a much longer 

20 	period, when in fact all the parties involved are here, and I think you could 

actually bring it to Ws logical conclusion without taking it any further. 

CHAIRPERSON: No, thank you Sir, we were going to do exactly that. One way 

or the other, SCOPA today was going to pronounce on this matter and that is why 

I continued to say that we want to understand what you saying, because once 
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we've pronounced on it, we will defend it and if it means damage to the AG's 

reputation, or it means damage to De Beers, so be it, we will defend it as SCOPA 

and that's why we are very careful today that we understand what it is that you 

are saying. What we are not going to do is going to have another hearing on De 

	

5 	Beers. We're just not going to have another hearing on De Beers. One way or 

the other we'll pronounce and we'll persuade Parliament to adopt whatever it is, 

and it will be for the record in future. So thank you very much. That's exactly 

what it is that we wanted to do. So — and that I was — I was very persistent in not 

getting into a legalistic argument. Let us repeat, SCOPA's view is does De Beers  

	

10 	have an obligation to pay the state for any taxes that it did apt pay, and if he did, 

how do we go about doing that. If they don't we close the chapter and we move 

on. That is our interest in this matter. So is the end game that we want to play. 

So Mr Trent and I think Mr Gerber,  let's stick away from the legalistic part. If 

there is anything else you want in terms of information gathering to assist us with 

	

15 	our resolution from a financial point of view, I'm going to allow you to ask the 

question and then Mr Gerber and then we'll try and wrap up in terms of what is it 

that we have, what is it that we might require and by when can you expect a 

pronouncement at least from our side. Mr Trent? 

MR TRENT:  Chair yes, I'm happy that there's nothing further that we can glean 

	

20 	from the parties present here today, I did suggest that it might be useful to talk to 

people that are not here, but the Committee will decide upon that in its own 

constituted way_ So I don't think it's necessary for any further questions from our 

side. 

CHAIRPERSQN:  Mr Trent Mr Gerber? 
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MR GERBER:  Chair just two short questions. The one maybe has in a way 

been touched on by the AG's office and that is the letter of De Beers 

acknowledging the 1992 agreement, and also the letter from the Diamond Board. 

You know it starts off, the one from the Diamond Board to De Beers starting off 

	

5 	with "new agreement" and later on in the letter it refers to "new agreement", 

where as the one from De Beers actually refers to this "new agreement" three or 

four times in the letter, which makes it a bit funny, but now the only questions that 

1— that I think for myself that I need clarity on is, I've read through this unsigned 

document, this agreement which you insist is legal, the 1992 one. Now nowhere 

	

10 	in this agreement is there a date, which says it will — you've got permission to se 

nou maar 1996 or whatever. It's an ori ended agreement, the 1992 one. Now 

why if you have an open ended without a cut off date agreement like this, why 

would you then go and have another agreement, insist on another one in 1998? 

This it the one question I would like to ask. Then... [intervention] 

	

15 	CHAIRPERSON:  No, no, let's — because we want to move to closure, let's ask 

that question, get an answer on it, agree to or disagree on your answer and move 

to the next one. De Beers? 

MR CLEAVER:  Thank you through the Chair. The answer to that is that in the 

very last paragraph of the two page attachment, paragraph X it's very clearly 

	

20 	stated that in so far as the 1992 agreement is concerned the agreement will be  

subject to annual review. So it was not an evergreen agreement that just 

continued. It was reviewed by the Board and its members every year, and by the 

,time 1998 came along, there had been changes of circumstanceswhich required 

new agreement. So it's not — it's not — it's not correct to say that it was an 
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evergreen agreement. It was an agreement, which was subject to annual review 

and therefore did change in accordance with changing circumstances in the 

country. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Mr Gerber? 

5 	MR GERBER:  If that is the case then — then — then the annual reviews do you 

have copies of the annual reviews that you can supply to this Committee?, 

MR PETERSEN:  No, we have letter dated the 28th  of March 1995 and the 22nd  of 

January 1996 in terms of which the Board reviewed the agreement and confirm 

that it continues for another year. 

10 	MR GERBER:  So in seven years the Board only reviewed it twice, that's what  

MR PETERSEN:  Chairperson 1— I'm responding to a question. This is what I 

have with me now. I will go and have to go and dig whether there is more, but for 

the purpose of this we just want to make sure that we have the information, that 

15 	indeed the annual review was performed. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Let me put the question differently to you so that we don't get 

technical. During that period are you aware as you sit here, are you aware that 

there was an annual review of the agreement, not what you've brought with you. 

Are you aware that there was any annual review as — as you are suggesting your 

20 	last paragraph was intimating_ 

MR CLEAVER:  Our understanding is that the Section 59 Committee did review 

the agreement annually. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you that help us answer that question. Any other 

questions from members of Parliament besides Mr Gerber, I'll give you last; I just 
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don't want it to be a Gerber versus De Beers thing. Any other member of SCOPA 

that wants to ask a question? No? Okay, then Mr Gerber you... [intervention] 

MR GERBER:  Chair — Chair no I mean — you know the - the tax — the 15% tax 

which was applicable at that stage, was raised in 1996 from, with 50%, from 10% 

	

5 	tax to 15% tax, which was also the year that there was the assassination of the 

then Prime Minister which makes it funny. It's all these kind of theories. But 

anyway the question I would like to ask Chair is... [intervention] 

CHAIRPERSON:  Don't consider this last comment 

MR GERBER:  There is all these theories, but Chair what I would like to ask is in 

	

10 	the Hansard of — when this Act, the 1986 Act was debated on Friday, the 30th  of 

May, the Minister mentions here, the then Minister, the Committee of inquiry into 

exchange control and tax malpractices, the Brown Committee, to an effect that 

and I quote: 

*Millions of Rands in the form and tax and foreign currency are involved. 

	

15 	The Committee in question made this finding with specific reference to 

practices such as transfer pricing, and artificial pricing in the exporting of 

diamonds.* 

Now I would just like to know, was De Beers audited by SARS at any stage in 

terms of anti transfer tax legislations and any regulations? 

20 	MR CLEAVER:  As a general observation but I can't answer the question without 

digging into the records in the year in question. Qe Beers has been subject to a 

large numbersjAkasixot SARS over the years. I can't answer it more 

specifically than that unless you give me more specific dates, which I will happily, 

90 and look into. 
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CHAIRPERSON: Thanks; I'm going to bring these proceedings to an end by just 

13 
 contextualising for eve body so that nobody walks out of here with different 

understandings. The rst thing is that we're asking De Beers to give us a copy of 

your export duty exemptions for the years 1992 and 1993. We'd ask you go give 

5 	us that. We'd also want De Beers to go and investigate whether you paid REC 

levies. We al want to indicate here that in terms of the agreement or otherwise 

of a stockpile, the Auditor-General, the Departments of Mineral and Energy, and 

the Diamond Board confirm that in their understanding there was a stockpile in 

1992. De Beers has a different view. We're asking you to give us that 

10 	information, because that is critical to our decision. So those are the 

requirements that we would want as soon as possible so that we can conclude 

this matter. Also just to make everybody understand that we are politicians. We 

get a report from the Auditor-General that indicates that the — a large corporate 

citizen of this country had a stockpile, took it out of the country just before 

15 	elections, didn't pay duty, and for — a question that I want to ask later on, but I'll 

ask it afterwards. So that's the one side. The second side is that the regulator, 

the Board who is supposed to be the regulator is skewed in favour of businesses 

opposed to government. So they're regulating themselves, and that fact that 

there is a change of regime eminent So those are the things that pricked our 

20 	minds. We, there is no ways as Parliament that we cannot ask questions on this 

matter. I think we also want to send a signal that no corporate however big he is, 

is untouchable. Nobody is untouchable. You break the law; we will come after 

you certainty from our point of view as Parliament that is mandated by the 

Constitution to have oversight. So there must not be a perception that — that — 
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that there is anybody whether it's a department or an individual that is beyond 

accountability. The Constitution is very dear that this Committee can call 

anybody to account that we have called De Beers. It's in that context that we 

want to conclude and send a message that all of us are accountable. So you are 

	

5 	going to assist us and I also want to reiterate I don't think that we're going to have 

another engagement like this. We will make a ruling, we will live by it as SCOPA 

and defend whatever rulings we make and the Auditor-General will live by it in 

terms of your reputation or otherwise, and De Beers you'd live with it and the 

Board, the future Board would live by it. We will pronounce on all these matters, 

	

10 	whether we think the Board has a role to play in future in terms of how it's 

constituted, and exactly what it should be doing. We are able to change from the 

experiences that we've learnt here. So thank you very much to De Beers for 

having come here. Our appeal can only be thatLtti'et documentation 

as soon as possible. We would like to put this matter to rest. Auditor-General 

	

15 	and De Beers and the Board, you know you are going to — you will help us if 

somehow or the other and that's not going to be — we are not going to wait for 

that to make our decision, but it would help us if you guys can just agree on this  

whole matter of whether there was or wasn't, the matter that the Board is talking  

about. Not the legal part but the financial part of it, because that is core in terms 

	

20 	of what the levy was. Even if it was exempt, I want to be able to go back and say 

that in 1992 if there was no exemption, we would have been in a position to 

collect X amount of Rand, but because of exemption we didn't collect that X 

amount of Rand. Currently we can't say that as Parliament, and we want to say 

that, so we put this thing to bed and in future be able to ask the question about 
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whether this exemption helps the country or does it help capital, and if it helps 

capital, how does capital come back to the party. If it helps the country, how 

does the country ensure that capital is helped? That's the bottom line from our 

point of view. So we would like the Board and the Auditor-General just to get that 

5 	finality for us. Thank you very much. SCOPA has — has received whatever it 

wants to receive. We will go away and we will do our resolution to Parliament 

and you'll hear no more from SCOPA, but you'll hear from Parliament, because it 

will be a report of Parliament Mr Gerber, dose it for us. 

MR GERBER: Chair no just the one thing I think that we must just ask for again 

10 	is the REC levies, that's the one thing and then also if we get the transcript of the 

hearings you know, if there might be other question we would like to clarity. 

Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON: Ja, what we will do is as we indicated. The process from here 

forward is that we'll get the transcripts, we'll get all this information, we will craft 

15 	and design our resolution. If there is need to ask a question or two, we will 

certainly do it, but it's going to be telephonic, or it's going to be in writing. We are 

not going to meet in this fashion again. Ons mors mekaar se tyd. Ons more 

mekaar se tyd. De Beers? 

MR PETERSEN: Chairperson, can we just from our side thank you for the 

20 	opportunity. Thank you for the engagement and we remain committed to play our 

part and ensure what is right is done. Thank you. 
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CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you everybody. We'll have a five-minute break. Our 

next guests are here. So if we could go outside, have a five-minute body break 

and resume immediately. Thank you very much. 

MEETING ADJOURNED  
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Friday, 14 March 2008) 	 492 

(13) Bloem Water Board's Proposed increase-in WaterTariffs for 2008-09, 
tabled in terms of section 42 of the Local Government: Municipal 
Finance Management Act, 2003 (Act No 56 of 2003). 

(14) Albany Coast Water Board's Proposed increase in Water Tariffs for 
2008-09, tabled in terms of section 42 of the Local Government: 
Municipal Finance Management Act, 2003 (Act No 56 of 2003). 

National Assembly 
1. The Speaker 

Letter received from the Minister for Public Enterprises, dated 13 March 
2008, to the Speaker of the National Assembly, informing Parliament that 
Eskom's Pricing Structure for 2008-09 would not be tabled on 15 March 
2008 as required by section 42 of the Local Government: Municipal 
Finance Management Act, 2003 (Act No 56 of 2003), but will be tabled on 
15 April 2008. 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 

National Assembly 
1. Report of the Portfolio Committee on Environmental Affairs and 

Tourism on the National Environmental Management: Waste Bill 
[B 39-2007] (National Assembly—sec 76), dated 13 March 
2008: 

The Portfolio Committee on Environmental Affairs and Tourism, 
having considered the subject of the National Environmental 

	

ManagemenffWeigte-Bill [B-39==-2007)--(Nationartosembly =sec 	 
76), referred to it, and classified by the Joint Tagging Mechanism 
(TIM) as a section 76 Bill, reports the Bill with amendments [B 
39A-2007]. 

2. First Report of the Standing Committee on Public Accounts on the 
Investigation Relating to the Export and Sale of Diamonds in 
terms of the Diamonds Act, 1986, dated 29 January 2008: 

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts (SCOPA), having considered 
the following: 

a) the Report of the Auditor-General on the financial statements of the 
South African Diamond Board for the year ended 31 March 2004; 

b) progress reports on the validity and legality of the exemption of 
diamond exports from export levies; 

c) information made available by De Beers Consolidated Mines Pty 
(Ltd); 

d) legal inputs from certain state institutions, and 

e) responses from the Auditor-General. 

Reports as follows and recommends that: 

1. Legal opinion 

National Treasury obtain an independent, constitutional expert legal 
opinion from Senior Counsel to determine: 

ANNOUNCEMENTS, TABLINOS AND COMMITTEE REPORTS NO 33-2808 



i 



we are 
Q 

better future 
on the 

~ • 	of the past 

DE BEERS 



DE BEERS CONSOLIDATED 
MINES LIMITED 

30 

136 
139 

161 

corers the activities of both De Beers 
-co#64#1Afities Limited and De Beers Centenary AG. 

*OE SiiiitiSolidated Mines Limited is referred to as 
Beers:Centenary AG as •DBCAG' , 

Conks together are referred to 

as 'De Beers'. 

2- I *pits ATA GLANCE 

iiNANCIAL. HIGHLIGHTS 

CHABIHANS STATEMENT 
„ 	. • 

DIRECTORATE ' 

12. 

16: 
:;. . 

COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

THE DIAMOND PIPELINE 

GROUP rntyOURE .• 

1lat.418011440 DfR&CTCR REi/Evir 

o0 	oNs. 
bar*? iatip•n 
Mining ' Onci4es1°'" 	• 
Hiner* 	 , • 	• 
Health and -  
p4biy*t.it 
Kin.* .‘s 

;:•'Cgsgiteal 
.#1*41' impaile#1 

• iriCk*ia•i:0041:05; 
000Pfilen! 

IPor.atq 

• 

INFORMATION FOR LINKED 
tsteriititheRs 

.. • *oNTIALOOPPREstrse. 



Our intssion is to 'villain the 
worlds diamond IcMc? 



11 i.) are exploring 
ilk' Power 0!-  ilk' 

De Bars !mind 



 

we're forging 
a team 

to deliver 

 

 

Ow new Icadership team is focilinj on customcc sutisjaction, 

carpioee malt and ((is!! f low 

 



11.1)/limliR)s-  put,  
lnir) 	innop nynirvil 

5;),AJOS1j 	tid.).1170CAI 1P.INI1111 .010 1%0 A1011 ill,l1 	5-JAY' dSOfIl 1; 



• 

•Youlsolm••••1411,14•1•• •••••1 I••••••••••• IN 16 6167*“. rmer,ara•op.reiroaL4b...... 

financial 
highlights 

Financial performance highlights 

Own earnings up_83% to USS686  
Headline tanks up 3i%&,  US$838 maw  
Dividends increase 31% to 105 US cents 
5uong operating cos11115nv_The  tear of US$1 	 _ 
Reim on inked unit holders' equily inaansed_fiom 7,2% to ai 	 
Room on capitol emoksed incensed from 7,5% to 10,0% 

Amon PO linked unit holders equity' 	R•turn on capital ort4Ooyed" 

•1 	 

s: 

sl— 

Headline earnings and dividends 
per linked unit 

i.  

we've had 
one of our most 

years on record 



chairman's statement 

De Beers enters the 
21st century stronger 
than ever, and more 
open to change 

Secure In our past, confident 
Glean future 
As we wow to wee irslinsnob misd Mono inns •3•1 
ooloosiOng•kr Mt moo Monsaloss In volmolou am 
conomnimios, smsepin Nam em once smslo#, 
klesbuclible,ioss• 4 IS• worlds command mil Industrial 
hodosso 

AO.. Ibis Issol•sound t is a moo of considerable 
gni Mx De &emboss's, • no 194 morn is AY as 
*ergs. 1 is nbarar ors& shabsgmn formals/ yet* 
non mossml•sl insos••••• • • Frans of no balm 
• Mennst of es scant* ions NM. basin dams 
caws, 40..eb••••• 

On the back of remind 1999 diamond ..in of 
sass Sag Won on woe we to srnoins• an 83 Pan at 
imr•s• n 

 
on ••••••••• aim and as esy*. 

Wt low of NM, gl Won mono* mbil TA nacos • 
19911.11.• maga entre:10r Br= ley.. sham* 
bj••• Moiled Ed Is meal IDS.I [Ram pail* sok 
Deng Mlle wale of an intsmagarsal mato awl a SITS 
Nem new b 19911.04 ammo ohiwity 
meson so sad lassmnrd dna US•smorroist 
wad dmost 10 04, to ins •••••• and wow nor 
Sus sod Dormer finlatig dspromots With nen We 
brbr. oppesuritin oared • US snonsosic middy  

and*. and b amossroorne to nitoriwn rd slap 
mown bon Into an isxmand do-rend bs discords 

Meeting the challenge of change 
0. gems losnam Ise nos honed b Min • mange 

remains mil coals. on ow:Munn. nor idol 
amain Ss lind•dits smnien is boy naming NI and 
rag on Is logs, W thesiM mew* Moog to the 
dungen atm.* Olin. =I Monona. Insets* Irs• 
Si to do Ins soon taw th• mmislalan• bap of sots* 
lord to be omiss•••••• mars domed lo •••• then 
Assn become mowed 04th Sant and Me Ismilessmod 
moms dee lass • Most 

pear. *Mich [1.1.11 110 11/Vial In San • in 
an mho*, of*, donnas winos= lo man to Dm 
IsOmisles rd me sourya sold deeming. 
veal tools Wish 00 low saw nose soldo for moll of 
*slag casuyl• Demo comm. Mid to d into. mil  
psnoses — Me mem Osmond iselosto %as so 
darnmot it no Min on snoSoling d msts anion* 
to nand** Indunrslinf w•se olten masa wenn.. 
tee big* bemuse of Mb *wen of imirusolut 10. Was 
••• M. and seine to a as soma of ase motet 
miming mg* in suds • way • to Imo out *ilk of 
OM* ./ Om*, • motet it we wooing The 
aeon frost and fasmost of in own Mk** The 
:sea d• antlers sod winos bad Ms monde, 
of o snins and the anonym and movie onich 
demod or t0_ ad yd wall We Imams a onnone 
Snob* is th• Mama losfusby - Mon dawn now. and 
•••• she novo. 

Rethinking the concept of 
diamond stockpiles 

nwsms ,a loon= • othor amend psockoan 
M. mongol  she -amass" ran W chainsd sands In 
today% Y=ea sompOtia vorld Do Bon muglines 
Swam Meal th• buir et WI mons Tr Was coda 
• *in It WO — marlas rotas ban *id 11 
bull of ossollot :molt Sts *Corks an now 
*in* 4 nesparn an rine demos* but WI *71,1 
**omen and hisnl us to the fact MU a muse. 
sandsCis ems did to mind lb am itmets an1 ban 
numb of As am saboldiss out litadass•••••••1 
it t k • ma*. same On pre In • chares1 sod 
magmhism world Ti dna not man In Os Yrs is 
about to *Mon V• mania vs los 	slsolnals do so 
w4Y • sogneleslim • aNe-ar oar a.,  
▪ smunsirst suposmsid• Into 	•robons II does mum 
999.9••• • MO•nOra swot% to nadirs won• snd 
am* Fr • mons Man oftna• iwuM. dial 
prbserks to some Ms 11 	of DI awn ewet main 
disoh nod it moan worldon towns and is • dose 
Mani* *oboes dam so build bosh nada poiliso 
and • ••••fonderrand lab silown• 

Out new strategy starts to pay off 
lisohlasnress•bmssildsmIssolnossalsosells•••• 

• • 
	'mow ussletsben by 1). flews as it Ns saga to mar 

mfr.& and palm Ilalf for =mimed or* Ind somas 
n no lIe =sum alto doom so not ion • posl•sn of 
wannem but of mop and buttressed by a on of 
obi g Onsmialmsle• 

It wenn to 211May Is Ow imAshIsmsfogbermel 
top. .O fronsoltn mnismiS • MIll• 
us*. sew**  some of sidelch nonsIn own Iss• 
bawl ma new prone* is du rani - ram 
nab/ MI* const gland milint•Vos 	tai 
is the gammon:nu of Bottmerss sae Mamba missed 
palm No understand 11w MIAs of sal. anslaMined 
Wm* Y. to World *nod mar* It has on ounlandIng 
den In of **.soda sop b••••• IS l s 1•••Sedge 
at. brad .arks bi up awl mess* mind nor 
mom*. s mown, Motifs and tedmidmv Ate culling 
•i• delsniond mines* sennkalms and • bud mine 
old by wpb mcornelm•••••• mold se stmrsing  

br mane null, ern Owen, It Ns aho - 
snood no agin Sy Me ma of ks maw* nonsol 
mi•••••dishisassd Mooed donna lo between WM 

• 01 Wins are era of 1999 and toward many 
Him mods of phi* moil Mt 	- moss 

standing word lo building denund throve consumer 
Tb• 	ad Mena assess unapallad 

disolle-• 4 VI. dw...a WSW/ - an! tvey W W 
dsplosed *sou; • ail std inseam gnome of 
Da ••••••••rthe nod [mhos l hire Sp Conline 
ass a ninise mg. br tie co-man 4 isrelsoKers and 
ponrras • a am* - Arno* -bas domed 
assurer 

To iss••• 00neenalwniss Mona in b new Mew 
amen 1** *as Cs• gen lair on Ms 
Onh it sOnstsol *so it wenn.] • ossmIsonere 
Argo Marian w maw • Won ban Ind •doisels 
too* on sne cbmand Mdmr• Ins bap oo 
moons. on* • Me darond wading song* 
soksch ova fnes and lo• De 9mM.,  Ms 
Is en Alitings Y.al4 Sun the o4i.. of • Isis 
•••• romp nenW4ns rnim It In Ye anosousnod 
nomdtonsod *manse - an es* laMs•lt ma 
0•••••1111•••osoral FLOM •••••••••••• 
Arnim pt ors...MOO*. 35.1 yrar at Piro 1999 
Ando Mnsis• stood n pray Yin{ nonlaa••••• 

lonstrohnuses innwanbilloi•dg• FISS 1019s 
no pis usidw mdass the *a of Si hold% isas•••• • 
11p law ow and tefeyWhow . 4eems an wry 
Issmidroin limsonorsmo of Pi one *Moot 

Fro if 11 WM:0Mb tla Isom Sworn De bars 
rot• mow, to bow • pa. toes p.000 of tog. 
aim both IV., *tee. mokals Ma • es. 9. 
gaol to • ran ossOsind Isserent shot In GmbrIss 
eve sol emend *mend mitts and •mbiagosoe 4 *1 
endammlivis Mt v..," 

Tackling tough issues 
MOO ene b•• De Bars loan fon* to • born 

sualiostaft• Sdi1 0499 9. Smogs Akins perm. 
%Mom end tAss Dnerasl Boanina rowan, riwn• 
*cite SW, NM, pent MI. e•Ikrw 
Ire ens serad a Me dew goarrorittelimml, 
n• •stris ingssdite SoullsOIrlan *ma Maim M.  
ne now lbounsna of pope ...tons* gioslogionnort 



chairman's stttement 
continued 

chairman's statement 
Continued 

Pay bylaw:mammon ea efficient and reanctung 
as maroparri ea and Mane organisnon to am 
*ad ant acciatable huda unio and In snag fe-
wer greater ansparenn we believe the De Beers Is 
amigo see nay fret, lower anP smamited for 
sumealle realwoote of ris °madam ad is Mb® 
hu also 61 0\ Beer, no aline with an open an to 
aeon of saner in a nent, conowla dead mad 
to cernpaw nee be nano nporee in es legman:In* 
Important maid. she &Ind States of Mmialii  
*lm itt. he ellaY lost begun and regains Ire& a* 
ware thinkire from both ide if we ant to reach an 
ouscoreenalmed be of hwat not anise De an he 
a to the Man load Mostly and the Carlon 
commer 

No diamonds from war-torn 
countries 

Mt. art a De Bead gala ea germ-bin 
aseholen il noes and the Stay as a *de - i eas 
diamond caroms m whoa, mai* and Incas* 
demand er nwaf Eared and endtres aqueducts& 
woe ate apt Mug* lane sand Sr may be 
mead if the awns mans his or her Palled in to 
deed a a gaol a tae  paint and roma and enders 
him& Thee am the propel& *rent n t. mad  

item 0, Beers is tam resolute and Lana% In is 
name &Samoa morn pre ad nal*. meal 
by mein and untainted by coact This it why sine the 
illocution &UN &mon] sanctions awake &in& Bean 
has -stem man& am learipew ads OM* 
don the lagg rwairasentno man a tha aronch 
tees re Pon afficeree segicsa 

film to rm t *and ad& PI bane leer Ind 
tle Sift rte as sena liantereeds. *ergo& 
Nose Oman diamond, with an official cerillinta of 
promos& When. &wee bane ate nine* of 
we douhts were rad era setae& aome often 
enolonattleennOnsdentedcot-toneegolawae non 
manta - d would an the purchees de. Nee*. 
anon etcetera n d,a word to an pre am ult.. 
dosed dorm at is male Nang ages in AIrsa a 
nnotexed to toad is. a gar* a al la .ye 
has a OM canna erne ions corfaceree area It 
▪ also atoned the MO' octet coma m be fn.* 
enfant en Ns *ye and Ms vved is own done nee to 
londe omen dantona ' 

fete wino erne De Beers far Vie towel leenn 
nine tuarnments Of intanank Nita Old South Ara 
Pa Si law pans a saious mop ha de wad renewal 
anon nanny Wire Is to mend to wen n& nowt, 
emolument and prosper*, in thesa, the three most 
successful economies in Atria It needs to be borne  

.ndardlyn nod dr *nom bowl an reliable inteby 
fine relent naa rethe valso darer& fee a 
conflict area at no More than 3.3s per Cent of world 
Peelnation wew.wa Wawa.. Wanda and keen Airla 
Produce sewn half of world production by IMO, 
Itespounta Wean paranoia a also Olaf the 
orderly mining of diamond, under transparent and 
nla &neer* reneres non ply an irtertant role 

Vre seconstruden of those *inn main me as 
Sarre Leone an may tan  by  toisatt. OnOnne 
neatens Dither wok-bort no metier loot net could 
&annum an hooted cote al mama De Beirowailt 
bar. wonted clown witti bon ex United Nations and 
the US State Deparswent n WON ewe se nnolve the 
"carnet dheronds".hane is alto thing to habttabna 
on Wm &morns Mn eke a  role St Naas  Orono Of 
*non VW world armee no as enerwew. 
Nonni and See Mita - the danced on cornea to to 
a retro rigned foe %Tryon. bate potpie... nine Y. 
to she man* etebe dap* mazer de err 
span andweari *ha& 

In pianos' the Imp of Al demona De Been Wit 
oantinue Mn to peon in ono rano and is team proltel 
anima amass elle bew Mon dna oar**, 
cotta Wary n Ow 21st can 

Our thanks to a superb team 

Mee end allhe Sot teens De Leers as gootento 
these rata of es executive seam wilh a centined 
eve to the Dap dna as OOP as. Cate ate 
ended a Ime and &lingua* urea with De Bean as 
&Wee Directon Canada end Jeremy Kenn who am 
Cats of Ise Carnes Waging Diann** ach a 
loy and &Me role a mama wisaliiimwe fir 
efilmorlds. has WO mire fan the baud Beim Parley 
and as Dena olOperatiuse wie did iron 31 March 
30013 Yen* b leader* gam** much ad. 
I on pleased Pa 4th sae on she tad as a non 
martin &anon Care avers ha ben appointed 
Dna of Opwatens in hi &ease° welcome Paw 
Sorra& the bad of De Bares Coweiteed Miles a 
°ennead Ronan plan bud led and 
natl. eortomv *fey to Deena grange wellorge* 
arenas to le Inge slat Oa Moan and Ow dedkaion 
a al We rah fora 

*Cita COMP-EIMER 
31 Mach 2003 



if MI iii! III! I;Pi§ 
41 1 ii IP' 141 !Ili Ililli 
ff! ‘ " 110  WI 41ii iTA 
IIP 

4 i  !I ill 14 111 ii111; 

IS PO Sit Iii  07 !Oil 

1„,  1? -ti /IP ni 
! 1 li li  PI lif ilie 

i St 0 ill  I! iill 
I 

Itii Wit!  11111 iiiii PP 
1141 iiiIii 1 1 11 I In'  iffg  

iii 11,111 ili Fr ii Ili 
ilf OW tr DUI plil h 
iir
i  1110 it  04 !Oil 

Hi hg ii gh iu 
_ AO rero..............„........ .. „ 
• 

Wii Mil IN IIIIIII 
141 liill 11 !Oi  ff 
Os gl; Pp 11 
li 
 it of !-; 'Ai._ it 

Pli nli 4/  diA 1  11  
Igt qt le .41i1 

iil III ht till 

Illig! illilli 11111i I 

WIWI iiill ' lilli 

Iiiil i !iv 1  lilt; 
1 14 1  1111 I Iv 
ii  lig 3 !Old 



combined combined 

'61461 	56 011 9631 . 10314 '  

366 • 501016665(11Nd 46 we 6r 	' 

393 	384 

1754 	974 
1434 	161c 
1138 	166c 

JO 	%%tad 	.4mIn of 6564 634 466(431626) 

Sbi 	 4041 
4091 

ON per161361 
 

6194 	14664 T06160 
9191. 	1151c Hooke 

-5— 

• 

ION 
masa

mr /199 

19N6 33 710 - 14111464146243166111564061-1336541435 

I SO 
2750 	TN. 146046415 N m a 
101 	Cari learrw 

•13117 
21076 
..........—............. 

SR 
33 IN 	' 661:445 

- 
 

3810
16264 sag Nauss, 
1835 34N 74461.36446:064 

(1 639) 5 177 Demme 0n4reme) 6 6072 	• 
566344(.6656,3601 363 

303 
NS 
336 

4624516.45 

666 
7 131 

)15 
I 117 

546966 Nmion cons 

776 
3144443.165636tur• ,.7 	1:113 644166461menic 

369 . 511 	0  606•1067 

341  4 793 	144141146.416466441 

1316 
4336 

 NI 	156)3544Cr464e 
• 159 , 	219 	Intarest 649.46 	' 6119 

50103 en misaconaltsd6446. 
•513 491 	and imetrn4no 	 . 

4439 
1 139 

6340 
- 	$71 64.44. 

516 
-47 

IN 
411 11 	73446.66362:64736411641465110n5 

3331 sou 	tdotimmelmforo 
1005 1110 Tan 

2735 1311 	144/14,064 NNW* 

sr 

2 	
23/5636133 on 0/5644(NANN  

2 070 
• r 	339  

74166616.546.16665466454•66636 	 .• 1526 	Im 
• " 331 (143) 	115. 	ExceNon6 and recntralig 	

$ 5 •  3 413 	3111 136.166 4.61166) 	
.60 

414.164 	 • 
146 Wier 6233444.4 64•441440.1446•61646 

00) 	(04) and 34.5461663447 2066434 	 '03 IN 	. ata  66.0144414441446.4ridn96rn) clan.* corn6460 	5539 - 	'33  3529 	5 NI µraw amity 
639  

916 
16 

.5512 	3-516 
631 	NS 
311 	343 

6237 	6155 

61 	54 
IN 	110 
IN 	303 
III 	140 
a 	72 

WI. 

146 
'II 	19 

16 	105 

sea 

3136 	1911 
564 514 

P33) 
17 66 

5•666 =WINN 

57 	53911 	753 	INN unit holderi inenss 	 6114 	9896 

76 	91 Frefe642637 0004e 5•51341ders 6504:34 541 
415 

1111 	10344 • 6. 4,4 	
9343 

6010 	

nuineemee 

	

511 	
NI' 	1 016 

	

ttod. 	 ...._

4,114,3
3,3

16 

2 300 	1313 

75931 	NM 

61 
514437601 NW* 
3105¢4465.42 

): 
0.6646 

. 	 1177 hems  

	

PO 	IN CEA 

O 	 '52.55111.42 rrellt 	es 5
I  144 

	

311 	NS 5  

	

516 	503 7 

•Bezt 61051' Ifiettateitaferbolletwomo. 
Oireeursholiodtsefltwastmon. .4.19o$ 	II 543 
Camlemismodratretuttawelon 

Noettaltdo 
2tak Netsetyttrwiki!‘""' 

NPI 	4353 

2302 	1569 

140 	415 

162 	10739 
NON 

IMO 	27111 	laN 430 mama= Niles 

INCOME STATEMENT 
attributable to De Beers linked units 

16014 poor MO 

415164111 111•1•••• 
ton 	wee 

BALANCE SHEET 
awibutoble to De Beers linked unift 

31 0•24.64 HI 

WWI* 
IMO 	1991 

1 



combined 

ION 

attributable 

TINT 
11119 

NINON 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
to De Beers linked unite 

Ne Nor me 

IN TONT 
1990 

ONTO. 
5811 	Nat Nang NEN LINN 3 331 14/3 57 

457 146 	Nob eaNNers 11 57 
(3574 (3413) 	GINN& aeliebna 

(5661 (4113) 465) 5 Ill 	5.` ue= (612266)'11 11199̂ 6 	tla 131 061) 13 Tome) cleoesin Nes irel NTT (1() 
(143) -  3 90

0
0
3) 	

Nerene (32421)11 WorION9bl 105 (35) 
(N.) 9 IN 	Gell6eneeeNNT••412922120.2 1 532 (177) 2670 3114 	C6ANNseNed 6411 411 
(34 (IT) TIN T*(NT 

09) 
(1 2333 (10251 	1-3313211 033 Pete (331) 

433 12 IT 	4•14•03111e04e41oufte* 1W7 70 
Imotageorleo 

LS 	PrcorNp6tareleNeeN1 34 70 
1111  10 	• 37 
617 930 	Ca12211102126•TNINN.019.. 151 	• 1313 

a 	steseoest000t 
1001 

12168) 
ot ton 	03•TeNIncros1612N-NerneduNn92161.2 
0 Ng 	004/1163  ON) 

(7493 479 
.(433) 

440 no) , c•fi ora al) re.:+ 0.•••••=velm, osto Tr 
243 

111c 3 1010 ONNITN12,42ININNINN 

ta 

Ito 
Mom Teller( WINN boNnes 001316690 rail. 1:11)0.6 

repo temistoOtototetOexattoonootereol Nokias 

combined  

19N 

DIVIDENDS 
attributable to De Beers linked units 

reereer 1990 

mesa 	 MTN= 
199P 	 097 	191 ,4 

03 443 	Ineriv IN 107 
114 1917 	RN 312 302 
1 812 ' 1ST 	TN 417 3139 
163.50 16376 NTT 7/01 DSc 
2062c ITN NO• Th 5320 
47000 646.3e NeXT( unk 105.1k ION 
NON NIN N1id 616651210ere 70.10 47136 

19060 
11200m16.0 Si swel 02.02Te633209169es (161.127 

2I5.31 NeTNNTNN6165 250 Tac 
0600(c 125 	(1 I.52 AN 23225 ma (3292 

47066 614.10 	Per Irilttl Li* ITN 0220 

combined 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN UNKED UNIT HOLDERS' INTERESTS 

N toe year 1999 

0,11•••• 
2112 

UT TNT 
1951 

Ncee 
&tamable toottootte 2.92.2012 

Ttral 76.6 adpeMT maw 1313,313 

51 914 Neve 2996.22 662.1eN 164 122 3 323 4 751 

Adeskeisds Trete TOO= 

1 251 
0111. in =wry exclume 
Nes an) (7) (If) (66) 

Atooetwo wee:ova of demo 
intleonp'Medd1Y 	• 

otosamommo mama 
-0741 ceenNIN psi (411 

LINN (Ns NAN) 6erms 
120221126.61.• TN. 	• .. 

ITT NO INN ITN ITT* 

	

nrminneNnarN Newts 	• 
447 in No CSONNTo 

U4mlae6•22IN4N111.6 2.011  
354 orrency NITIR 41 

Nos 422239 61•11N4 
2.2.2they 	T9N121 
22Tanleg Trete 21.191612 

1102 • Nue= 	a.622121N (11T (511) 

7 ANT oen. mow 

4 III (3an NT. 616 

RelaNI NT. cal 
1 601 monks 2“ 266 

TraTT 31 01) 

(154% C2•1310313•1 Wed vas (417) 1413) 

51 34 Nee N relaf29,22 1731 • NV 3 461 446 



approval of 
combined financial statements 

5511 SIC 
34 

614. 	431 
931 	431 

GOMM 
0/seOr 

Heaven 
as 

combined financial statements 

The cambia Irma maroon No On wooled 
OI Wit t an *nes So to 0004 NO o 
Oa. into 1314-AGnoo 
The blowne *aim Ion ion meek 
- Ye 13001 wool InesOnnt Flo MPG nip 
- Si. par of the COCAG onfo's nenn10  ad 

i.Anim*4 mSts D01114 pop 
- *fond omen awes aid WA* 
lla onnersionsion US DOOM 9an4 mod *eons 
Fre non elk* • Woe 
- combined — and opoOng IS two For Po 

year a the wenn*. M. ill the tre. 
- i one noon 0N. ser mime. 

a Dees. idol nit condom one de red One 
13501 nol one depontary reenOt nand lo 

Canal Deposlird AG. Dom woe 399 60 6.93 
Sid Ws In ina all Downer 1399 asnoned 
Olt 311304 OS et 31 Downy 1910.11411wanne 
canories 13 993 966 lenlool nits suo4 in port 
ponentfernerteninin Omni InknolelnllsCSO 
novo** SI 900•41ontons Mud Moro oldie 
01041nendie San. 

Net am ohm has been NNW* using marlat 
*in far Al Veld inammet ale divaort vakacos 
Se a olind neadons.lie moos does when 
oder nee torn,/ *Es with Y atibulatle onide 
Ovnicnieron sbilerlatas ear noldd 

combi'ned 
SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS 

Os••••• 

Te mooned Kral nanonno 	worm ma 115awEs 1 weal try Si rystatnits tools of lone 
on we area ones WOO,  

33411 
331 
11S 

113 
106 

MS Clonal moot . 
Tin among. 
617 TOO ON Olio 
OP Hoolhoonill 

71.14.2C0a 7.1•110010 

report of the 
independent auditors 

10 5. tas of 	 "cox (110:01*.11ite accomrpolites 500 l 
Ow hen Sala) - 	 be noon. ornal irarod mounts end as set at en 

/he nwem OV 
We Iva parmed ambiewd Ina fategrema fa,  the 
par NOM 31 Doan* 1999 so anon ingo 1091  a C

lag, 
 L  

Thal. Astemenla in an annamion of Needed 	• 
canoilatol aid *mil mono oft** De neon 
Con•Olidated Mae 61110.0d row WO tie DI Seen 
Centeno, AG raw arid Ivo too oerand on In On,  
moon oe notes Owe. 	 13Orins do Golan 

O our opinion Ono moment, fairi 	,he 	Ida.% 
tornlinal ran for the yea coal 31 Dale1,99 
ad de maned irdrl podbpri 1St Sate of Be no 	7nn= 

OWIm nr,G441,10.4*,  
rw 

791000 2003 

notes to the 



,•.i. 	.• MOP. ppgiaiam •••,!..*P•P•V 90 91 wa, amooroaa.0 
II20F•292.21)92•212942•9212.2),FFFe, 4 

2e2.1.eMP.41045.44.0831•1 4121,4910110,11.MPNL 12 05 411.2 .4.5 • 
OLT 	Mt 	82 	 tr• 	221 

95Z 	ILL 	 +Mr 

Irv. 	
. Dt 

KO I- 	.MII 	116 	WI 	6CI 1 	¢1 	 ml 	1041 	C101 
91, 	1a 	IC 	IC 	FA 

	
011 	162 	ACC 

RP 
	

0222F1 
MIFF, 

MCC 
	

FLIF 
LM 
	 2.122,1 

255 
	

116 
	

Wall 
,X6 
	

Sn 
	 ow") 

ilea or Amp. 

•.9.v
.7.. , 	.417  - 	...,,..„ 

...-,..,....., 
MY 	ZIA 0 	 ..60 11 
On 	al I 	 0y06 

welys.ad, 

942 	DI2 • 	7  Ha 
1121 	HO I 	al 

Ala 	21t 	C1+1 
OH 	HE 	7  • 10 

1.91S 
ea 

MI 

1241 	FOE 4. 
598  

Sal 
DE 	42 

-t 

MEE 	01292 	HO& 	2/1:5 	=01 	Salt 
22 01 	12 11 	 OHM 	2221 	CH 21 

2,...11214 	T1F: 

O * 

09)1 	121 	911 	101 	116 	e91 
201 	151 	21 	IC 

095 	/161 	6992 	1¢t 	221 	425 
SY 	016 	121 	115 	 018 

10221 	2621 	11.6 CI 	CMQ 	0122 	w 
Fe 2 	2192 	029 	21 I 	r)L 

849 	1CI 	0511 	MOH 	ED 51 	8202 
2022 	621 	MC' 	KI1 	CD 2 	ED 1 

061 	MII 	2241 

•S711SIIVI5 1V1,NYNII 

01E4 
620.1 

9I1) 
20E1 

k • 
210 1 

102E 
NC! 

CC 
29 

Inc 
119 

WI 
1911 

His 

121109.1 
eefFn 
24222211 

1.22•22i 

12.111121)21 
eFFI 
0111221 

leel 
81242),F 	. 

8.141121 
sou 6182 1611 611,  F0-1111 
11111 119 21 2.12211 

Fel•Fe 
Vrt:411.3:-.;,  7 .:, 

•= : 
vin pkrm ...d 

i 

82 02 89699 16829 MOM •Fleee 
20 Si 651E1 6201 

• 
21211 1111/224 

Fate 
purFamFN 

221 1) 1211 ED FYI Forel, 
(0 TA In 1211.12 1 

019092OFF.12.2oF0 
11206 9i00 lag 912 2.3.221 
118 

110 SE 

911 

2922 

IF 

[MK 

OP 

MD 

Fleet 
FIFIFIFFrple Fw, 

F1111211 
IF 1 621 626 04011 ••1.5 

FLFFN.L.Leer 
FF4,11.2.29  

FII21991....FL• 
200 2 165 12 11222 MK FLIF11 
ED 2 622. 9122 12111 eFFut 

--ICI 

9661 teal 1161 61{1 

.011911115 7VIJNI/Nli 

peulgulo poutquia, 



fincineci resu!zs 2 

combined 

resift 

combined 

I refend*re to the conga Iona gm* 

Eaminp  

After admiring roe Income attribataPle to outside 
dendriklein in sbeetrril4 rim corm. Arta mar* 
31 December 1999 for De Beers Consolidried Mines 
LLeINe (00015 and De Beam Gamow/ AC 22W-7G) 
MOM manor 1751.115 cants aerie* wigwam le per 
cent NOE,  Pm Put fora* Fredace meg of WO moan r 
97 US *Pm 1100d ut 

105 net <41711n0.1141601 Mobiles reedned earimp of 
enodariAwsre 61 pr ase 140,45952 milona-20 US 
ones pritramil int 09904617 Winn cc 161 USeenri per 
friesd tatty 

Rankled Gringos of mooted comparing. comprise 
aarringe horn car* trettMg of 3131 n011an (1991: 
5236 ninon) end *Oda dei norttracAN erirerge of 
US Haan (1590 loom twat matt. 

Air *Ong for oar duce .tee ehe-trit ne.s. 
o Me meow of feed Merin and ineselMenet *flora 
made agent Ireedririnla rid loam Ind gm ricer* end 
nakbedng gems of moodeted criimanlembeedine erisMIS 
Anmeted 5030 mark or 213 US mos per tried* 
0995 0639 make or N6 US ants petribliecO. 

Dividends 
Combined gnaldaiderriscloNied by136Cialne DOCAG 

*a* 79 LS oats pea ietit ren100M 'noosed 
fug mei% &bends of 105,1 U5 cenh primed unt 

Trim% Odd* from COCM heritage imeesed 
431 SA 00.6 per Mod deferred Mare from 203 SA Nos 
bri mem and DOCAG dridords far the year Nee hew 
kryllitdb 350 VS owls per dePerinetrmorirt 990329  
US tee} 

In Rand tones. It the exchange rate •preedling on 
31 December 1999, carted dividend& frie the year 
grimed by Si pen at an HU SA one per bind ink 
0990 000 Si on* per fried unit). 

Diamond accoutre 

The arribined den* rip* el* • Apr ant 
increase to 9791 /Olen, in Rand min the combined 
rimmed amount Mom* km95 onelo106 791 sr* 

The diModnin mating to Pie upon of &monde 
ciperionced by De Seers in SosolcIdica dring the eater 
ese,...oemeed old eon eserenomfinft 
friend six inorrim 

investment income 

kriesaytent income dedeand 6. Ail niacin rnairib as 
rent id. dim in dridend trio* from Ando Ainerian 
me frit to or 1999 dcsa so the cheme M DeamMer 
Min *penes mar end. and Si.. to the imp. of re- 
orgerininiare 	toll, 0. Owe and Ando Arnadeen. 
The Mang change. rid affect 1999 only with a nornml 
dridend afoul prim" bring re-ristabfahed dm 2003 
cetera Wide *ant income *amid by 12 tram to 
$36 mYfnn intedast paid dear* by 513 mglion to 
570 melon 

Expenditure 
Prispentrig and march 1:410.46.11,0, NiA l• IrdIded 

its• Awned arimidn, so 5115 Pillion ries 515 crane 
lonarsritn balmy. 

Income before taxation 

Net itzne before 3401011 vas 59 per can hyena 
stta mho. vitt seat /awn. opera tan 4.3. 
Maenad ton SI 92 millan 91 1999 to 1115 NV= in 1999. 
ea Marne der tan *mod m $225 nibs compried 
with fri20 dam in 1996 

Diamond stocks 

Dimond stocks et 31 December 1999 drimemeil by 
19 percent to S3967 mitre. Nriortgledin MI 916 melon 
at 31 December 1990 

Liabilities and current 052000 

Long- and medium-term eabillti.l deriemed by 
Vol trim lo5616 mints net anent arifeseeraried 
by SIRS Inillon to 5165 million, resoluta In an overall 
Incerableetrive 049944 ^ON' 

limesensena 
One marled value of fried armaments Moused to 

$1011 nevi ion $9 553103100 lag Mr retracting ine 
main Om dore price dap Arneriariftria dlimricad 
VIJI/Ati011 of unlisted investments including unlirtod 
bade hriestmente *asp! to 32 202 million Gam 
51 569 minion, Net met vane per linked unit at 
31 Canty inneasedle 50117 (1996$33.0x4  

01ARIONDONOONOLPITS 
WAS effect from 1100 1999. DBC11 *keel the 

remaining minifiesIntorects in the diamond trading 
oxYlanles n mops 

id 
 for WWas of 13 993 966 

De Orin tried ale nil 0101 mine In eash D0001,11 
amcdepried 	lat* the off* drinosetrireing 
caripinies m DOCAG n mrthenge for the issue by Ice 
pop 44199361 Centenary trim eridurinem a 976 100 
dimalay *pm 

The marring of the tons b Mu DOOM Wang Mine 
DOCAG soap *seed se 11.3 per oda end Pe rein 
Pedro bade became mtrolO-ordrimi adrildianes of 
De 9* 

Meg 1999. C1/301 KO red. Rs ft bibtitittd. 
the 	•21.3 	t 	AnyksymallYnbigbittlint 
(AVIIIN)at • fa ofR3500 Per 	 'cab' 
eon o f awaken* is 
awt:a mad die Seem Primal* Nana. oom-
**tom riritmg orinerimp oforikoriesirimessam 

ettwatt 50 pc cent ate patw, 
by 

 of teVensta 
mina throAM a myrity payment nude by D9CM Weary 
rieriontle. 

Following thin acoullitiotr In imr 20* Dtr09  
nagirerisuMerito ortano*Mca.AVMMM1 973 PO .0  
badM Saturnine R3,7 Wham in oriblOIChlaho monied 
AVNINk. 20 per cent interest in f insce Diamonds 
LtrrneirkririM Linked NAlrb effectively *tee to en 40,t 
per card pole partleamtron in Pe fide mine) for a rioh 
*de* of MO Naas 

MOO skrigrineriariy mired the ftrifd00•1  don't 
of Its lcideg of 23378 MS NIMMI ortinn9 dem A *PM. 
ollble.03 mash. ,bekngal,1321fOon WYNNE-dole 
brasiers net mimed no MCI arta oaten connedio 
sharrisalders a( *IN. 

1311C91 Iris also made an offer to Industrial and 
Cameral Haatp u..tat. apte ok. 125 lie' Nia• 
Ward in Seam at an *gem price so Pit prink.. for 
MriaN9 EMS per cent Mt* 

further demi 0190 riteoe tame* cat be kind in 
MD* entltled Irrmernonsbeinrina. pp EV. 

11019-01AAIONDINVIOTPARIPS 
De Nem announced 19911that fiddler ratronallerion 

of la noncom ninemlemond patio ea Cabo careidried. 
During I999.a member oltrokfrigs Mnomcorrinamlernmal 
aserie wrie depoodioNeristroa nooks of fiel melon 

Cash flaw 

operaring nab boy Pr ant a for in. me. 
ended 31 Decanter 1999 kw 5011.6 ceracconerired rah 
ID US arm brake year sal 31 December 1991S 

Year 2000 compliance 

M 1992 beds she 131931 mei 06CAG ,riona anberlang 
in prop.* to nritinke Me pommel Irmi. a MOM, 
1000 ®le elerh ma here * train bon * rd 
extern] meter; toe programmes sonardad 04 Wm 
remand bet praintiotrri* doribmoNtred beam 
.109K m awed let oldeedne [Ma 

No denoilermo de ovuml embrace was ennotritereel 
es • rata of de for 1033 boom and tee's a ism 
isiggeon be am after tat& P.6e b.iit bbctit 

i
n

t.
mleeafy*04 y *04 

itep re bens bibt corittan to bent. • 
m cruse-MA no ire* &e we. moor.. e‘m 

mlifirnenteed acOmo 'ftrtr Ve 
leek tam 

Moan* by the w coifs. **Orin. prerenves 
arnadrial eprivriretrip 593 mien (11.56n* 



PROSPECTING 
we employ some BOA:Bed geologets and 
use slate-okhe-arttecInolcco in the search 
he demand deposes 

MINING & RECOVERY 
Ven are terraria leader in donor.] 
reining and reonnery tedricheS0Poltre 
20 mine, that togelher annao. 0.01  
harem world. gee tan-ads  by ace 

e5 SORTING,VALUATION 
& SIGHTS 
Oar &mond sorting oporatoos based 

Denberlea Loaders Gaborone and 
Windhoek sort and value nacah gem 
&mends horn erode/Ade surces.Tinay are 
sold at 10"seerro" a yea-to more than 110 
dents. rower fun the main atone heaves 

CUTTING & 
POLISHING 
Our RIO darision carries out continuous 
research ea° charmed technoloD 

POUSHED MARKET 
De Bee, min* dose mewl each 
major polished dellen and whelesaiers 
lie orcan reamed wares 

JEWELLERY 
MANUFACTURE 
Wet 	&mond l000ko2 dn410  
and work closely with err prows in the 
*sugary wade to create effective marketing 
000Petre 

RETAIL 

We Wool teeing *we*" he inaneaDa 
el* leveler* of diamonds 

CONSUMERS 
We promote demand jeweBOT  oar sow 
of the arrival indoor, *our ar.naerec 
in 26 ontrarito 



Cnm 116 0%116.7 I 

1.666.4 II 

CUMIN [I,  111.51., u/m11,.1 
C. 4.150,14 

'00  

14.1 

Jn 1.1,1111 ,F 

c• Dow., ••)•..••EILA,II•I 

eorsnUNL C.71-,311.• .1111. 
• • r i 	, 

Min.nCCrr, NFL I, 

6. 6,6,6r "I",  'I',  

kriar, 

pn 
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review 
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expiorction 

Strategic refocus combined with 
progress. on several key projects 
on four continents 
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Mineral resources and reserves under 
the management of De Beers and its 
affiliates 
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review of operations 
mining and recovery 

Continued
.  

review of operations 

minerni resources and reserves 
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review of operations 
mineral resources CPI d reserves 

continued 

review of operations 
health and safety 
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health and safety 
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review of operations 
heGIth and safety 

continued 

review of operations 

hecith and safety 
continued 

Surveillance at all mines 
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review of-operations 

environment 
review of operations 

er2vironment 
continued 

Setting high environmental standards 

We minithise the impact  
of our mining activities 
on nature 

South Africa 

ISO 14001 certification for 
all divisions 
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environment 
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review of operations review of operations 

human resources human rezources 
continued 

Several key initiatives 
underway 

Equal opportunities drive launched 
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remuneration and rewards 
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Customer excellence and 
best practice the main focus areas 
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Sales up S7 per cent to a 
record USK24 billion 

Seto 

Diamond sales sharply up after 
fall in 1998 
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Rare l diamond market 

Action on excess supply pays off 
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Strong US market and Asian 
recovery also help 
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Diamonds sourced from 
around the world 
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Sorted, valued and raised for sale 
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Agreement with Russia helps 
- stabilise market 
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African countries 
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Continued 

Millennium maMeting campaign  

A successful, industry-
wide marketing exercise 
that capitalised on the 
year 2000 

Millennium campaign a great success 
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United States and Europe 
the main focus 
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US. Europe and India 
particularly buoyant 
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Modest growth in Asia 
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Stepping up marketing activity 
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Sales of industrial diamonds 
remain constant, but 
product innovations 
promise more 

Diamonds play key role 
in industrial applications 
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Sales up in polycrystalline 
products 
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Further product innovations 
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Increased capital expenditure 
for new technologies 
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Global research network 
impacts on all facets of the 
value chain 
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DebTedy Johannesburg 

Provides De Beers with 
technology, research and 
development 

Exploits latest scientific and 
engineering advances in mining 
and recovery 
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World-first in automation 
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New, low-cost X-ray recovery 
machine commissioned 
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Research into extraction and sorting 
efficiencies 

liessIn ter* ito i nom Ars inahods 
the moony and sortirg adenoid, from lento-ft one 
The foto eme on more eddied cotellectire electrode 
nowery odd.. ard cn Ono hydestetc sepintier Ww 

nologello Yew W. also it edoneed own of enginewng 
kr sawed roomy appliodona 



review of operations 
corpcivte citizenship 

review of operations 
reseorch Gnd development 

contlni.d 

Audits:  evaluations and studies 
performed 
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X-ray scanner for 
Groom Schuur hospital 
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DebTech retains 
ISO 9001 certification 
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Focus on integrity of diamonds 
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New generation of sorting machines 
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Diamonds 'branded' with De Beers 
marque 
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Dc Beers 'Hourglass' selling well 
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De Beers donates over 
• 1170 million 

We committed over 
3.9 per cent of our combined 
dividends to community 
investment worldwide 

This contribution is high by world 
standards 
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Helping to strengthen civil 
society 

We made over 500 grants in 
areas ranging from education 
and welfare to wildlife and 
sport 

Fund spends R41,4 million 
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Anglo American plc formed 
and listed in London 

Acquisition of strategic 
stake in AVMIN 

Diamond trading companies 
become wholly-owned 
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directors' responsibility in relation to statutory report of 
financial statements the .!h'ectors 
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....-PRODUCTION 

1998 

Metric tons 
treated 

1997 

Carats. 
recvntred 

1998 	1997 

Carats per 100 
metric tons 

1998 	1997 

Hrsch 3 969 000 3 739 000 2 165 060 2 225 779 54,5 59,5 

Kimberiey 4 170 000 3 792 000 682 924 612 160 16,4 16 

Kin 2 302 000 2 058 000 '158 392 136 179 6,9 6,6 
Namaqualand 6 069 000 5 701 000 768 480 796'219 12,5* i3,13' 
Premier 3 058 000 3 203 000 1 391 670 1 452 055 45,5 45,3 

Venetia 3 326 000 3 414 000 4 495. 489 4 336 190 135,2 127 0 

TOTAL 22 894 000 21 907 000 9 558 582 

• The rode cokulotion excludes 7 758 =trots (1997:8 571 cants) prodwed by surf zone contmccors. 

REVIE•W OF OPERATIONS 
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of the flood, the road to the Buff-els Marine 
Complex (BMC) was washed away and no access 
was available for four days. At the Buffets Inland 
Complex (BIC), ore could not be transported 
from the mining area to the treatment plant for .  
five weeks. 

Overburden stripped increased by 1 193 000 
tons to 23 935 000 tons, of which 47 per cent was 
stripped by, the dragline operating on a two-shift 
basis, 42 per cent by shovel and articulated dump 
truck, and 11 per cent by the 631 scraper fleet. 

At the BMC, where 4 196 000 tons were 
treated, including tailings re-treatment and 
contractor mining, the AK3 plant continued 
operating on a single-shift basis, with Tweepad 
plant on three shifts. 

At . the Koingnaas Complex (KNC), the 
Koingnaas and Micheils Bay plants operated on a 
two-shift and single-shift basis respectively, treating 
a total of 1 210 000 tons. 

At the BIC, 295 000 tons of ore was treated at 
the Langhoogte plant on a double-shift basis. 

Continued efforts to improve efficiency resulted 
in tons per man year improving by five per cent 
over the record achieved in 1996. Further 
initiatives arc planned to increase efficiency, 
including in-field screening at the BMC in order 
to remove waste fines prior to ore hauling and 
treatment, and in-field scalping at the KNC, in 
order to remove oversize waste from the ore. 

PREMIER MINE 
H G Gastrow - General Manager 

Underground production at Premier was sourced 
from the BA5 mechanised block cave, the BB1 
East undercut and, to a lesser extent, the old 
L2 block. Mining in the LI block ceased in early 
1997 owing to resource depletion. 

110 000 tons were re-treated from the old 
tailings dump compared with 336 000 tons 
in 1996. 

Salvage operations in the old L blocks and 
infrastructure development in the BB 1 East block 
cave continued throughout the year. 

The pre-feasibility study to assess the viability of 
a further block cave was sufficiently encouraging 
to warrant a similar assessment of the viability 
of modernising the treatment plant and of com-
mencing sampling of the resource below the 
Current production horizons. 

With a view to upgrading skills and competence 
levels, considerable effort was devoted to adult 
education, performance management and career 
pathing initiatives. 

Outsourcing of all non-core activities continues 
to benefit the mine. Most residential properties in 
the village of Cullinan have been transferred into 
private ownership, and negotiations for the transfer 
of municipal services have commenced with the 
local authority. Cullinan continues to be a popular 
destination for local and overseas tourists and a 
number of small and medium sized enterprises have 
been established in response. 

VENETIA MINE 
H R Rood - General Manager 

At Venetia mine, the recovered grade de-
creased marginally as a result of additional 
treatment of lower grade K6, K7 and K10 
kimberlites intersected in the waste cuts of 
the K1 pit. 

Of the lcimberlite mined, 2 853 000 tons were 
sourced from the K1 pit, 310 000 tons from the 
K2 pit and 251 000 tons from the other kimber-
lices.W2Ste stripping amounted to 9 001 000 tons 
from both the K1. and K2 pits compared with 
7 927 000 tons fur 1996. 

The environmental review completed during 
the year has identified further environmental 
objectives which will be addressed in 1998. It is 
intended to gain ISO 14001 accreditation towards 
the end of 1999. 
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1997 1996 199-1‘" 1996 

METRIC TONS 
1997 	1996 

Finch 3 739 '600 3 550 000 2 225 779 2 072 785 59,5 58,6 

Kimberley 3 792 000 3 278 000 612 160 561 024 16,1 17,1 

Koaefontein 2 058 000 1 913 000 136 179 137 643 6,6 7,2 

Namaqualand 5 701 DOO 5 337 000 796 219 706 548 13,8* 13,0* 

Premier 3 203 000 3 266 000 1 452 055 1 618 248 45,3 49,5 

Venetia 3 414 000 3 341 000 4 336 190 4 283 929 127,0 128,2 

Thtal 21 907 000 20 685 000 0 9 386 177 

* The grade calculation excludes 8 571 carat: (1996: 10 921 rows) prad.rd by surf zone rontbacturs 
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

At Dutoitspan mine a relatively high grade core of ore 
of some 300.000 tons, located within the low grade 
Dorstfontein ore body, has been identified for mining by 
means of the vertical crater retreat method. It is 
envisaged that the successful employment of this mass 
mining method may pilot the way to a future method of 
exploiting large volumes of low grade underground ore 
reserves located within the Kimberley mines. 

Attention is being given to finding economic means 
of re-opening the Kamfersdam mine and to the retreat-
ment of dump material, as a way of extending the life of 
the Kimberley operations, whose underground mines on 
present plans are due to close shortly after the turn of 
the century. The underground mine plans also continue 
to be under regular review. 

KOFFTEFONTEIN MINE 

Production was lifted by 138 000 tons over the 1995 
figure in order to compensate for the lower-than-
expected recovered grade during the first nine months of 
1996. 

Tonnage was sourced from the 290, 320 and 370 metre 
levels using blast hole open stoping and sub-level caving 

• mining methods. Development tunnelling amounted to 
4 056 metres and included infrastructure for the front 
cave mining method. 

The front cave on the 480 and. 490 metre levels 
reached the vertical slot position during the year in 
preparation for the start of undercutting during 1997: 

Also in the Free State, plans are in hand to commence 
bulk sampling of the Jagersfontein dumps early in 1998, 
with a view to the establishment on these dumps of a 
commercial retreatment operation. Sampling will start 
shortly on the dormant Voorspoed mine with a view to 
reassessing •the economics of bringing •it back into 
production. 

NAMAQUAIAND MIMES 

Overburden stripped increased slightly to 22 742 000 
tons, of which 45 per cent was carried out by the drag-
line operating on a two-shift per day basis, 44 per cent 
by shovel and articulated truck and the balance by the 
traditional scraper method. 

The increased throughput in 1996 amounting to 
1 960 000 tons was attributable to the re-opening at the 
Buffels marine complex of the Tweepad plant which 
resumed production at the start of 1996 with three shifts 
per day. The AK 3 plant reduced operations from a two-
shift basis to a single-shift operation in order to make its 
lifespan equal to that of Tweepad. 3 837 000 tons of ore 
were treated at the complex to achieve a total produc-
tion (including tailings re-treatment, contractor mining 
and prospecting) of. 280 634 carats, of which Tweepad 
contributed 127 098 carats. The production grade of the 
complex was 7,2 carats per 100 tow. 

The lower overall grade is also the direct result of the 
volume of production that came from the treatment of 
low-grade ore at the Tweepad plant. 

At the Koingnaas complex, the Koingnaas and 
Michells Bay plants operated on a two-shift and single-
shift basis respectively, treating a total of 1 1% 000 tons 
of ore. Including contractor operations and prospecting, 
output reached 392 307 carats at an average grade of 
32,1 carats per 100 tons. 

At the Buffels inland complex, 305 000 tons of ore 
were treated at the Langhoogte plant on a double-
shift basis. This produced 33 606 carats at a grade of 
11,0 carats per 100 tons. 

The main new development in 1996 was the re-
commissioning of the Tweepad plant.. During both the 
pre-production commissioning period as well as through-
out the year numerous modifications were made to the 
plant, aimed at improving productivity and security. 

PRODUCTION 

Finch 
Kimberley 
Koffiefontein 
Namaqualand 
Premier 
Venetia 

METRIC TONS 	 CARATS 

TREATED 	 RECOVERED 

	

1996 	1995 	 1996 	1995 

	

3 550 000 	3 496000 	2 078 785 	1 722 597 

	

3 218 000 	3 315 000 	561 024 	593 630 

	

1 913 000 	1 775 000 	137 643 	123 213 

	

5 337 000 	3 377 000 	706 548 	623 985 

	

3 266 000 	3 666 000 	1 618 248 	1 633 297 

	

3 341 000 	3 192 000 	4 2.83. 929 	4 353 419 

CARATS PER 100 

METRIC TONS 

1996 1995 

58,6 49,3 
17,1 17,9 

7,2 6,9 
13,0* 18,1• 
49,5 44,6 

128,2 136,4 

Total 	 20 685 000 18 821 000 .11.1*Ltifi' 9 050 141 

   

* The grade calculation ,c1win 10 921 carats (1995: I 1 839 carats) produced by serf1,771e contractors. 



REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

Sitfo v performance in terms of the NOSA grading 
improved by four per cent and the mine retained its 
NOSA Five Star grading after an unannounced audit in 
November 1995. The disabling-injury incidence rate of 
0,91 at the end of 1994 improved by 36 per cent to 0,58 
at the end of 1995. 

KIMBERLEY MINES 

As in previous years, production from the Dutoitspan 
mine came from the 870 metre blocit cave while 
Bultfontein mine's output was derived from both the 
845 metre block cave and the 720 to 750 metre rim 
loading section. At Wesselton mine, production 

continued from the 995 metre block cave, drift 
construction of which was completed during the second 
quarter of 1995. 

Tailings dump treatment continued throughout the 
year, with these sources providing 46 per cent of the 
total plant headfeed. 

The mining of debris dumps by a mining contractor 
continued during the year, with the treatment of 
577 000 tons at an average grade of 8,5 carats per 
100 tons yielding 48 935 carats. 

The disabling-injury incidence rate for 1995 was 0,70 . 
compared with 0,42 in 1994. 

KOFFIEFONTEIN NUKE 

Throughput at Koffiefontein mine increased by 
133 000 tons in response to a decrease in grade as a result 
of sidewall failure and a commensurate increase in waste 
dilution. Plant feed included 9 000 tons of surface 
material. Diamond production totalled 123 213 carats at 
an average grade of 6,9 carats per 100 rons. 

Production tonnage was derived from the 270, 290 
and 370 metre levels. Lateral development amounted to 
2 655 metres, mainly on the 290, 320, 370, 480 and 
490 metre levels. 

Regrettably, three disabling injuries were recorded as a 
result of which the disabling-injury incidence rate 
deteriorated during the year from 0,24 in 1994 to 0,32 in 
1995. However at the end of June, one million disabling 
injury free man hours were achieved. 

NAMAQUALAND MINES 

An increase of 6 300 000.  tons to 22 484 000. tons of 
overburden stripped during 1995, in preparation for 
the re-opening of the Tweepad plant, was achieved 
mainly by changing the dragline to a two-shift per day 
operation. 

At the Buffels marine complex, the AK3 plant 
operated on a two-shift basis, with the bulk sample 
plant operating on a single shift. From 1926 000 tons 
of ore treated, carat production, including tailings 
re-treatment, contractor mining and prospecting, was 
201 996 carats at. an average production grade of 
10,5 carats per 100 tons. Scraper stripping operated on 
a single shift and the dragline on two shifts per day. 

Tweepad plant was refurbished during the year in 
preparation for production to resume on three shifts 
per day in 1996. The AK3 plant will change to a one-
shift operation in order to equalise the lifespan of these 
two plants. The overall result is. that diamond 
production for 1996 is forecast to increase by some 
12 per cent. 

At the Buffels inland complex, 300 000 tons of ore 
were treated at the Langhoogte plant on a two-shift 
basis, which yielded 49 081 carats at an average grade 
of 16,4 carats per 100 tons. . 

At the Koingnaas complex, the Koingnaas and 
Michells Bay plants operated on a two-shift and single-
shift basis respectively, treating a total of 1 151 000 tons 
of ore. Carat production including contractor mining 

and prospecting was 372 908 carats at an average grade 
of 32,4 carats per 100 tons. 

PRODUCTION 

1995 

METRIC TONS 
TREATED 

1994 1995 

CARATS 
RECOVERED 

1994 

CARATS PER 100 
METRIC TONS 

1995 	1994 

Finsch 3 496 000 3 163 000 I 722 597# 2 253 448 49,3t 71,2 

Kimberley 3 314 000 3 311 000 '\693 630 595 128 17,9 18,0 
Koffiefontein 1 775 000 1 642 000 123 213 127 725 6,9 7,8 

Namaqualand 3 377 000 3 392 000 623 985 662 302 17,9* 19,1* 
Premier 3 666 000 3 665 000 1633 297 1 666 732 44,6 45,5 

Venetia 3 192 000 4 153 000 4 353 419 4 922 388 136,4 118,5 

Total 

t See text 

18 820 000 19 326 000 ,f 01,5O AO 227 723 

• The grade calculation excludes I I 839 carats () 994: 12 704 carats) produced by surf zone contractors. 
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drill• be sold inffividually-aisd 
could go for a total of more 
Man 12 million. 

The offerings are expected 
to attract verddwide Interest- Taskittlatitielirobe export& 
Toyota to build 
third battery plant 

Ivyola seye it's building' its 
tldrdidanthirlaPanforPredoc• 
iog'hattetles thet am key cora-
Dements ftelytrid vehicles. 

' 	Justiast Week it aimotmced 
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terTplent 
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Toyota said yesterday it 
planned to Keno the 81 toglion 
yispljuttliNityallizerectlim 
innortharn Japan. 

• ;• • • It expecte it to be running .by 

arida Americen Plc, 
the feerneeksi waffp¢dikk 	 BotdhAfrican gore 
team to investigate'the remade liallMent official said last year 
df diamond giant ,Der lleeni,o'llikerttlad• 
which Is alleged to have 	Thenegtask teaM,  assisted 
exported a large guaidity ;of by the stator general, would 
diamonds to London, in the eremites the De Beers's London 
1.9905. 	 stockpile records hi the period 

Some legislators .herie December 8, 1891 to March 18, 
alleged that De Beers exported lids. 
large. volumes of pint ite the 	"What we want resolved ie 
period leading to hladk 	Wbetherl)eHeers had the legal 
ityreleattne of capita 	right to. export the diamonds 
lend tax-avoidence 	• • 	that it did," Themba Gedi, 

The teak team ready:mond* chairman of Parliardenrs 
tattoo contained in • a public Vending committee on publie 
accounts omtinsiftes report accounts, sea 
adopted by Parliameht, re- 	"If it Was legal 'then that's 
opens a. long-standing elisphte the end of the story. But if it 
which both De Beare., 45% was notional then Xmas= that  

the amount that was dueterfbir.. I. AlkkBeer¢ official said the-
Dacus ag tax must be retailer .instgailyinaY imams eceromont 

to 
to the state by De Beers," Oba r•iin-the nelv/Y-lameeical, probe 

He said the amount wain 	The¢l)spertment of Miner- 
the rearm of Ribillion. 	ale and Energy and the South 

At one entire, South Africa &dean- Reserve. Bank should 
considered litigation to compel gm compare data to determine 
the world's biggest diamond destmetguanditlea and-values 
producer to, pay a disputed of Axporte -during the same 
15% exporttex on the el:di:anent period, the report recce:ri-
ot 7e. milliOn carats of mended 
Oman diamonds to London in 	Parliament also agreed that 
1891 	 - 	• the Treasury would obtain 

BeBat 	Beers has Strew- independent, constitutional 
°ugly deeded thetas:Otte mobs, legal opinion on certain sac-
m111411908 were largerffuefrfor. dons of the 1996 Diamond Art 
real or that it Mk benefit& and& agreed:tents enteredinto 
from improper egemptione of between De Beers end govern- 
export duties: 	 Demi - Reuters 
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terecurteponer 

Labour federation Cosato ant 
the National Economic Bevel 
moment .5. Labour Counci 
(Heller) are to hold an urgent 
meeting neon month to resolve 
delays around the atrike 
against food prices and public 
transport 

Comte Western Caps 
provincial secretary Tony 
Elarenreich said the strike 
Which was supposed to have 
taken place yesterdtry, bed been 
postponed. Cosatu had been 
mohiledng workers to make the 
strike one of the biggest in 
South African history 
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MEDIA STATEMENT BY THE MINISTER OF' MINERAL 
AND ENERGY AFFAIRS, MR R F (P1K) BOTHA 

6/ 

For Immediate Release 

Pretoria 

Wedeaday, IS October 1995 

CABINET APPOINTS A COMMISSION OF ENQUIRY INTO THE 
SOUTH AFRICAN DIAMOND gourrity 

The Cabinet today approved the appointment of a Commission of Enquiry 
tato the South African Diamond bidustry. 

The terms of Winona of the Commission will be "to investigate and report 
on all aspects of the South African Dimond Industry, In particular: 

• Government regulation of and involvement/intervention in the industry, 
including the erovisima of the Diamonds Mt of 1986 end the Minerals 
Act of 1991; the role of the South AWL= Diamond Board; the 
eLfeedvenem or otherwise of illegal diamoml buying (1M) rcovilioae; 
related matters; 

• the supply of rough and unpolished diamonds to the local processing 
inchistry; 

• the industry's contribution to state revenue and the balance of panes as 
well 

 
as to job and wealth creation; 

• international models relevant to the local industry; 



. OCT 19 '95 1.13:16 DEPT 

2 

• the influence of foreign companies and international diamcmd combines on 
the amply of diamonds to the South. Aftican Diamond industry and the 
export of diamonds from South Alias; and 

• any other matter considered relevant by the Cammissice." 

Taro Commission will be headed bye judge milted by two amensors. Their 
name will be made public as soon as they have been immigrated. 

The last Commision of Enquiry into the South African Diamond Wintry 
wag completed more than 20 years ago. Since that dote dime have been 
many important doges sad development' in the climnend industry. A new 
investiption is now required in view of ammo' of parties both within the 
industry end those outside it. There is also a need to scrutinise end evaluate 
existing policy; legal provisions and regulatory measures; 

Them concerns include: Government reguletion of and involvement in the 
industry; the leek of rough diatomic' supplies for the local cutting industry-, 
cerndn provisions tithe Diamonds Ad 1986 and Minerals Act 1991; the role 
and eompoaitloa of the South African Diamond Board; the inefleativenesi 
existing IDS laws; the role of the South Affirms Police Service's Gold and 
Diamond Branch and the pollee trapping.  'raw the role of De Been; certain 
practices in the industry; taxation issues; the minimal race in the dimmed 
loduatty of the previously disadvantaged; and is general the manner in 'Aid] 
the Wintry is being developed and administered. 

Enquiries: Rolm' Darrell 

Phone: 	(o) (012) 322 2693 
(h) (012) 43 3394 
(cellular) 082 53 21994 
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DATE STATION TIME PROGRAMME DURATION 

15/09 	SAFM 	 07:15 	AM Live 	 6 minutes 

36 seconds 

John Pearlman: That's Patrick Lawrence who is the Editor Focus of the Helen Simian Foundation 

joining us on the line from New York, it's 07:15. Government as we've reported earlier this week is 

taking a closer look at what De Beers did in the mid 1990's in the lead-up to the 1994 elections, 

according to reports running first in the Mail & Guardian the company shipped 19 million carats 

amounting to about 3.5 tons of uncut diamonds out of South Africa to London and managed to avoid 

paying tax on the gems, because of a deal ... (coughing) ... excuse me, struck with the South African 

Diamond Board, now the standing committee on public accounts in parliament has said they want this 

investigated but to get a De Beers response we're joined now by Gary Ralfe, who is Managing 

Director for the De Beers Group of Companies, Mr Ralfe welcome and thanks very much for your 

time, you've seen the reports, I'm certain you know what the issue is all about, what is your response 

to that, what is De Beers saying? 

Gary Ralfe: Mr Pearlman, first of all good morning to you and to your listeners and thank you very 

much for the right to reply to the interview you carried yesterday on AM Live, I want to refute upfront 

and categorically, the slurs that have been made on De Beers reputation, firstly the insinuation that we 

exported diamonds or retained exemption from export duty in an improper way, and secondly the 

allegation that we made an exceptional export of 19 million carats o diamonds, quote — 'Ahead of 

1994 elections', unquote, our records which have been maintained meticulously for 20 years as you 

can well imagine, demonstrate that both of these allegations are false, De Beers is a proudly South 

African company and an ardent champion of the new democratic South Africa, and what I can do if 

you would like, I think your listeners would be interested to hear the historical background of this? 

John Pearlman: Can we just get into some of the facts though, I mean you were saying that the 

amount shipped in the period in question, the matter on the table was not an unusual amount, is it that 

they've got the figure wrong or they're quoting that figure as unusually large when in fact it's not? 

Gary Ralfe: They have got the figure wrong ... 



John Pearlman: Okay, what is the correct figure? 

Gary Ralfe: It is not as large as that, the amount that was exported was 11 million carats and that was 

in line with our production in South Africa. 

John Pearlman: So in other words, 11 million carats in the year in question would not have been an 

unusual amount, what ..., what would have been the range in that time period for a typical export? 

Gary Ralfe: Right I can give you them right here in ..., in the year '93 there were 10 million carats 

exported and '94 as I say - 11 million carats exported, in '95 — 9 million carats export, following year 

9 million carats again ... 

John Pearlman: Okay so ... 

Gary Ralfe: 	that's it in the range (unclear... interruption) 

John Pearlman: ... so we're in the range there from the figures you're giving us, now one of the 

other things that in the Mail & Guardian story, they talk about duties paid to the diamond board, 

ranging between 19 million and 56 million rand per year in the proceeding decade, presumably 

revering to the 1980's, they say — plummeted to R15 000.00 in 1991, for those of us who don't know 

the dynamics of these payments and how they work, that sounds like an extraordinary shift, can you 

offer us some clarity on that? 

Gary Ralfe: I would love to, let me say that the diamond act of 1986 is the pivotal interface, before 

that there was a swinging 15% export duty on all diamonds leaving South Africa and the purpose of 

that was not so much fiscal as to discourage export in order that supplies were made to the mass in 

South African diamond cutting industry, what the 1986 act sought to do was of course to continue to 

ensure that the local cutting industry was adequately supplied with rough diamonds and it set up a 

regulator called the South African Diamond Board, the members of which are appointed by the 

minister but the act refining the previous fiscal mechanism also made it possible for diamonds that 
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were suppurthless [sic][ph] to the needs of the cutting industry in South Africa to be exported free of 

export duty and thereby bringing the export of diamonds into line with other mineral products which 

historically had never been subject to any export duty and if I can go on, De Beers has always been 

the major supplier of rough diamonds to the South African cutting industry, and of course is 

committed to doing so, to remaining so, but the reality and the commitment are recognised by the 

consistent authorisation, month in and month out, since 1987, that's nearly 20 years now that the 

South African Diamond Board has given to De Beers export and to it's exemptions from export duty. 

John Pearlman: Now where are you gonna go with this next because it's, it's been talked about in 

parliament, it's been talked about in the media, have you and government been in discussion and if 

you have, for how long has that been going on? 

Gary Ralfe: Mr Pearlman, we have had no question or challenge from government in the recent past, 

but in 1999 the auditor general instituted an audit of the whole procedure and although we were not 

privy to the certificate of the auditor, it must have been positive because from 199 to this day our 

authorisations for export and our exemptions have continued to be made without exception. 

John Pearlman: Just ..., a final question Mr Ralfe, I'm again revering to the article that I suppose 

brought this out into the public domain, they talk about an agreement by which those diamonds were 

exported and they go on to say Diamond Board Chief Executive — Louis Selekane [ph] has said they 

cannot find the copy of the agreement which ..., I think you'll probably agree contributes to a climate 

of suspicion around this particular thing, is there, is there such an agreement and if so do you have a 

copy? 

Gary Ralfe: Indeed we've got copies, these are regular agreements, they're sometimes done as often 

as once a year, regular agreements setting out the terms of which diamonds are classified what we call 

— category 3 and which of the diamonds which should be sold here or equivalent diamonds sent to 

South Africa from London. 

John Pearlman: Thank you very much, that's Managing Director for the De Beers Group of 

Companies — Gary Ralfe joining us on AM Live, well more clarity on that story, more food for 
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thought, we'll keep watching it as it unfolds here on SAFM — South Africa's News and Information 

leader. 

Monitoring South Africa 	 
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John Pearlman: 07:11, to Parliament now, the standing committee on public accounts, once a legal 

probe into reports that came out in the Mail & Guardian last week, that South Africa's leading 

diamond market, in fact the world's leading diamond market at De Beers had avoided paying a 15% 

export duty on the basis of a deal purportedly struck with the South African Diamond Board, this goes 

all the way back to 1994, and refers to 19 million carats of diamonds, about 3.5 tons of unpolished 

stones shipped out of the country ahead of the April elections, well to find out more about this because 

SCOPA briefed parliament yesterday, we're now joined on the line by the ANC Spokesperson on 

Public Accounts at SCOPA — Vincent Smith, Mr Smith welcome and thanks very much for your time, 

what does SCOPA want to happen? 

Vincent Smith: John, good morning, we've asked the Auditor General to get together with the 

Diamond Board, Treasury, SARS and the Department of Minerals and Energy to get to the bottom of 

whether this money is due to the states and why was it not paid, and on the basis of their findings we 

will then take a resolution or we'll take further action as is necessary. 

John Pearlman: Now had you heard about this before it was published in the newspaper? 

Vincent Smith: Yes we had, the auditor general had produced it in his reports and we also had 

interaction with the auditor general earlier this year in Saldanah where he also raised this issue so we, 

we had known about it before the media report and in fact our resolution was adopted before it came 

out in the Mail and Guardian. 

John Pearlman: Now I don't understand the legislation in all of this but I'm just working off the 

reports that are here, apparently there are agreements struck in terms of the 1986 Diamond Act that 

certain stones can be moved out duty free but it's the validity of those deals that's at issue, the export 

of rough diamonds is subject to a 15% duty, can you explain any of this, is there a difference between 

rough diamonds and polished diamonds, how does this all work? 
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Vincent Smith: John I'm not the expert in that regard, but from this point of view ... (unclear...[sici) 

permission to export without paying can only be granted by the diamond board, the diamond board 

doesn't have any evidence that, that permission was given, now we also know that the diamond board 

has changed quite a bit since then, so our only interest is, was there permission given, if there was 

permission given, please give it to us so that we could look at it, if there was no permission given, 

why then was the tax not paid. 

John Pearlman: Now, to what extent have you had discussions with De Beers, obviously they're 

aware of this issue, it's come up as you say, well before the newspapers got hold of it, what have they 

said, have they said anything to SCOPA or to anyone else? 

Vincent Smith: No we have not any election with De Beers, we've spoken to government agency, 

then government department and that is why we're asking the auditor general to, in the first instance, 

talk to treasury and other government agencies and I would assume that they then would interact with 

De Beers and give us a report back, but we have not had any direct interaction with De Beers at this 

point. 

John Pearlman: Now we've got the diamonds amendment bill that was tabled in parliament earlier 

this months, is that aimed at closing these kinds of loopholes, I know it's got a broad range of things 

that it covers but is it particularly targeted at these kinds of things? 

Vincent Smith: I'm not, I'm not sure that it's particularly targeted just for this type of thing but I 

would imagine that these type of loopholes will haVe in-covered in that bill yes. 

John Pearlman: Thank you very much, ANC Spokesperson in the standing Committee on Public 

Accounts down in the National Assembly — Vincent Smith, joining us on AM Live, it's 07:15. 

	Monitoring South itftica 
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Not so fast, fol 
De Beers' deal with government runs into 
trouble with Richtersveld community 
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NlekV Oppiolds•toter and Bityohra-Soulica Their agreement is said to 

break government promises • 
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Far from the megnanithous gesture it 
was made to appear, the recent deal 
between De Beers and the department of 
minerals & energy (DME) to merge 
mines and create a state diamond trader 
;SDP) is an attempt by the- dfaniond 
giant to settle an apartheid-era debt 

The merger of De Beers' Namaqualand 
mine and state diamond mine Alexkor 
also had the unintended consequence of 
ipening up wounds — It has spurred the 
Richtersveld land claimants into threat-
ailing legal action. 

After neatly a decade of fighting with 
pvernment, the Richtersveld community 
Illst year won their land claim over 
klexkor in the constitutional court The 

land claims court is now deciding on the 
quantum of restitution that needs to be 
paid to the community 

But government's deal with De Beers, 
which was signed by De Beers chairman 
Nicky Oppenheimer and 
minerals & energy min-
ister Buyelwa Sonjica in 
early February, contra-
venes commitments made 
by the state previously, 
says Henk Smith, the Le-
gal Resources Centre at-
torney representing the community, in a 
letter to the DME and De Beers. 

In the letter he lists the undertakings 
as a promise by government in May  

2003 that it would not sell or encumber 
the Alexkor assets and a memorandum of 
understanding in October last year to 
find ways to come to a workable model 
for restitution. 

In the letter Smith asks to be given a 
copy of the agreement between De Beers 
and the DME. He is also preparing to 
apply to the courts for an interdict sus-
pending the implementation of the deal, 
which appears not to have beep pre-
sented to the community ahead of the De 
Beers press briefing in February. 

Smith adds that the state's response to 
the request for a copy was to say the deal 
had nothing to do with the Richtersveld 
community and a copy would not be 
given to them. 

De Beers spokesman 'Ibm Tweedy says 
the company felt that procedurally it 
should first negotiate the deal with the 
DME, before involving Alexkor's share-
holding ministry, the department of pub-
lic enterprises (DPE), and the Richters-
veld community 

The structure of the deal Itself—
which is not yet public — is set to grant 
the community a 49% shareholding in 
the 'few mine as well as half of the 20% 
stake in the Namaqualand mine, which 
will be warehoused in a special-purpose 
vehicle on behalf of the DME to create a 
future empowerment platform. 

De Beers believes that putting Alexkor 
and Namaqualand together will allow the 
joint operation to trade more profitably 
as they can exploit economies of scale. 

As one De Beers insider put it, "the 
community will have more money than ft 
knows what to do with". 

That might be so, but Smith believes 
pre-empting talks with the community 
also undermined their own ambitions to 
seek out a mining partner of their own 
choosing. Smith says he learnt of the deal 
when one of the diamond companies the 
community had been in negotiations 

with on a R500m recap-
italisation of Alexkor 
called from London to 
ask: 'What the hell is go-
ing on? 

Sources say public en-
terprises minister Alec Er-
win previously stated that 

the community should not deal with De 
Beers. De Beers was the community's 
first choice, but government felt that the 
company was a reluctant adopter of the 

Land claimants were 
not consulted 
Other diamond.miners 
left In the lurch 

78 FINANCIAL NAIL MARCH 9, 2007 



247 

EARNINGS CONTRIBUTIONS 
BY region 	 Sy business unit 
(% of 2005/06 operating profit) 	 (% of 2005/06 operating profit) 

and they [Koseff and Kantor] made it 
clear they expected us to turn around 
quickly. In the heat of the battle, you had 
to believe in yourself! 

lbday, Investec is again posting earn-
ings growth oflust under 40% (for the 
six months to September 2006), with 
more expected when it announces its 
year-end results later this month. Its 
portfolio of businesses is now more bal-
anced, with private banking, which had 
undergone its own crisis in 1998 but 
subsequently recovered strongly, being 
the largest contributor. 

This allows the bank to operate far 
re effectively in a poor economic en- 
)nment than when it was geared to-

wards investment banking and trading. 
"The levels of annuity income from asset 
management and private banking are far 
higher,' Leith says. "We're far more de-
fensive now than we were in the past! 

Investec has also focused on building 
its businesses organically, compared with 
its acquisitive appetite a number of years 
ago. Though, as Koseff says: "That 
doesn't mean we aren't always looking 
for opportunities. We'll make acquisi-
tions when we can, like we did in Aus-
tralia with the purchase of [investment 
bank] NM Rothschild. But our key 
growth driver is organic! 

All three regions and all five business 
areas are poised for expansion. Though 
there seems to be no lid on growth in SA, 

he UK and Australia the oppor-
_ hies for growth are perhaps even 
6.,ce.A given that the group still has a 
relatively small market share there. 

The Australian business took off after 
it bought small mergers & acquisitions 
specialist Wentworth in 2001. Its pur-
ehnv. last year of Rotharhild gave In-
vestec further impetus as well as a pres-
ence in Perth to add to offices in Sydney, 
Brisbane and Melbourne. CE of the Aus-
tralian operation Brian Schwartz says 
Investec's initial focus in Australia was 
investment banking. Now property lend-
ing is a "substantial business". Australian 
operations' operating profits grew by 
60% for the half-year to September 
2006, while staff numbers have increased 
from 168 a year ago to 240, and 44 more 
are being recruited. 

Schwartz says he will continue to look 
for "bolt-on" acquisitions, but will also 
grow organically. He wants to double 
Australia's 5% contribution to group 

• Southern 'Urfa 
• %it( and novo 
is: Australia 

profits in the next few years. 
Investec's UK business showed a 73% 

increase in operating profit in the six 
months to September 2006 and con-
trilouted almost 40% of total profits. 
Fried says the plan into expand ag-
gressively. 'But we have been vigilant 
about how we grow and careful about 
costs! 

Other business units are also expe-
riencing strong growth. The head of pri-
vate banking in SA, Paul Hanley, says 
there has been an explosion of wealth 
and the number of clients has more than 

Kanter and the bey from 
Benerii,.Stephen Kose$ both joined 
Investec In 1950 when it was a six-
year-old leasing company. They re, 
launched it and developed ithito what 
is now espectialisr bank, and beVe 
obviously formed an ahriorit symbiotic 
relationship, speaking on the phone at 
least 10 times a day if they are not in 
the same loszation.Kantor lives hi Lon-
don and Koaeff in SA. 

As well as building In 	into a 
bank straddling three continents, Xps-
eff and Kantor are credited with In-
vestees revival after its 2003 slump, 

As CE and MD, Koseff says their job 
now is to 'give counsel", and they are 
both actively involved In the risk man-
agement of the grotqi,Vire'v'e passed 
the founders-bnsiness stage and we 
havestroug management who nui their 

INPrimeChM 4ethiti.as 
• Thusury and spedallsad finance NI Afilit waina9arria.t 

Investriteritbanlilog 	I Property autli: 
scruecni.137... 

doubled in the past two years. "In the 
UKi for eitiMple, we still have only a 1% 
1044 	he satYr,  

irOgeff uses English soccer as an anal- 
ogy 

 
for Investee's position in the global 

banking league. 'We're still in the bottom 
league and have to reach the premier 
diiision,".he says. We. don't have the 
Capital bilge or.the num.ber of people that  
a Vialdman tarifa or ablerrill Lynch has. 
But Investec has, hat a reputation and 
has a credible brand. It's about quality as 
OPPCi‘fied to size and about being dis- 
tinctive." 	 naeteer Pore*, 

own businesses,': he says. 
The two complement each other in 

their eldlla.and personalities, which is 
probably the reason the team haste= 
so sticomsfuL Koseff says he is strong 
on the technical and fmancial side, 
while Kantor is strong on marketing 
and people issues. "I tend to avoid 
issues whereas Bernard puts them on 
the table," Komi:Nays. 'But sometimes 
we swap roles." 

Koseff says his managemeart•style is 
not to bully people but to invite their 
input `I like people to question and 
challenge. Somethnes I'm rude and 
abrasive, but people know that I look 
after them. Some people are scared of 
me, but I have a big bark and no bite. I 
am encouraged try energede and en-
thasiastie people. I'M More empathetic 
than cold gad 0*W :Mather Forsibi 

The Koseff and Kantor show 
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country's transformation agenda. 
So the community looked for other 

partners and was speaking to Cyril 
Ramaphosa's em-
powerment vehicle 
Shanduka Resources, 
JSE-listed Trans 
Hex, which has op-
erations in the area, 
and Clifford mph-
ick's Gem Diamonds. 

Sakhile Ngcobo, 
head of external af-
fairs for De Beers, 

the FM that the 
deg developed nat- 

y out of the 
any's interact _ 

lions with the DME 
on the restructuring 
of its SA operation& 

Namaqualand has only three years of 
life left, according to its current plan, but 
is a mature operation which has not 
made money for years. 

Ngcobo says creating a new mine to 

produce diamonds for the state would be 
an obvious strategic advantage for the 
SDT, as it would ensure security of supply. 

DME deputy direc-
tor-general Abe Mngo-
mezulu says the agree-
ment came after years 
of talks between De 
Beers and government 
about money that was 
outstanding in terms 
of apartheid-era lease 
agreements between 
the state and De 
Beers. 

Mngomezulu says 
the lease agreements 
were complex and 
open to interpretation. 
At some point De 
Beers interpreted the 

contract as impl 	that it no longer 
had to pay and it stopped. He adds 
that no-one has been able to calculate 
exactly how much money De Beers owes 
the state. 

But to try to resolve the issue it was 
suggested that the state take an interest 
in Namaqualand, while De Beers would 
also help set up and manage the SDT for 
three years. Mngomezulu says the three-
year contract could be extended. 

This could well mean that the SDT will 
take over the infrastructure of Diamdel 
SA, the De Beers operation that sells to 
cutters who are not sightholders 
(screened De Beers customers). 

Attempts to get De Beers to confirm 
details of the deal were unsuccessful. 

According to Mngomezulu the plan is 
to have all future Alexkor production 
sold to the SDT. He says negotiations 
with the DPE will begin once further 
details have been agreed to. 

Behind the scenes, De Beers share-
holders have been meeting the 
Richtersveld community to try to avert 
legal action. At the time of going to press 
Smith said the community was getting 
conflicting reports from De Beers and no 
decision had been made on interdicting 
the transaction. 	 Micky Smith 

"The 
Richtersveld 
community will 
have more 
money than it 
knows what to 
do with" 

— DE IS EERS SOURCE 

G LEN RAN D M-11.13 
sen4ce beyond expectadon 

Insurance Brokers & Employee Benefits Consultants. 

248 

When it came to understanding Gautrain's 
insurance needs, we were clearly on the right track. 

„ . 
Glenrand *143 is proud t.i.annoUnce that we have been apPointsitis insurance brokers to the world's 

largest rapid rail systemproject currently under construction. Sorwhat was it that secured this prestigibus 
appointment? Was it our Empowerment credentials? Our technical expertise? Perhaps it was simply our 

exceptional service delivery? We believe it was all three. For all yOur short-term insurance and employee 

benefits requirements, contact Glenrand M4•13 on (011)329 4111 or one of our local branches. 
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